An Exploration of the Identities and Gender Discourses of a Taiwanese Woman: A Case Study of a Working Mother

Yen Chun Jessica Liu

Centre for Criminology and Sociology Royal Holloway
University of London

**MPhil Sociology** 

# **Declaration of Authorship**

The title page should be followed by a signed declaration that the work presented in the thesis is the candidate's own. Please note that there is no set wording for this but an example is provided below:

# **Declaration of Authorship**

I, Yen Chun Jessica Liu hereby declare that this thesis and the work presented in it is entirely my own. Where I have consulted the work of others, this is always clearly stated.

Signed:

Date: <u>24/06/2012</u>

# **Abstract**

This exploratory study sets out to examine the identities of a Taiwanese woman in the 21<sup>st</sup> century. Adopting the case study as a research strategy, I probe into a working mother's life story to understand firstly a Taiwanese working mother's perspectives on her family roles as a wife, mother and daughter-in-law. Secondly, I investigate how social institutions, which transmit different and often-conflicting Confucian and non-Confucian "gender discourses" influence her identities.

This thesis adopts narrative interviews as the major method to probe into the life story of a Taiwanese working mother. The dimensions of domestic work and childcare, verbal communication, marital sex and looking after parents-in-law are examined in order to understand how she has taken on gender discourses and developed identities through her contact with different social institutions. Informed by post-structuralism and feminist theories, I consider the Taiwanese working mother as an individual who has "agency", meaning she recognizes and values her ability to use and integrate gender discourses into her sense of self through the process of self-attribution.

My research results found that "differentiation" "reflection" and "reflexivity" are themes that play important roles in affecting how a Taiwanese working

mother perceives herself as an individual and defines her social and family roles. The findings also show that a working mother is able to negotiate different gender discourses. Despite the influence of the Taiwanese Confucian gendered binary, her interactions with different social institutions, especially her native family, counselling services and women's self-help groups, enable her to develop a sense of "who I am". She is able to reflect on her life experiences and perceive gender discourses in a critical manner and thus take on gender discourses that she identifies with to develop her own identities.

# **Table of contents**

# **Abstract**

| Chapter One: Introduction   |
|---|
| 1.1 Background10  |
| 1.2 Research question and its disclosure                          |
| 1.3 The focus of the study15                                      |
| 1.4 Why is this research important?17                             |
| 1.5 Thesis structure18  |
| Chapter Two: Family life, Social Changes and Gender Discourses in |
| Taiwan  |
| 2.1 Background: Marital life and family structure in Taiwan20     |
| 2.2 Confucianism as a Taiwanese tradition                         |
| 2.2-1 The development of Confucianism23                           |
| 2.2-2 The position of married Taiwanese women in the family25     |
| 2.2-3 Married Taiwanese women under Confucianism27                |
| 2.3 Social factors that transmit non-Confucian gender discourses  |
| 2.3-1 Higher education for women31                                |
| 2.3-2 Women's employment34  |
| 2.3-3 The women's movement37                                      |
| 2.3-4 Helping professions   |
| 2.3-5 The press and the mass media as a channel for transmitting  |
| gender discourses40   |
| 2.4 Summary48   |
| Chapter Three: Literature Review                                  |
| 3.1 Background: Women's family roles49                            |
| 3.2 Literature review of four dimensions                          |
| 3.2-1 Domestic work and childcare53                               |
| 3.2-2 Verbal communication58                                      |

| 3.2-3 Marital sex  | 61       |
|--|----------|
| 3.2-4 Looking after parents-in-law                             | 65       |
| 3.3 Research on the identities of Western mothers              | 68       |
| 3.4 Summary  | 72       |
|  |          |
| Chapter Four: Conceptual Framework and Theoretical Perspective | <b>.</b> |
|  |          |
| Theoretical perspective:                                       |          |
| 4.1 Gender discourse and identity                              | 74       |
| 4.1-1 Women and agency   | 75       |
| 4.1-2 Gender discourse, gendered binary and Identity           | 77       |
| 4.1-3 Gender discourse as social influence                     | 81       |
| 4.1-4 Women, gender discourse, and identity                    | 84       |
| 4.2 The definition of identity                                 | 87       |
|  |          |
| Conceptual framework:  |          |
| 4.3 The process of women developing identities                 |          |
| 4.4 Summary  | 101      |
|  |          |
| Chapter Five: Research Design                                  |          |
| 5.1 An overview of the research design                         |          |
| 5.2 Case study as a research strategy                          |          |
| 5.3 The sample and population                                  | .106     |
| 5.4 Narratives   | .111     |
| 5.4-1 Narrative interview                                      | 114      |
| 5.4-2 How to conduct a narrative interview?                    | 115      |
| 5.5 Data analysis  | .127     |
| 5.6 Data presentation  | .130     |
| 5.7 Issues of validity and reliability                         | .131     |
| 5.8 Ethical issues   | 122      |

| 5.9 Summary  | 135     |
|--|---------|
| Chapter Six: Narrative Analysis and Results: Family Role Ide | ntities |
| 6.1 The dimension of domestic work and childcare             |         |
| 6.1-1 Cooking  | 141     |
| 6.1-2 Childcare  | 144     |
| 6.1-3 Domestic work, childcare and social Institutions       | 147     |
| 6.2 Verbal communication                                     | 153     |
| 6.2-1 Verbal communication and "intimacy"                    | 157     |
| 6.2-2 Verbal communication and social Institutions           | 158     |
| 6.3 Marital sex  | 160     |
| 6.3-1 Marital sex and the "mistress"                         | 163     |
| 6.3-2 Marital sex and social institutions                    | 165     |
| 6.4 Looking after mother-, sister- and brother-in-law        |         |
| 6.4-1 Looking after mother-in-law                            | 168     |
| 6.4-2 Looking after sister- and brother-in-law               | 170     |
| 6.4-3 Looking after in-laws and social Institutions          | 172     |
| 6.5 Other dimensions: Interaction with the husband           |         |
| 6.5-1 Watching TV and "gender equality"                      | 174     |
| 6.5-2 The thought of divorce                                 | 177     |
| 6.5-3 Social institutions                                    | 179     |
| 6.6 Summary  | 183     |
| Chapter Seven: Narrative Analysis and Results- Personal and  | d Work  |
| Identities   |         |
| 7.1 The identity of a person                                 |         |
| 7.1-1 .Interaction with the native family                    | 188     |
| 7.1-2 The identity of a person and social Institutions       | 189     |
| 7.2 The identity of a worker                                 |         |
| 7.2-1 Interaction with the husband                           | 192     |
| 7.2-2 The identity of a worker and social Institutions       | 198     |
| 7.3 Summary  | 199     |

| Chapter Eight: Discussion                               |     |
|---|-----|
| 8.1 Perceptions, identities and gender discourses       | 202 |
| 8.2 How the findings are related to:                    |     |
| 8.2-1 The theoretical perspectives of this study        | 213 |
| 8.2-2 "Reflection" and "reflexivity"                    | 216 |
| 8.2-3 "Differentiation"                                 | 221 |
| 8.3 Revisiting the methodological approach              | 227 |
| 8.4 Summary   | 228 |
| Chapter Nine: Conclusion                                |     |
| 9.1 Key findings  | 230 |
| 9.2 My contribution to theories and literature          | 233 |
| 9.3 Limitations to the study and areas for further work | 236 |
| Bibliography  | 237 |

# Acknowledgement

I would like to thank my supervisor Dr Vicki Harman with whom I had lots of thought provoking discussions about my thesis. Vicki was patient and understanding with me especially at the difficult time when I experienced difficulties of completing my thesis and later on juggled my full time job and writing up.

I also thank my parents' financial and moral support. With their love, I feel my effort to complete this thesis is worthwhile.

# **CHAPTER ONE INTRODUCTION**

### 1.1 Background

The women's movement has experienced great growth in the West, such as in the US and UK, since the early 20th century, especially after the 1960s (Sicherman 1975, Kent 1999). This growth has affected the Taiwanese society of 21st century. Although the women's movement was originally launched to alleviate women's unequal social position and raise women's consciousness of their legal rights in society (Kent 1999, Vickery 1993), feminist women have lately extended their concerns to women's family, domestic and personal lives (Kent 1999). The women's movement, together with other developments, such as women's employment and higher education, appear to have shaken "tradition" in many societies. Informed by Giddens (1991), I use the term "tradition" to describe Confucianism, a Chinese philosophy, which was introduced to the Taiwanese society in the 16th century, which reinforces ideas about what a woman should be in a male dominant society. Before the 1980s Confuciansim was a form of "primary source of authority" in Taiwan (Giddens 1991: 194).

After the Second World War, it was used by the government as a means of social control in order to "stabilize" political, economic and social systems.

The tradition was exclusive and dominant because it "created a sense of

firmness of things that typically mixes cognitive and moral elements" (Giddens 1991: 48). Before the 1980s, Confucianism was passed down to many generations. It was perceived by family members as a set of guidelines for family life. Having embraced Confucianism and considered it as the standard of correctness in many aspects of family life, a married woman perceived and defined herself in terms of her family roles within the framework of Confucianism because it was morally right to do so. A restrictive political and social system further preserved the domination of Confucianism and prevented married women from taking on "non-traditional" information and knowledge as a means of guidance.

Confucian tradition can be seen as a form of male dominant culture in many ways. "Traditions", such as patriarchy, which in many countries, including Taiwan, is used to strictly define women and men's roles, such as women as homemakers and carers and men as breadwinners (Rupp 1981, Vickery 1993, Kent 1999, Charles 1993, Office for National Statistics UK 2005, US Department of Commerce, Economics and Statistics Administration, US Census Bureau 2004). It often connotes ideas that women are expressive, emotional and domesticity-oriented. For example, within the context of the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition, a married woman is defined by her contribution to domestic work and childcare as a wife and mother.

However, "tradition" (patriarchy) might have less influence on women of the 21<sup>st</sup> century compared to the previous historical era due to social, economic

and political changes. This study sets out to investigate how these developments influence a Taiwanese married woman's perceptions of her family roles and identities.

I expect to explore the possibility that a Taiwanese woman today does not necessarily conform to the Confucian family tradition because of the influence of the social changes and developments described above. This research focus echoes the fundamental feminist viewpoint that values women's subjective experience (Robinson and Godbey 1997:18). Adopting feminist thinking, this study values "women's concrete experiences across culture, society and history... from women's points of view" (Benhabit 1987: 1).

## 1.2 Research question and its disclosure

This study investigates the identities of a Taiwanese working mother. The research question is: An exploration of the identities and gender discourses of a Taiwanese woman: a case study of a working mother. I look at how a Taiwanese working mother defines herself as a wife, mother and daughter-in-law. The aims of the research are firstly to provide insight into a Taiwanese working mother's perspectives on her family roles and secondly, to investigate how "gender discourses" influence her identities.

"Gender discourses" that represent the influences of different social institutions, such as families and educational institutions, on women are a

form of social discourse. They contain not just "a language or a text but a historically, socially and institutionally specific structure of statements, terms, categories and beliefs" (Scott 2005:447). Social discourses exist in relation to all facets of lives, such as around the social enterprise of education and on how societies define women and men. These social discourses influence how individuals interpret, perceive and define matters. A social discourse does not represent what is "real". Rather it actually produces what individuals come to understand as real. It gives individuals the words and conceptual frameworks by which individuals attempt to understand themselves and their experiences. By using the concept of social discourse, this study recognizes that how an individual develops a sense of self has to be understood within social contexts. Individuals use words and hence understand a sense of self that represents socially constructed meanings (Bilton et al 1996).

Various social discourses about what constitutes "woman" and "man" have appeared over time. Gender discourses in this study, however, refer to social discourses that contain meanings about what constitutes "woman". Gender discourses are being created and transmitted through political, economic and social developments and have frequently embraced meanings that are delivered systematically and coherently. Gender discourses can be transmitted in diverse forms, for example, through press and the mass media, such as books, magazines, advertising slogans and political propaganda, as well as through different social institutions, such as schools and families. The widespread gender discourses shape women's

sense of who they are in a "traditional" way, for example, they transmit ideas that women should take the major responsibility for domestic work and childcare.

The identities of a woman are explored by investigating how a working mother attributes gender discourses to her sense of self. In other words, in this study the identity of a woman is described as her self-attributions of who she is. The self-attribution is used to describe "an individual's own feelings" (Kessler and Mckenna 1978: 8) that values her/his subjective views about who she/he is. This study uses self-attribution to emphasize that a woman is capable of cultivating a sense of self and deciding what she is.

This study proposes that a woman develops identities via her own accord and thus does not necessarily define herself according to tradition that often transmits patriarchal gender discourses. As a result of social, economic and political developments in Taiwan since the 1980s, different social institutions have transmitted Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses that contain different and often conflicting meanings about what women are or what women should be. Therefore, despite the influence of Confucianism, this study does not pre-determine the identities of a Taiwanese working mother as Confucianism-oriented, but investigates how a Taiwanese working mother attributes her sense of self by negotiating Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses.

Four dimensions in relation to a woman's family roles are investigated: 1. Domestic work and childcare. 2. Verbal communication. 3. Marital sex. 4. Looking after parents-in-law. Through the four dimensions, this study expects to understand how both Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses influence the perspectives and identities of a Taiwanese working mother in relation to her family roles.

#### 1.3 The focus of the study

This study particularly focuses on an educated and employed woman. An educated and employed Taiwanese working mother is chosen. Research on Western women has indicated that educated and employed women are able to challenge patriarchal tradition. This includes them rejecting or challenging ideas, such as that marriage provides financial security and that a married woman should take on primary domestic responsibilities (e.g. Giddens 1991, Beck and Beck-Gernsheim 2002). Available evidence shows that employed women are more likely to end their marriage than unemployed ones if they have an unhappy marital relationship (Schoen, Astone, Rothert, Standish and Kim 2002). Higher education causes married women to have a somewhat higher expectation of negotiation with their husbands regarding gender division of domestic work and childcare (Houseknecht, Vaughan and Macke 1984).

Scholars state that the paid labour market enables workers, including working mothers, to become financially independent and thus empowers

them to make decisions in favour of their circumstances (Beck 1992). Because of the level of education and their employment, educated and employed women might be able to "think about, criticize, and alter (gender) discourse" that they consider problematic (Alcoff 2005:433). Accordingly, an educated and employed married woman becomes capable of challenging gender discourses and as a result, is likely to think about what she wants or what is important for her, such as her own happiness in the marriage (Schoen, Astone, Rothert, Standish and Kim 2002). This in turn indicates that women's "subjectivity can be reconstructed" despite the influences of patriarchal tradition (Alcoff 2005:433).

However, I argue that how an educated woman defines herself is also affected by her interactions with social institutions. For example, a study of Taiwanese women during the colonization of Japan stated that because of living in a patriarchal dominant society, Taiwanese women considered themselves as homemakers. An educated woman believed that a "proper" husband had to support the family, while a "proper" wife should stay at home to look after the family. A married woman who was able to study and obtain qualifications to work as a midwife was seen as having a "poor destiny" because her husband had failed to perform as an "appropriate" breadwinner and was unable to earn enough money to support her and the family (Song Jin-shiu 2000). Conversely, research on Taiwanese women of the 21<sup>st</sup> century shows that educated women in modern era are likely to challenge or disagree with the Taiwanese Confucian tradition. For example, one survey found that educated married Taiwanese women feel less

obligated to have sons to carry on family line for their husbands' family (Thornton, Yang, Fricke and Chang 1994). Similar research shows that educated married Taiwanese women do not necessarily believe that paying living expenses and living with parents-in-law are the only ways to demonstrate filial obligation (Marsh 1998, Weinstein, Sun, Chang and Freedman 1994). This study thus sets out to study an employed married woman with higher education to understand how she contributes to her sense of self by negotiating Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses and how she develops identities in the Taiwanese society of the 21st century.

## 1.4 Why is this study important?

This study contributes to research into women by positively asserting a woman's capabilities to cultivate her sense of self in a gendered society. Instead of treating her as passive and negative recipients of gender discourses, this study is open to the possibility that she is able to think for herself and live as an independent and wilful individual. I value the subjective experiences of women and expect to explore how in a changing society, a married woman negotiates gender discourses which transmit different and often conflicting ideas about what women are, and how she develops identities from these negotiations. This study's contribution also includes exploring a woman's ability of self-attribution to develop her identities. I have examined how a working mother interacts with others and

manages her family roles to find put how she relates gender discourses to her sense of self.

#### 1.5 Thesis structure

I have divided the thesis into nine chapters. The thesis begins by offering contextual information that provides background knowledge of how Taiwanese society in the 21<sup>st</sup> century has become an 'intricate' society. I explain that the Taiwanese society of the 21st century is open and changeable and that allows for the transmission of not only Confucian gender discourses but also non-Confucian ones. In Chapter Three I review available studies on the dimensions of domestic work and childcare, verbal communication, marital sex and looking after in-laws that are associated with married Taiwanese women's family roles as wives, mothers and daughters-in-law. I also examine research on the identities of Western women. In Chapter Four, I explain the theoretical perspective of this study, including how I perceive a woman's identities in terms of Post-structuralism, and the conceptual framework regarding how this study perceives the process of a woman developing a sense of self. In Chapter Five, I illustrate the research strategy and methods that are used to explore my research question. I also depict how this study analyzes and presents findings. Issues, including validity, reliability and ethical issues are discussed. In Chapter Six, I present interview data that reveal the narrative of my interviewee concerning her perceptions and identities of family roles in relation to the four dimensions. I also include other dimensions that provide

#### Chapter One Introduction

unexpected but important information about how my interviewee perceives and defines her family roles. In Chapter Seven, I present interview data that is related to my interviewee's perceptions of family roles. I include the data that do not fall into the categories of the four dimensions or family role identities but nevertheless further reveal how my interviewee perceives herself in marital life. In Chapter Eight, I explain how the findings answer the research question. I illustrate the influences of gender discourses on a woman's perceptions and identities. These findings are discussed by examining my interviewee's stories about the four dimensions and her interactions with social institutions. I also discuss how the findings are related to theoretical perspectives and the methods that I have used to collect and analyze the data. In Chapter Nine, I summarize key research findings, discuss limitations to the study and consider areas for further work.

# CHAPTER TWO FAMILY LIFE, SOCIAL CHANGE AND GENDER DISCOURSES IN TAIWAN

As this study investigates a Taiwanese woman's perceptions and identities in relation to her family roles, I will provide an overview of women's marital lives and the family structure of Taiwanese society.

#### 2.1 Background: Marital life and family structure in Taiwan

The marrying age of Taiwanese people has been delayed compared to the previous era. In 2007 the average age of a first marriage for males and females was 30.3 and 27.7 respectively (Directorate-General of Budget, Accounting and Statistics, Executive Yuan, Taiwan 2009). The marital rate of couples per 1,000 persons was 6.7% in 1998 and remained the same in 2008. However, the divorce rate has increased. The divorce rate of couples per 1,000 persons was 2% in 1998 and had increased to 2.6% in 2007 (DGBAS 2009). In 2009, the divorce rates of women and men aged 15 or over were 7.2% and 6.6% respectively (DGBAS 2011). According to national statistics in 2002, the nuclear family, despite its having decreased by 3.87% compared with 1998 due to a falling fertility rate, is still the main family type, accounting for 63.34% of families in Taiwan. Between 1998 and 2002, the number of extended families decreased, accounting for 18.47% of families in Taiwan (Third Department DGBAS 2008). Among those who live with their parents, married couples are more likely to live

with the parents of husbands than with the wives' parents, accounting for 32.9% and 2.1% respectively (DGBAS 1999). With the recent "South-going" policy of the Taiwanese government that encourages business partnerships with South-east Asian countries, many married Taiwanese business men and women work abroad, such as in China, with their spouses, children and elder parents staying in Taiwan. However, it is not clear how this type of separation has or will affect family and marital lives (DGBAS 2011:7).

In 2009, the average Taiwanese life expectancy was 79 years, with the difference between male and female being 76 and 82 years, respectively (DGBAS 2011). The total fertility rate of women aged 15-49 (the average number of children that would be born alive to a hypothetical cohort of 1,000 women) was below 2 in 1985 but decreased to 1.1 in 2007 (DGBAS 2009, DGBAS 2011). Because of the increasing rate of employment among married women, the proportion of double-income families have increased. In 2006, the percentage of families with two incomes was 37.0%, an increase of 2.7% compared to 2003 (DGBAS 2009).

Taiwanese society of the 21st century is described as a "friendly" society by Yu (2005) in her research on working mothers because of its "family-work" friendly environment whereby married women have opportunities to return to the paid labour market after getting married or maternity leave. The features of this friendly society, according to Yu (2005), are higher education opportunities for men and women, a nuclear family as the predominant family pattern and increasing job opportunities for both single

and married women. From my point of view, however, what makes for the friendliness is the social environment created by those developments because these allow for more personal choices and mobility for women. That is, the friendly Taiwanese society of the 21<sup>st</sup> century is one which provides opportunities for women to examine various gender discourses. Within a Confucian context, this means that not only the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition is considered but also the current social developments which are allowing Taiwanese women to come into contact with non-Confucian gender discourses. These in turn are having an influence on married Taiwanese women in the modern era.

As this study aims to understand the identities of married Taiwanese women in relation to gender discourses in the 21st century, a review of literature that looks into the features of Taiwanese society in the 21st century is necessary. The following section aims to explain why I consider Taiwanese society as an open society for married women to take on both Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses.

#### 2.2 Confucianism as a Taiwanese tradition

In this section I will explain in more detail how before the 1980s Confucianism was well-preserved and formed a Taiwanese family tradition that predominated and determined how married Taiwanese women perceived and defined their family roles.

## 2.2-1 The development of Confucianism

Since the 1600s, Han<sup>1</sup> (Chinese) people have been migrating to Taiwan from China. With this migration, the Han brought with them the many ways of their culture. One of their beliefs was that of Confucianism, which evolved out of the philosophy and teachings of Confucius (551-479 BC). In general, Confucianism reinforces family hierarchy and an ancestor-worship tradition in which individuals are valued based on their contributions to the family. As such, the roles of family members are strictly defined in terms of their age and gender, for example men should be breadwinners and women are considered as homemakers. With the migration came the education of young children in the ways of Confucianism. This education was placed initially in the hands of public and private schools, which were operated by immigrant sinologists and other Han authorities (Shue Huayuan 2000). Since its initiation in the 1600s, Confucianism has been deemed to be representative of many aspects of Taiwanese tradition (Shue Hua-yuan 2000).

Above all, political factors were crucial for preserving Confucianism before the 1980s. Between 1895 and 1946, during the colonization of Taiwan by Japan, the political power of the Japanese empire coerced Taiwanese society by its assimilation policies that reinforced the Japanese maledominant culture. Yet, Japan's colonization of Taiwan did not eliminate

23

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Immigrant Chinese people were addressed as Han people or the Hans. This differentiated them from the aboriginal peoples on the island.

Confucianism. It preserved Confucianism because both the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition and the colonial Japanese power adhered to the patriarchal doctrine that determined that males were superior to female family members. (Lu Hsiu-lien 1991, You Jian-ming 1999, Han Zuo-liang 1949 in You Jian-ming 1999). Taiwanese Confucian family tradition was further preserved by the inclusive economic activities of agriculture that reinforced the extended family pattern. This in turn reinforced the idea that males were more valuable than female family members.

Confucianism continued to be preserved after the colonial period. After the Second World War, Japan withdrew from Taiwan in 1945. Taiwan was returned to Mainland China as a province. However, in 1949, soon after being defeated by the Chinese Communists in a civil war in Mainland China, the Nationalist Kuomintang (KMT) government, along with the remnants of its army, took over Taiwan. The KMT government coerced the Taiwanese people into submission by reinforcing Confucian Chinese culture in order to complete its hold over Taiwan (Song Jin-shiu 2000). Through political control, Confucianism was well preserved between 1946 and 1987. The social control was further intensified when the KMT government issued the Emergency Decree, bringing martial law into effect. To address the unstable social and economic position of Taiwan, this conservative political movement imposed restrictions on the freedom to publish and the right to social and political assembly, or any other activities that were considered "endangering" the stability of the society and thus the development of Confucianism. Because of the restrictions, the Confucian culture in Taiwan

was once again preserved (Song Jin-shiu 2000, Shue Hua-yuan 2000).

Through these previous eras, the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition was formed and preserved. The intensifying social control deprived women from taking on any gender discourse other than Confucianism. Confucianism adhered to the patriarchal doctrine under which women learned to perceive their family roles through the filter of Confucianism.

Confucianism represents the comprehensive principles that determine Taiwanese people's manners and behaviours differently within different social contexts. However, because the primary research interest is about women's family experience, the discussion will focus on the aspect of Confucianism in relation to married women's family roles. In the following sections I will review the available material to gain a picture of how Confucianism was preserved from the 1880s to the 1980s and formed the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition that has influenced married Taiwanese women in the modern era. The following sections will explain that the Confucian tradition transmitted gender discourses that determined married Taiwanese women's positions in the family, as well as their perceptions and identities as wives, mothers and daughters-in-law.

#### 2.2-2 The position of married Taiwanese women in the family

Before the 1980s, in the agricultural era, family members lived and worked together for the sake of collective welfare. As a result, the extended family

became the main family structure. This in turn preserved and promoted family hierarchy. Often two or three generations lived under the same roof and worked together which valued seniority and male family members. The extended family pattern reinforced family hierarchy and that together with an ancestor-worship tradition defined the strict roles of family members (Coombs and Sun 1981). Based on that, the principles of "men are superior to women" (男尊女卑) and "filial obligation" (孝道) were valued. These determined the "inferior" position of married Taiwanese women to the male members in the family (Coombs and Sun 1981).

With regard to the principle of "men are superior to women" (男尊女卑), women were inferior to men because the family structure was built upon patrilineal descent. Male descendents were expected to take the responsibility for carrying on the family line (Wang Sung-hsing 1981). Husbands often took on this duty and thus became the head of the household. Their superiority in households was further preserved by the expectation of the son as the head of the family to honour the family and worship the ancestors (Coombs and Sun 1981). As a result, married women were allocated an inferior position to male members and thus their husbands.

Wives were assigned the role of homemaker and took the primary responsibility for domestic labour and childcare. The principle of "filial obligation" (孝道) further determined married women's family duties. Under

this principle, children were obligated to pay their parents back for nurturing them by submitting to their parents and looking after their parents as they aged. Because of patrilineal descent, parents relied heavily on their sons for financial and moral support (Coombs and Sun 1981). However, in reality, it was married women who cared for the parents of their husbands (Lee, Parish and Willis 1994). Consequently, married Taiwanese women were assigned the major responsibilities of looking after their parents-in-law, a duty often associated with a great amount of domestic work.

The above material has shown that up until the 1980s, the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition, which transmitted the Confucian gender discourses that determined the family responsibilities of Taiwanese married women as mothers, wives and daughters-in-law, as well as their inferiority to their husbands, was well preserved. However, attached to these family roles were the moral standards of "Three Obediences and Four Virtues" (三 從四德) and "Dutiful Wife and Loving Mother" (賢妻良母) that shaped the perceptions and identities of married Taiwanese women.

#### 2.2-3 Married Taiwanese women under Confucianism

The "Three Obediences and Four Virtues" (三從四德) instructed Taiwanese women to "obey the father before marriage, to obey the husband when married and the son, if widowed" and established the four womanly virtues: "virginity, skill in needlework, language and manner" (Lu Hsiu-lien

1991:340, Lamley 1998). Virginity implies that women should not have strong sexual longing<sup>2</sup>; skill in needlework implies that women must be able to undertake domestic related tasks properly; language suggests that women should be reserved and cautious, not showing their (negative) emotions and feelings about others, or expressing their needs. In other words, traditionally, married Taiwanese women should always put their husbands and parents-in-law first and submissively accept family responsibilities that were assigned to them. Manner implies that they ought to be tender, generous and behave appropriately according to family roles. These gender discourses determined the family roles of married Taiwanese women by transmitting the idea that a married woman should behave and think in accordance with the four womanly virtues, thus being submissive, domesticity-oriented and virtuous. The saying, "Dutiful Wife and Loving Mother" (賢妻良母) further reinforced the Confucian gender discourse that an ideal married woman ought to put her family first by devoting herself to domestic work and caring tasks to accomplish her family role as wife and mother and daughter-in-law.

The following are some examples that evidence the inevitable influences of

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>In pre-modern China and Taiwan, married women's sexuality was completely controlled. This can be seen from what they were praised for. Women were considered as respectable for their 'great' family roles as mothers, especially if their sons were successful, such as working as a governor for the empire. Another 'praiseworthy' status of the pre-modern women was widowhood. A widow received respect from everyone if she showed that she was determined not to remarry and to die a widow, even though it meant that she had to endure such hardships as starvation, raising her children with a lack of resources or being bullied or oppressed by others. If the story of her spread far and wide and reached the empire, she might be praised for her 'great virtue' and be rewarded with a monumental inscription saying she was virtuous. This monument was placed in front of her house so everyone could see it and pay tribute to her.

the Confucianism society on the perceptions and identities of married Taiwanese women, including those who were educated and employed: educated married women of the Japanese colonization period defined themselves as homemakers, believing that a "proper" husband had to support the family, while a "proper" wife should stay at home and look after the family. A married woman who was able to study and obtain qualifications to work as a midwife was considered to have a "poor destiny" because her husband was unable to earn enough money to support the family as an "appropriate" breadwinner (Song Jin-shiu 2000). A study of employed married women from the post war period is also instructive about women's identities within a Confucian dominant society. Once women were married, they were considered as 'guests' to their native families and were expected to seek support within their marriages. In 1981, there were about 36 percent of married Taiwanese women who were employed (DGBAS 2001a, DGBAS 2001). However, research shows that they were aware of their unequal position in the family as their financial contributions did not decrease their family duties. Nevertheless, they felt obligated to look after their unemployed husbands. These married women felt they had no choice but to accept and fulfil their assigned family responsibilities (Hsiung Pingchun 1996, Kaufman 2000).

Political control and agricultural industry, which encouraged an extended family pattern, further preserved Confucianism that formed the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition before the 1980s. The strict social control created

a conservative social atmosphere that incorporated women into the Confucian framework and because of that, married women, including educated and employed ones, were deprived of any resources that could enable them to challenge the tradition. As research on Western women has shown, living in a conservative society with a rigid social atmosphere or strict social control, working women are likely to be integrated into the preserved social system (Allen and Hawkins 1999, Demaris and Longmore 1996, Rogers and Amato 2000, Greenstein 1995, Pina and Bengtson 1993, Greenstein 1996). Living under the influence of the Confucian patriarchal tradition, for example, working Taiwanese women, despite their employment, tend to integrate the male dominant culture into their sense of self and thus would not see any other possibilities for identity other than seeing themselves as family-bound, dutiful mothers and wives. From this perspective, this study therefore maintains that living in a Confucianismdominated society, married Taiwanese women tended to define their family roles monotonously because of the lack of opportunities to take on different gender discourses other than those offered by Confucianism.

The Taiwanese Confucian family tradition has been influencing Taiwanese society since the 1600s and especially for the last 100 years. Since the 1980s however, the political atmosphere has changed dramatically. As a result, the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition has been confronted by "non-Confucian" social practices. In the following sections, I will explain that married Taiwanese women have been affected by non-Confucian social practices, resulting from social, economic and political developments since

the 1980s. I will depict how after the 1980s and up to the modern era, both Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses have been transmitted and have turned 21<sup>st</sup> century Taiwanese society from a traditional into an 'intricate' society that is open and changeable and allows for the transmission of various gender discourses to women (Shue Hua-yuan 2000, Lin Zhong-shiong 1998).

#### 2.3 Social factors that transmit non-Confucian gender discourses

I will look at the factors of education, employment, the women's movement, helping professions and the key aspects of the media to illustrate how the rising non-Confucian social forces in 21<sup>st</sup> century Taiwan play an important role in creating an open and changeable Taiwanese society, thereby transmitting not only Confucian but also non-Confucian gender discourses to women.

## 2.3-1. Higher education for women

The educational opportunities of Taiwanese women are an important issue for this study as they contribute to a friendly social environment. Higher education is considered by this study as a means of transmitting non-Confucian gender discourses to women because learned knowledge and skills enable women to think about their circumstances from different perspectives (Beck 1992). Indeed, education enables individuals "to learn subjects beyond the demands of everyday life, opening their minds to new

areas of experiences, different traditions and ways of thinking" (Beck, Beck-Gernsheim 1995:46). This view inspires this study to examine how the higher educational system of 21<sup>st</sup> century Taiwan enables married Taiwanese women to impose their thoughts on the influences of various gender discourses

Resulting from economic development after the 1980s, higher education serves as the contextual support of social factors transmitting non-Confucian gender discourses. Since the 1980s, educational opportunities at all levels of education have become more accessible to Taiwanese women than ever before. This has been the result of a social policy of raising the education levels of the Taiwanese population to fulfil the requirements of a work force for the tertiary sector. The percentage of female students aged 18-21 studying in college, supplementary schools and national open universities (excluding those studying in vocational schools) was only 11.9 percent of all students in 1976, but this had increased to 64.4 percent by 2000 (Ministry of Education 2001). Although the number of female students studying postgraduate programs was still much lower than male students for this period, the number of female students studying undergraduate programmes was nearly as high as the number of male students (Ministry of Education 2002). In 2007, the sex ratio between male and female students in doctoral and master level courses was 266 and 148 (per 100 female students) respectively. For the college and university level courses, the sex ratio between male and female students was 98 (per 100 female students) in 2007, meaning that female graduates outnumbered male

graduates. In 2009, 60.2 percent of women aged 25-34 had received higher education compared to 54.8 percent of their male counterparts (DGBAS 2009). These figures indicate that since the 1980s, Taiwanese women have been more likely to obtain job opportunities because of their level of education (DGBAS 2001, DGBAS 2001a, DGBAS 2002).

Another example that shows higher education has played a vital role in transmitting non-Confucian gender discourses is the establishment of Gender Studies in universities in Taiwan. Gender Studies programmes in universities were established in the 1980s and have since then been greatly expanded. Since the 1990s, issues such as gender equality have been taught not only in women's study centres, in which the majority of students are women, but have also been listed as compulsory courses for both female and male students in all academic departments. Such perspectives might enable women to disagree with Confucianism and view their circumstances differently from proscribed Confucian roles. For example, women graduates might criticize or challenge the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition from a feminist perspective. Because of that, educated married women might confront Confucianism by questioning women's inferior position to male family members in the family and by disapproving of women's roles as dutiful wives (Centre for the Study of Sexualities at National Central University 2001, Sociology Department of National Taiwan University 2001). For these reasons, it is correct to say that higher education is an important social factor that contributes to the

creation of an open society that in turn allows educated married women to integrate non-Confucian gender discourses into their Confucian mindset.

#### 2.3-2 Women's employment

With the promotion of women's higher education, the rate of women participating in the paid labour market has been increasing over the years. The trigger for women's employment resulted from increased foreign investments from the West and Japan that began in the 1980s, and the corresponding development of Taiwan's export-oriented industrialization and labour-intensive export processing industries (Lionberger and H.C. Chang 1970, Shue Hua-yuan 2000, Lin Zhong-shiong 1998, Kung 1978). These developments created a number of job opportunities for female workers (Kung 1978). As a result, since the 1980s, the percentage of working married women has dramatically increased as the economy has shifted from a labour-intensive, export processing-based industry to a tertiary sector-based one. By 2000, compared with the two previous decades, the participation of married women in the paid labour market had increased by 14.04% to 49.73% of the population of married women (DGBAS 2001, DGBAS 2001a).

However, the employment rate of married women is influenced by their children's ages. In the 1990s, among working women, 20% of them withdrew from the paid labour market after getting married and 10% of them left paid employment after giving birth. In 2006, the figure increased

by 10% and 5% respectively (DGBAS 2009). However, the percentage of married women who left their paid employment because of marriage and then returned to the paid labour market increased from 20.3% in 1990 to 40.9% in 2006. The percentage of mothers who left their jobs after giving birth re-entering the paid labour market increased from 28.4% in 1990 to 56.4% in 2006 (DGBAS 2009). The figures show that in the 21<sup>st</sup> century, like their female counterparts in the West, married Taiwanese women of the 21<sup>st</sup> century are likely to become non-employed due to marriage and childcare, but are also more likely to return to the paid labour market than women of the previous era.

Legislation on women's employment has further promoted the employment of married women. Since the 1990s, the Taiwanese government has drawn up a budget particularly for promoting women's job opportunities and has marked women's employment as a key area for political development (Ministry of Interior 2002). This includes a law concerning parental leave that was passed in the 1990s (Chang Jin-fen and Chang Dao-yi 1997). Together with the law of Gender Equality in Employment passed by the Legislative Yuan in March 2002 (DGBAS 2009), they have imposed on employers the duty to offer childcare service support for working mothers in order to ensure their employment. In 2007, the percentages of institutions that provided maternity leave and spouse leave to their employees were 95.7% and 46.6%, respectively, an increase of 17.6 percent for both figures from 2002 (DGBAS 2009). I conclude that together with higher education and the demands of a work force in the tertiary sector, the legal right of

married Taiwanese women to work has encouraged Taiwanese women to continue working after marriage.

While the above statistics are significant, it is not the growth in the employment rate of married women that is the focus of this study, but rather how their jobs influence their views on family roles during the industrialized era, which leads this section to the next point.

Perhaps the most significant impact of the promotion of the employment of married women is that it has weakened the control of the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition over women's family roles. Married women of 21st-century Taiwan are no longer shackled to domestic lifestyles of the "Dutiful Wife and Loving Mother" (賢妻良母). The employment of married Taiwanese women, particularly as white-collar workers, has not only enabled them to become financially independent. The labour market mechanism in the modern era has also somewhat enabled married women to develop qualities that promote their independence (Beck, Beck-Gernsheim 1995). This is largely a result of the labour market system in the 21<sup>st</sup> century developing in association with the promotion of education and the development of personal values. For example, employed women in white collar jobs might be required to obtain qualifications in order to improve their work skills. As they undertake the jobs, they then are likely to be pressed to participate in training or further study in order to obtain job promotions or negotiate for higher salaries. As a result, working women have to "plan how to take care of themselves" and they have to consider

themselves as independent individuals "with corresponding rights and interests, their own futures and their own options" (Beck, Beck-Gernsheim 1995:60). By means of this 21st century employment system, I argue that married Taiwanese working women, especially the educated ones, are likely to view themselves as capable and independent persons and thus challenge the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition.

While it is possible that educated and employed married Taiwanese women are able to challenge the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition, they cannot develop these qualities without the contextual support of other social factors. The influence of these factors upon Taiwanese women that transmit non-Confucian gender discourses includes the women's movement and helping professions.

#### 2.3-3 The women's movement

Politically, in 1987 the restrictions on the freedom of speech and assembly were lifted. Since then social activities, such as the women's movement, have grown greatly and as a result, Taiwanese women have been able to have contact with different gender discourses other than the dominant Confucianism (Shue Hua-yuan 2000). The women's movement is considered by this study as an important social development that has contributed to the transmission of non-Confucian gender discourses, and which has encouraged the independence of (married) women. For example, in the 1990s women's groups proposed that the legal rights of

married women should be protected. The success of this legal move served as a strong blow against the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition. The successes included a campaign to lift the restriction which required that the residential places of husbands were the legal "home" for married women. In addition, under the new family law, married Taiwanese women were not obligated to take on the family names of their husbands (Huang Sue-ving 2001).

Another case that exemplifies how the women's movement has served the purpose of helping women reject Confucian gender discourses is its confrontation with domestic violence. Women's groups have advocated that domestic violence is a "public matter", that is, a "public crime to women's disadvantage at home" (Huang Sue-ying 2001). For more than a decade, the women's movement campaigned for the provision of the Domestic Violence Prevention Law. This law was finally passed and took effect in 1999. The new law allows for the prosecution of the abuser, usually the husband, and protects the rights and interests of the victims, often the wife (Huang Sue-ying 2001). The new law proclaims that married women should be treated as independent individuals, instead of as the possession of their husbands. The legal statement challenges the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition, in particular, the aspects of Confucian principles that determine that married women "belong" to their procreative families and thus are subjected to the authorities of male family members, especially their husbands.

# 2.3-4 Helping professions

Helping professions have played an important part in creating a "friendly" society for Taiwanese (married) women by transmitting non-Confucian gender discourses. The lifting of the restrictions on freedom of social activities in 1987 launched the development of helping professions, such as counselling services. In 2001, there were 88 government-funded and private institutions established in Taiwan that aimed at promoting the rights and interests of service users (Ministry of Interior 2002, Shue Hua-yuan 2000). Many welfare institutions offered counselling services, especially in major cities, like Taipei. Although these institutions did not necessarily limit their services to female clients, the majority of service users were women (Ministry of Interior 2002).

The reason for highlighting counselling services is because, like the women's movement, these helping professions in general inspire women to raise their sense of independence. This is because the emphasis on personal growth encourages women to value themselves as independent individuals. For example, counselling services encourage married women to value themselves as unique individuals and become aware of their own well being emotionally and physically. This includes encouraging married women to express their needs or discuss any personal issues that are of their concern with husbands (Lin 2005). By placing the focus on women's

needs and wellbeing, helping professions promote married women's sense of self as independent individuals and that in turn empowers them to challenge the Confucian principles, which value married Taiwanese women according to their family relations.

The above sections have depicted that higher education, women's employment, the women's movement and helping professions transmit non-Confucian gender discourses that form part of the features of Taiwanese society in the 21<sup>st</sup> century. However, it is the press and mass media that play an important role in transmitting not only the non-Confucian but also Confucian gender discourses, thereby creating an intricate Taiwanese society which allows married Taiwanese women to have contact with various gender discourses.

# 2.3-5 The press and the mass media as a channel for transmitting gender discourses

Since 1987 the press and mass media have undergone vigorous changes. Prior to 1987, the conservative social atmosphere allowed limited space for the development of the press and mass media. Rather, they were mostly used by the authorities as tools of political propaganda. Although television and radio became more popular during the 1970s, the programmes broadcast were used to reinforce nationalism. For instance, soap operas or films told the story of the revival of nationhood, aiming to promote a sense of national identity against the threat of the armed forces of mainland China

or as an attempt to stabilize the society. However, after 1987, resulting from new freedoms of speech and publication, the press and mass media has experienced dramatic growth. By the end of 2002, there were five television networks, 514 newspapers, 3,909 magazines and 174 radio stations in Taiwan (DGBAS 2003). In the following sections, I will present key aspects of the press and mass media that include television programmes and women's magazines to depict how the press and mass media have played an important role in transmitting both Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses in 21<sup>st</sup> century Taiwan.

#### The example of television

Television is often used by women's groups as a medium to make their views known and these in turn transmit non-Confucian gender discourses to the public. During their push for the revision of family law in the 1990s, for example, which aimed to promote women's safety in marital relationships, many women's groups gave interviews to television programmes to introduce the concept of the revised family law and its application (Awakening Foundation 2005, Foundation of Women Rights Promotion and Development 2005, Taipei Association for the Promotion of Women's Right 2005). Below is an excerpt from the weekly programme, 'Chinese Television News Magazine', which was broadcast in 1999 on one of the main television networks, *CTV*, on a weekday evening around ten pm:

A Taiwanese woman should pay attention to her legal right to ensure her safety in marriage. This includes knowing how to win a lawsuit in the case of stopping her husband's violence towards her. Before a battered married woman had to collect three medical documents to prove that she had suffered from physical injuries if she wanted to prove her husband's domestic violence, otherwise, she did not have a chance to win the case. But the situation is different now. According to the new family law, three medical documents are no longer the required documentary evidence. Your case can be sustained with only one certificate or if you do not have any but you have a witness to corroborate your claim in court (my translation and paraphrase) (Chinese television 1999).

However, on the television Confucian gender discourses are also transmitted. To demonstrate this, I take examples from an advertisement of a disposable static mop, and a soap opera.

An advertisement broadcast in 2003 for a disposable static mop claimed to sufficiently decrease married women's domestic burdens. In this advertisement, a hard working female homemaker juggled cleaning dusty floors and attending to her naughty toddler. With this handy mop, however, the housewife was able to finish the cleaning quickly and at the same time give her full attention to the child. At the end of this advertisement, it was said that the disposable static mop was designed to help 'good' mothers and wives perform their domestic work efficiently. This advertisement in turn reinforced the Confucian gender discourse that determined that an ideal married woman ought to be a dutiful wife and loving mother who was

expected to take on the primary responsibilities for domestic work and childcare.

Like the above advertisement, popular culture, such as soap operas, which frequently targets female audiences, also transmits Confucian gender discourses. In one of the drama series broadcast in 2005, for example, a "respectful" married woman endured the oppression of her husband and parents-in-law and dutifully devoted herself to domestic chores, and "kindly" looked after other family members of her husband. The TV series went on long enough to show this 'virtuous' woman going through hardship in her marital relationships and eventually becoming a mother-in-law herself. However, when she finally enjoyed more power in the family as a senior member and was able to make decisions on family affairs, she was 'virtuously' forgiving with those who used to oppress her and devalued her as a wife and daughter-in-law. By the end of this family drama series, the woman was sentimentally praised by family members of her husband for putting the family first, which proved her worthiness. Her self-sacrifice for the family as a wife and daughter-in-law in order to make a happy family was treated as a happy ending. Such soap operas reinforce Confucian gender discourses by suggesting that a married woman is valued by her contributions to her husband's family and that she should follow the Confucian womanly virtues and perform as a dutiful wife and daughter-inlaw. The above examples evidence that the television might transmit Confucian gender discourses that reinforce Confucian gender discourses,

such as the Confucian womanly moral standards of 'Three Obediences and Four Virtues'.

## The example of women's magazines

This study also depicts women's magazines as being a mediator in transmitting various gender discourses. This is because as women's magazines target female readers, the content which brings out or makes comments and suggestions on women's issues, may have an impact on (married) Taiwanese women. Relevant research on Taiwanese women has shown that women's magazines often present readers with complex themes that transmit both non-Confucian and Confucian gender discourses. One study suggests that women's magazines disseminate non-Confucian gender discourses, such as autonomy and assertiveness (Farris 1991, Thornton, Fricke, Yang and Chang 1994). An article in the Taiwanese edition of an international women's magazine, Elle, illustrates this thrust. In edition 122, in an article entitled 'Women's Decade, the Faces at Work', the editor interviewed a female manager about the 'trade mark' of being a successful career woman:

You cannot take on an additional shift because you are married? This kind of situation should not have happened. Everybody should be in an equal position in the work place. You cannot say that you cannot work as much as your male colleagues and other single female workers just because you have family responsibility, (my translation and paraphrase) (Jiang Fu-ching 2001).

The above statement delivers non-Confucian gender discourses because it suggests that a career woman's family responsibilities should not hinder her work commitment and that in turn implies that a (married) woman should be valued in terms of her work performance, instead of her family contribution. Other studies further suggest that Taiwanese women are likely to take on non-Confucian gender discourses through reading women's magazines. This includes ideas that a woman should show concern about social and political issues instead of being domestically orientated, and that she should pay attention to her thoughts and feelings and look after her psychological well-being (Shaw Ping 2000:156) instead of putting family first. The suggestion that a woman needs not focus her mind only on family matters challenges the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition that determines the family roles of a married woman as a homemaker, dutiful wife and loving mother. Encouraging a woman to pay attention to her wellbeing challenges the Confucian womanly moral standards that expect a married woman to be "virtuous" by putting her family first.

However, research has also shown that Confucian gender discourses are disseminated in women's magazines. For example, they transmit ideas that an ideal married woman should be an efficient homemaker or that marriage is a woman's destiny (Farris 1991, Thornton, Fricke, Yang and Chang 1994, Shaw Ping 2000). More recent research on an international women's magazine, Cosmopolitan, has demonstrated that "modern womanhood" in a

Taiwanese context is portrayed in a complex way (Chang 2004). This research investigated how women's magazines served as a mediator transmitting both Western (non-Confucian) and Chinese (Taiwanese Confucian) cultural elements to female audiences. It studied Taiwanese editions of Cosmopolitan published from 1992 to 1997, among which six issues (one issue per year) were randomly selected from the 72 issues over the six years. Articles that contained debate or addressed issues that revealed Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses were examined. The material covered subjects about relationships and careers that generated debate on or discussions about the meaning of womanhood.

The research on Taiwanese editions of Cosmopolitan concludes that women's magazines on the one hand deliver non-Confucian (Western) gender discourses. Take the subject of break up as an example. The magazine suggested that a break up offered an opportunity for a woman to think about who she was. For instance, a woman should feel free to "dump" her man if she could not be true to herself in a relationship. Within a Confucian context, marital breakdown is not an option for married women as they are expected to seek protection from their marriage. Perceiving break up as a positive outcome in a relationship, therefore, represents non-Confucian gender discourses. What is more, the focus of a (married) woman's self fulfilment challenges the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition because it implies that it is not a virtue for married women to put the family first, or be submissive to husbands by 'compromising to men all the time' (Chang 2004: 374-376).

On the other hand, however, the above research also evidences that women's magazines reinforce ideas about Confucian womanly virtue to its female readers. I take the magazine, Cosmopolitan, as an example to further explain this point. In the magazine, for instance, it suggested that although free choices and personal interest might be necessary, being a 'mean' person alone did not deliver happiness. An ideal woman should be "other-centered", and be sociable in order to enjoy harmonious relationships with others. In that sense, an ideal woman was valued by her contributions to "good" relations with others. In this magazine a "good" woman was portrayed as "flexible and friendly" because she was kind and "avoiding being calculating towards people". A "self-centred" woman, who paid too much attention to herself and could not interact with others harmoniously, was unable to "truly" fulfil her sense of self and be happy. Such views about a woman echoes the Confucian womanly moral standard that determines that a "good" (married) woman ought to be tender, generous and act and think appropriately according to her (family) roles.

The Taiwanese edition of Cosmopolitan is popular mostly among young women, who often seek advice on how to fulfil their sense of self, manage their career or deal with relationships (Chang 2004). The magazine is likely to influence single women prior to marital life. It is therefore correct to say that women's magazines in Taiwan serve as a mediator delivering both Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses to (married) Taiwanese women.

The above current studies of the press and the mass media indicate that 21<sup>st</sup> century Taiwan is an intricate society that allows married Taiwanese women to have contacts with both Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses.

#### 2.4 Summary

The above review of Taiwanese society offers contextual information that provides background knowledge of how Taiwanese society in the 21<sup>st</sup> century has become an intricate society. Political and economic developments have contributed to women's higher education, their increasing participation in the paid labour market, the development of the women's movement, helping professions and the press and mass media. Taiwanese society of the 21<sup>st</sup> century is open and changeable. Because of those social factors the Confucian-based Taiwanese society allows for the transmission of not only Confucian gender discourses but also non-Confucian ones.

I expect to explore how, by transmitting various (Confucian and non-Confucian) gender discourses, the intricate society influences a Taiwanese working mother's perceptions and identities, especially if she is educated and employed. In the next chapter, I will review current literature to explain how my study is related to available research.

# **CHAPTER THREE LITERATURE REVIEW**

## 3.1 Background: Women's family roles

As shown in the previous chapter, Taiwanese Confucian society in general defined and valued married Taiwanese women in terms of their relationships with their procreative families (Shue Hua-yuan 2000; Lamley 1998). This chapter expects to understand how current literature and research has examined the influences of the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition on married women. In this review, I am also hoping to find out how current literature and research has explored the identities of Taiwanese married women in relation to non-Confucian gender discourses.

Since I focus on a Taiwanese married woman's family roles as a wife, mother and daughter-in-law, in the following sections, this study will firstly review literature that shows that in 21<sup>st</sup> century Taiwan, these family roles play an important role in Taiwanese working mothers' marital lives.

Research has suggested that married Taiwanese women of the 21<sup>st</sup> century continue to live under the influences of Taiwanese Confucian family tradition and therefore are likely to consider themselves as wives and mothers (Shue Hua-yuan 2000; Lamley 1998). However the role of daughter-in-law also plays a part in their marital life.

The Taiwanese Confucian family tradition has a long history of obliging married women to have a close relationship with their parents-in-law, especially with the mothers-in-law. Since the 1970s, however, as a result of industrialization, parents-in-law have been less likely to live with their married children and therefore married women have had less chance to be confronted with tense relationships with their parents-in-law (Cheng Jenchiao and Chen Jeaw-mei 1994). However, parent-in-law relationships remain important in the marital lives of married Taiwanese women (Chen Hui-wen 1999). An important reason for this is that married Taiwanese women in the modern era are still taking on the major responsibility of childcare and domestic work.

For example, in 2001 over half of married women in Taiwan were non-employed. Among those non-employed married women 34.25 percent of them reported that they had decided to withdraw from the paid labour market because of family responsibilities, such as looking after young children or elderly parents-in-law (DGBAS 2001, DGBAS 2001a, DGBAS, 2009). However, despite being employed, 21st century married Taiwanese women take on major responsibilities for domestic work. For example, in 2001 married women spent more time on domestic work and childcare, which was on average 2.19 hours per day, whereas their husbands' contribution accounted for 1.51 hours per day (DGBAS 2001b). Many of these employed women continued to believe that it was their duty to undertake domestic work and childcare and reported that despite their employment, they performed more domestic work and childcare than their

husbands (e.g. Statistical Units of Government Agencies 1998, Chien Wenyin and Hsuen Cherng-tay 1996, Chang Jin-fen and Chang Dao-yi 1997, Liu Mei-chun 1997, Lin Yi-hui 1998).

As long as married Taiwanese women continue to take on major responsibilities for domestic work, their family role as daughter-in-law remains important. This is because the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition which determines that men are the head of the family and the breadwinner, while designating women as the homemakers, remains unchallenged. Husbands are left out of domestic duties; whereas their family-centred wives have more opportunities to interact with their parents-in-law. Wives are likely to have close relationships with their mothers-in-law, due to sharing domestic responsibilities that are seen as "women's jobs", such as cooking (Chen Hui-wen 1999). Because of their continuous responsibility for domestic work and childcare, it is correct to say that Taiwanese married women's relationship with their parents-in-law still plays an important role. For this reason, in this literature review, I look at research on the family roles of daughters-in-law.

Thus far I have used the above section to explain that this literature review will examine research on women's family roles as mothers, wives and inlaws, as these roles remain important in the marital lives of 21<sup>st</sup> century married Taiwanese women. Despite the focus on Taiwanese women, I will also review Western literature. The reason for that is because married Western women of the 21st century have experienced similar transformations in their status of employment, education, and family role compared to married women in Taiwan (e.g. Bianchi, Milkie; Sayer and Robinson 2000; Baxter 2000; Coltrane 2000; Christopher and Sprecher 2000; Office for National Statistics UK 2005; US Department of Commerce, Economics and Statistics Administration, US Census Bureau 2003). For example, in the 21st century Western women are more likely to enter into the paid labour market than ever before. According to the national survey of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, between 1984 and 2004, the percentage of employed working women in the UK has increased. This growth in the employment rate among British women was due to the increasing participation of married women in the labour market, especially by those who were educated (Office for National Statistics UK 2005). What is more, like married women in Taiwan, many employed married women in the UK take on major responsibilities for homemaking and childcare and that often interrupts their employment (Office for National Statistics UK 2005).

#### 3.2 Literature review of four dimensions

Since this study expects to understand how women take on Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses to develop their identities, I will particularly examine two issues: First, how has current research

investigated women's perceptions of their family roles? Second, how has current research explored women's identities in relation to gender discourses?

The following review investigates four dimensions of women's family lives: (1) domestic work and childcare, (2) verbal communication, (3) marital sex and (4) looking after parents-in-law. The four dimensions are examined because they are associated with women's family roles as wives, mothers and daughters-in-law.

#### 3.2-1 Domestic work and childcare

## Women's perceptions

Instead of investigating how women perceive their family roles, research on Western working mothers has mostly examined how they perform domestic responsibilities. The available research however yielded different results of how working mothers share domestic work with their husbands. For example, working mothers dutifully took on the dual burden of paid jobs and major family responsibilities (e.g. Tichenor 1999, Artis and Pavalko 2003, Greenstein 1995). In contrast, other research reported that higher education positively enabled married women to negotiate with their husbands on the sharing of domestic work and childcare (Houseknecht, Vaughan and Macke 1984). However, such inconsistency indicates that simply examining the performances of married women is insufficient and thus is unable to accurately predict how women perceive their family roles. Scholars have pointed out that it is women's perceptions of family roles that

have an impact on their family life (Kessler and Mckenna 1978, Thompson 1991).

Scholars who have paid attention to women's perceptions suggested that it was the "interpersonal values" (informed by Thompson 1991) of married women, especially educated women, that played an important role in determining women's domestic responsibilities (eg Baxter 2000, Coltrane 2000). The available research adopted surveys and looked at the correlations between domestic tasks, how women performed domestic work and their perceptions of fairness. It insightfully emphasized the importance of "symbolic meanings", which referred to the views of married women about what they perceived to be important. For example, a husband performing domestic work that was considered as "women's work", such as cooking, was perceived by wives as helpful and thus had "symbolic meanings" for their wives. Because their husbands' domestic work was perceived as meaningful to them, the wives were happy with their husbands' domestic contribution and therefore less likely to argue with their husbands about domestic work sharing (Baxter 2000). However, I argue that the above research outcome is unable to fully capture women's subjective views. Although it recognized that women's family performances are associated with their perceptions, it restricted the focus to the category of "fairness". In addition, its research design, which used predetermined items, such as lists of domestic tasks, in order to testify correlations between domestic work (performance) and perception, quantified married

women's views and thus were unable to comprehensively represent how married women perceived their family roles.

Other existing research has studied the perceptions of married Taiwanese women regarding their beliefs or attitudes. For example, in a cross-national survey, "Perceptions, Personal Traits, Lifestyles and Leadership" (Wu and Minor 1997), 216 educated and employed women from the US, Japan and Taiwan, aged 31-50, who worked as managers or at higher positions in the work place, were sampled. The research results showed that Taiwanese women scored higher on items that conformed to the gender discourse that transmitted the idea that women are homemakers and husbands are breadwinners. Married Taiwanese women in this survey also scored high on items that presumed that women should be 'gentle', 'careful', 'intimate', 'benevolent', 'tender' and 'dignified'. The survey concluded that compared to married career women in the US and Japan, Taiwanese women were more "traditional" because the perceptions of their family roles were influenced by Confucianism (Wu and Minor 1997).

However, I argue that women's attitudes towards gender discourses cannot be interpreted as women's identities. That is, women's beliefs in Confucianism should not be equated to them defining themselves as "traditional". Kessler and Mckenna (1978) mention that the identities of married women entails the process of married women "committing" themselves to gender discourses and then defining themselves accordingly (Kessler and Mckenna 1978:8). So while the above survey might have

shown that Taiwanese women were willing to believe in Confucian values, to examine how the Confucian gender discourses have contributed to their sense of self, one has to look into the narratives of women. By doing so, it is possible to see how they identify with Confucianism and then define themselves consequently (Kroska 1997).

Another example of available research shows that the views of married women about the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition were varied. The research focuses on the financial power of employed Taiwanese women (Gates 1991). Seventy-one self-employed married Taiwanese women and those who worked in their husbands' family business were interviewed to find out about those women's attitudes towards childcare and its relevant issues (Gates 1991). The research finding showed that women had different and even contrasting ideas about the Confucian tradition of childrearing and filial obligation. While some married Taiwanese women felt it was their duty to carry on the family line for their husbands, others stated that because of their financial contributions they were able to say no to this family obligation. However, regarding the issue of filial obligation, none of the female interviewees expected their children to look after them in old age as a "good return", and appeared to reject the Confucian tradition that stated that an elder son should take the responsibility of looking after his parents (Gates 1991).

The complexity of these married Taiwanese women's accounts suggests that it is possible for employed women to view Confucian gender discourses in different ways other than submissively conforming to

Taiwanese Confucian family tradition. Unfortunately, the above research can only suggest that the attitudes of women towards childcare and filial obligation might not be entirely determined by Confucianism. It has not explored further how women commit themselves to Confucian and (or) non-Confucian gender discourses and develop their sense of self.

However, research on Western women provides insightful outcomes that prove that working mothers are able to perceive gender discourses and develop identities in different ways. It is worth looking at these research results because married Western women have experienced similar transformations, such as continuing to take on paid work after marriage, receiving higher education and taking on the major responsibilities of domestic work and childcare as mothers and wives. Take the research on the views of career women about their domestic contributions as an example (Tichenor 1999). It shows that wives perceive the term "provider". which transmits the idea of men being the breadwinner within the context of Western culture, in different ways (Tichenor 1999:648-649). For example, one woman phrased the concept of "provider" by reporting that she defined both she and her non-employed house-husband as the "providers" of the family because they worked together to look after the family. Some women stated that their non-employed husbands were "providers" because they contributed to domestic work and childcare that was valuable for the family (Tichenor 1999). By probing into women's subjective views about the term "provider", the above research revealed that married women are able to perceive gender discourses in their own ways. The above research also

shows that the ways that women integrate gender discourses into their sense of self and develop identities is varied.

The above research outcome informs this study by showing that the manner in which married women perceive their family roles, in this case, as wives, is complex. It in turn indicates that women are capable of perceiving gender discourses differently and subsequently develop their own identities.

The above research outcome is inspiring because by investigating domestic work and childcare, I expect to explore the possibilities that a Taiwanese working mother is able to perceive her family roles by interrogating her thoughts about Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses.

In the following section, I will examine research and literature on verbal communication as this dimension is able to reveal women's perceptions and identities in relation to gender discourses.

#### 3.2-2 Verbal communication

Verbal communication represents an important element in counselling services. A counselling culture raises women's consciousness of their well-being. This includes enabling women to become aware of their sense of satisfaction, fulfilment and happiness, especially in their family relationships (Wouters 1992). Very often this awareness of self comes with the practice of verbal communication that encourages a woman (as an individual) to express or negotiate their needs with others (Meeks, Arnkoff, Glass and

Notarius 1986, Sporakowski 1988, Lin 2005). The reason for that is because the counselling 'expressive' culture in general draws more attention to verbal expression, sharing feelings, emotions and thoughts (Meeks, Arnkoff, Glass and Notarius 1986, Rallings 1969, Dame, Finck, Reiner and Smith1965, Hickman and Baldwin 1971, Sporakowski 1988).

Since the 1980s, there have been many government-funded and private welfare institutions established in Taiwan that have aimed at promoting the rights and interests of service users. Many of them offered counselling services, especially in major cities like Taipei. (Ministry of Interior 2002, Shue Hua-yuan 2000). Although these institutions opened their services to both Taiwanese men and women, a majority of service users were women (Ministry of Interior 2002). What is more, as the press and mass media has grown, non-Confucian gender discourses, such as women's rights and interests at home and in the paid labour market, are transmitted to Taiwanese women and these include counselling ideas (Shaw Ping 2000). In the following section, I will examine current research on how married (Taiwanese) women, especially the educated ones, identify with verbal communication-related ideas to develop their perceptions and identities.

#### Women's perceptions and identities

Research on married Western women has shown that women's views about verbal communication reveal the perceptions of their family roles as wives. For example, wives who believe in verbal communication tend to care about how they feel (their own well-being) and that in turn makes them value the feedback from their husbands (Wilkie, Ferree and Ratcliff 1998,

Erickson 1993, Coltrane 2000, Hawkins, Marshall and Meiners, 1995). This suggests that verbal communication reinforces the idea of expressiveness that, within a Western culture, is often seen as a woman's characteristic. This gender discourse transmits the idea that a wife and a husband should discuss issues that are of both their concerns and share feelings with each other. The above research outcome showed that wives who took on this idea were likely to challenge "traditional" (male dominant) gender discourses. For instance, wives expected their husbands to be "expressive". This includes expecting husbands to express their passions or love for them or be verbally responsive to issues that they considered as close to their hearts (Erickson 1993, Duncombe and Marsden 1993). Otherwise, wives felt dissatisfied with their marital relationships.

The above research on married Western women is informative for this study. Seen from the above evidence, within a Confucian context, it is worth examining whether a married Taiwanese woman who identifies with verbal communication is able to challenge the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition. Expressing one's needs and negotiating with each other in general has not been the way in which Taiwanese people have dealt with their family relationships in the past. Instead, couples have followed the Confucian family hierarchy, and acting upon that, strictly adhered to defined roles in which junior members are submissive to senior members and women obey the superiority of men. What is more, Taiwanese people in general value practical help. Showing affection for others merely by saying some nice words might be considered simply as "lip-service", and in the

extreme, as deceiving people by playing with their feelings (Yan Xunxiang 2003). Seeking verbal communication, therefore, means not only learning a new communication pattern but also challenging this aspect of Taiwanese culture.

For Taiwanese women, however, engaging in verbal communication means not only learning a new communication pattern but also challenging the Confucian womanly moral standards of "Three Obediences and Four Virtues". According to this tradition, an ideal married Taiwanese woman should be "humble" and ought not to speak of her needs. If she did, it would be assumed that she was not in control of herself and therefore not respectable. She was also not expected to directly request what she wanted from others, otherwise she was considered to have bad manners or be disgraceful. In this sense, it is worth examining how a married Taiwanese woman views verbal communication so as to understand how she perceives the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition and develops identities under the influences of non-Confucian gender discourses.

#### 3.2-3 Marital sex

#### Women's identities and gender discourses

There is little research on identities in relation to the marital sex of wives. But this dimension is important for my study because it reveals the influences of Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses on how married Taiwanese women perceive their family role as wives. Traditionally,

married Taiwanese women's views about marital sex were restricted to the Confucian womanly moral standards of the "Three Obediences and Four Virtues" that, for example, repressed women's sexual desire by imposing virginity, "virtue", or "purity" on them. Living under the influence of Confucian morality, a (married) woman is likely to consider sexual desire as "immoral". On the other hand, however, social factors of the modern era that have transmitted non-Confucian gender discourses might have challenged this tradition.

One example is the growing counselling services that draw the attention of married Taiwanese women to the quality of their marital sex. Although there is a lack of relevant research, documentary evidence has indicated that the counselling culture might have encouraged married Taiwanese women to pay attention to their sexual satisfaction. For example, a counselling book written by a marriage expert in Taiwan, which augmented stories told to her by female authors with her own comments, showed that many married women sought advice from marriage experts about difficulties of having orgasms (Lin 2005). This same book suggests that in the past decade, many married Taiwanese women have admitted that they have felt disturbed with engaging in extramarital sex. Many of them thus are advised to express to their husbands their frustration at being unable to tell their husbands about how to satisfy their sexual desires (Lin 2005).

Another example shows that higher education enables women to challenge Confucianism in their views about marital sex. Available research on Western women shows that educated women are likely to raise their consciousness of sexual satisfaction. Educated married women are aware of their sexual desires and think that it is important to have their personal sexual needs met in their marital lives. Educated married women are less likely to define their family role as wives as that of marital obligations or completing reproductive activity, compared to uneducated married women (Kane and Schippers 1996, Christopher and Sprecher 2000).

The above research on Western women inspires my study to look at the possibilities that within a Confucian context, the level of education might enable educated married Taiwanese women to challenge Confucian family tradition by becoming aware of the quality of their sex life in marriage. However, only a limited amount of research has provided any direct evidence of how married Taiwanese women view their family roles as wives in relation to marital sex. One such study used interviews to explore the narratives of educated married Taiwanese women regarding their sexual experiences during pregnancy (Lee 2002). Among the 12 interviewees, one woman attributed her sense of self to the sexual satisfaction of her husband. Her account of sexual experiences was interpreted as "positive". She reported that she felt "valuable" as a wife because she felt her husband had a sexual desire for her. If it were not for that, she would describe herself as "lonely" because her husband's feelings were "important" to her (Lee 2002: 284).

However, I argue that the above research outcome did not adequately look into women's narrative or take into account the influences of the Taiwanese Confucian tradition. It simply considered the sexual satisfaction as a positive outcome of a marital interaction, with this "positive" or "good" experience being directly related to the woman feeling "valuable". The social complexity of the narrative was ignored by overlooking the conflicting themes embodied in her account. On the one hand, she can be described as a traditional (other-centred) woman in a Confucianism-based society. She felt valuable because of the sexual satisfaction of her husband that suggests that she valued herself in terms of her relationship with her husband. On the other hand, her account of being "lonely" represents her non-Confucian insight of dissatisfaction about being a wife and her selfawareness of personal well-being. The outcome of the above research has not discussed how the two conflicting elements, which might represent the interweaving influences of Confucianism and non-Confucian elements, affect her perceptions of marital sex as a wife.

Because of the influences of counselling culture and higher education on them, 21<sup>st</sup> century married Taiwanese women who continue to live under the influence of the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition might take on non-Confucian gender discourses. By investigating a woman's views about marital sex, this study allows for an examination of how the identities of a married Taiwanese woman are being influenced by taking on both Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses.

# 3.2-4 Looking after parents-in-law

# Women's identities and gender discourses

There is a shortage of research concerning how married Taiwanese women take on gender discourses and develop their sense of self as daughters-inlaw. Yet the dimension of looking after parents-in-law is important because it reveals how Taiwanese Confucian family tradition continues to influence the identities of 21st century married Taiwanese women. Available literature shows that traditionally married Taiwanese women identified with the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition and thus defined themselves as dutiful daughters-in-law. They bore the major responsibility of looking after their parents-in-law, especially when they were ill (Wang Ling-yi 1998). Other available research on 21st century married Taiwanese women looked at women's performance of caring tasks. For example, the ways in which married Taiwanese women fulfilled their filial obligation included sending their parents-in-law to nursing/residential homes (Kao and Stuifbergen 1999, Statistical Units of Government Agencies 1998). The limited research implied that 21<sup>st</sup> century married Taiwanese women might have different attitudes towards looking after their parents-in-law, such as not considering caring for parents-in-laws as their duty. However, the available study has not focused on how they integrate Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses into their sense of self as daughters-in-law.

The above sections explain that this study explores the perceptions and identities of a married Taiwanese woman by investigating the four

dimensions of: (1) domestic work and childcare; (2) verbal communication; (3) marital sex and (4) looking after parents-in-law. Informed by the review of relevant research and literature on the four dimensions, I conclude that to investigate a married Taiwanese woman's perceptions and identities in an intricate 21<sup>st</sup> century Taiwanese society, one should probe for her subjective views about how she relates Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses to her sense of self and develops identities as a wife, mother and daughter-in-law.

I use a study of married Taiwanese women (Tsai 2006) to stress that to capture how a woman integrates different gender discourses into her sense of self, her subjective views cannot be overlooked. This recent study that interviewed 29 working women from a textile company concluded that women did not participate in leisure activities as much as their husbands. The research used a qualitative design that contained questions, such as "how you get permission from husbands" and "how you feel about the constraint of family", to examine women's views about the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition. The research outcome suggested that Taiwanese working mothers were under the influence of tradition. For example, "women's self-identity was defined by men" and "male control and pressure exerted on their (women's) lifestyles" (Tsai 2006:471). However, I argue that the questions put to the interviewees restricted the women's answers to Confucian categories and the approach in a way risks predetermining women's identities. Despite its qualitative design, the predetermined items, such as "getting permission" and "constraint",

prevented the interviewees telling their stories in their own words. The interviewees did not tell stories that showed they were capable of challenging Confucianism because they were already predefined as being "oppressed" by Confucian culture. Because of the close-ended nature of the questions, the conclusion, which stated that Taiwanese women were universally oppressed by Confucianism and thus developed an identical identity in favour of Confucianism, is unlikely to present the subjective views of female interviewees about how they define their role as a wife in relation to the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition.

By reviewing the above study, I maintain that pre-determined or close-ended questionnaires limit the possibilities of exploring women's subjective views about how they perceive gender discourses and relate those discourses to their sense of self. Scholars have suggested that to understand the subjective experiences of women by taking into account cultural influences on them, it is important to explore the narrative contexts of women (Doucet 1995). For this reason, I expect to explore the possibilities that having lived in an intricate society, a married Taiwanese woman in 21<sup>st</sup> century Taiwan is able to perceive Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses in her own ways and develop identities that reveal her subjective experiences.

#### 3.3 Research on the identities of Western mothers

In the following paragraphs, I will review research on the identities of Western women. The research often defines identities in terms of "femininity". It is worth looking at the research because its focus of 'femininity' defines women in terms of "tradition", which in many Western countries and a Confucian-based society refers to gender discourses that transmit patriarchal ideas, such as women 'by nature' are homemakers (see Burke 1991; Burke and Cast 1997; Stets 1995). By reviewing the literature on 'femininity', I expect to understand how research on Western women has examined the impact of "tradition" on the identities of working mothers.

An Australian study (Moulding 2003) stated that femininity reinforces the idea that men are superior to women in terms of their ability to think and reason. The research interviewed 31 health workers and reported that they tended to define women with eating disorders as 'feminine' in that women were described as "connected and superficial" (emotional) in contrast to the "individualism" (independence) of "rational" men. Workers differentiated men and women by categorizing them within the "discursive framework that place[d] women's subjectivity in the midst of a central contradiction". Items that indicated instrumental roles, such as "disembodied, masculinized autonomy", were used to define men, while feminine women were characterized as expressive and less "powerful" than their male counterparts. This "femininity" is an example that shows that "feminine"

women are associated with dependency and "deficiency" (Moulding 2003:69-70) and thus are inferior to the masculinity of men in a patriarchal context.

I found that some research on married Western women employed similar views to examine how (working) mothers defined themselves. Take the research (Burke and Cast 1997) of newly married American couples as an example. The research results suggested that wives and husbands committed themselves to masculine tradition. Wives and husbands' views about women and men were defined in terms of "femininity" and "masculinity". These include items such as being not aggressive and aggressive, gentle and rough, passive and active, and so forth. However, I argue that the quantitative methods are unable to comprehensively capture the subjective experiences of women. The identity of wives was defined by discriminating between women (wives) and men (husbands) in that women were exclusively feminine and men were exclusively masculine. Based on those parameters, themes that divided women and men in terms of "femininity" and "masculinity" were then developed. The research only selected items that clearly indicated the qualities of "femininity" in contrast to "masculinity". The typology missed the opportunities to probe for some "unclear" or "ambiguous" information that could have authentically revealed how women narrated a sense of self. What is more, the quantitative methods might overlook the subjectivity of women by restricting their focus to how women submissively fitted themselves into the category of femininity.

It is correct to say that women's ability to love and nurture should be valued and seen as virtuous and "to be credited and learned from rather than despised" (Alcoff 2005:429). However, one should avoid the "tendency toward invoking universalizing conceptions of woman and mother in an essentialist way" (Alcoff 2005:429). Quantitative research on Western women tends to define women in terms of femininity against the assertiveness and breadwinner status of masculinity (Alcoff 2005). It has not looked into the possibilities that women might be capable of disagreeing with or challenging gender discourses that transmit ideas about femininity and masculinity. I argue that a universally defined identity is unable to show how women might integrate their subjective experiences into a sense of self and thus develop identities differently, depending on their complex social circumstances, especially in the 21st century.

I argue that women's narratives should be explored by comprehending the subjective experiences of working mothers as to how they integrate gender discourses into identities. With this, I take some qualitative research as examples. Research on 20 American couples, who reported that they identified themselves with feminist views, looked at how couples related feminist views to their marital lives. The research, through probing into the narrative of feminist wives, understood that married women integrated the gender discourse of gender equality into their sense of self. For instance, wives who identified with feminist ideas reported that they could enjoy a "[marriage] relationship...where they could voice their own thoughts" (Blaisure and Allen 1995:12); and that it was important to be "themselves"

in the marriage. One of the wives reported that she did not want to take the name of her husband because she was herself and not his 'possession'. By exploring the narrative of female subjects, the above research developed a concept of "vigilance" to address how women are capable of integrating particular gender discourses, in this case, gender equality, into their sense of self. This developed concept of "vigilance" was otherwise unlikely to be explored if the identities of those wives had been measured by quantitative methods that categorized women in terms of feminine qualities.

Another qualitative research on 25 married women who do not have children has positively pointed out that one can explore women's subjective views about how they define themselves by avoiding the restriction of its focus to femininity, which in turn asserts women's capabilities to decide who they want to be (Gillespie 2003). By investigating stories about how the female interviewees defined themselves, the research found that those married women "rejected" or "pushed away" the gender discourse that stated that women were bound to motherhood. It reveals that married women do not necessarily embrace feminine qualities because they are able to "reject and resist pronatalist cultural imperatives of femininity that conflate woman with mother" (Gillespie 2003:133). This above qualitative study of married women suggests that one should recognize that a woman is able to develop an identity "that is separate and uncoupled from the hegemonic ideal of motherhood [as feminine qualities]" (Gillespie 2003:134).

The above qualitative studies suggest that the context of identities of women is "highly complex and individual", especially with those who live in an intricate society whereby they have many opportunities to take on different and often conflicting gender discourses (Gillespie 2003:134). I have argued that quantitative methods cannot comprehensively explore women's identities when using pre-determined items, such as feminine qualities, to determine what women are.

#### 3.4 Summary

As the focus of this research is a woman's family roles, this chapter has reviewed available studies on the four dimensions associated with married Taiwanese women's family roles as wives, mothers and daughters-in-law, as well as research on the identities of Western women. However, this study concludes that available research is unable to comprehensively interpret the identities of a Taiwanese working mother for three reasons. Firstly, women's perceptions of their family roles are not investigated by taking into account their subjective experiences. Available research on married Taiwanese women and Western women has merely used predetermined items, which restrict the understanding of women's identities to Confucian characters, fairness, or femininity to investigate the identities of women, and thus cannot capture women's subjective views about how they define themselves by employing their thoughts. Secondly, the research has not focused on how women commit themselves to gender discourses and develop their sense of self. Thirdly, available studies that used quantitative methods to define women treated women as negative and passive recipients of gender discourses, such as femininity.

However, research on Western women has positively suggested that employed and educated married women are able to perceive gender discourses in their own ways and integrate ideas that they identify with into their sense of self. The research findings inspire this study to explore the subjective experiences of a 21<sup>st</sup> century married Taiwanese woman by looking at how she negotiates different gender discourses, including Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses, and thereby develops her identities.

In the following chapter, I will explain how this study theorizes identities in ways that represent the subjective experiences of a woman. How this study conceptualizes the process of a woman developing identities in relation to gender discourses will also be discussed.

# CHAPTER FOUR THEORETICAL PERSPECTIVE AND CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

This chapter is divided into two sections. The first section explains the theoretical perspective of this study. The second section explains the conceptual framework regarding how this study perceives the process of a woman developing a sense of self.

## **Theoretical perspective:**

In this section two issues will be discussed. Firstly, how this study interprets the relations between gender discourse and identity. How this study defines identity will also be explained.

# 4.1 Gender discourse and identity

This study sets out to explore the identities of a woman by investigating how she interprets gender discourses and relates them to her sense of self. It is therefore important to clarify how this study constructs the concepts of identity and gender discourses. To discuss that, first of all, I propose that a woman's identities become meaningful only when she is treated as a 'capable' being.

## 4.1-1 Women and agency

A woman should be perceived as a determined individual who is "in charge" (Walker 2005:11). This quotation echoes my proposition that presupposes that a woman has "agency", meaning that she is able to think for herself as a human being. The emphasis of a woman's agency makes identity meaningful to a woman. It asserts that she is aware of the influences of social circumstances on her. Despite the influences of gender discourses, she selects ideas that she identifies with and integrates those into her sense of self. Affirming a woman's agency in turn verifies that the identities of a woman are particular to her, whereby "the subject's [a woman's] ability to reflect on the social discourse and challenge its determinations" is assumed (Alcoff 2005:430).

I use Foucault's (1984) ideal account of "self" to argue that a woman's abilities to decide who she is should be recognized and valued in order to validate her sense of self. Foucault's account of the self positively suggests that the ability of individuals, including women and men, to think for themselves should be presumed. In his book, *The Care of The Self, The History of Sexuality: Volume Three*, Foucault describes that an individual is capable of making a "rational choice" for her/himself as to who they want to be (Foucault 1984:64). Reviewing the ancient Greek culture, Foucault describes that human beings are different from animals because human history presupposes that the man is able to "make free use of himself; and it was for this purpose that he endowed him[self] with reason" (Foucault 1984:46). Accordingly, women, like their male counterparts, should be

perceived as capable persons who are able to understand and form opinions about themselves. This perspective presupposes that the ability of cultivating the self is a universal quality belonging to both men and women through a presupposed quality of rationality, or as Foucault puts it, "crowning with this reasoning faculty all that is already given to us by nature" (Foucault 1984:46).

The account of an ideal self is a suitable concept for this study because it asserts the possibility that a woman has the capacity to perceive gender discourses from different perspectives, and decide what she is as a thinking subject. This study also takes the view that this capacity should not be considered as a "privilege" that a woman has to fight for. As Foucault has described: Individuals, including women and men, should be treated as a conscious and decorous being who embraces "the possibility and the duty to take care of ourselves (as human beings)...ensuring our freedom while forcing us to take ourselves as the object of all our diligence" (Foucault 1984:46).

However, Foucault's account of an ideal identity that appears to be universally available to both women and men has not considered the influences of gender on women. In many societies gender discourses transmit ideas that determine what women are and it cannot be denied that gender discourses are related to women's identities. In the following sections, I will first explain how this study considers the context of gender discourses.

# 4.1-2 Gender discourse, gendered binary and identity

Gender discourses in relation to women often transmit ideas of "femininity" (see Wright 1992, Foster 1999). "Femininity" is a term that has to be examined within the context of gendered binary. According to Freud, a woman is "feminine" because she is characterized as "dependent on a formal masculinity" and is considered to be "incomplete compared to the men", due to biological difference (Wright 1992:92). Defining women as feminine is a failure to abandon the biological thinking (Robinson 1993, Robinson 1996). This is because femininity is created against the existence of masculinity that is "constructed according to the presence and absence of a single defining term, the very term that designates male superiority: the phallus" (Wright 1992:130). That is, a feminine woman is restricted to the category of "not a male" because she does not have a penis (Wright 1992:130). From that perspective, femininity enforces "a general acceptance of a conceptual split" on women that fits women into the criteria of the female category based on their biological sex, which discriminates them from their male counterparts (Foster 1999:433). Gender discourses that transmit ideas about femininity to women have "remained binary...[and appear] to naturalize the distinction between men and women" (Wright 1992:144). Such typology can only enforce an "essentialism" on women (Butler 2005; Kessler and McKenna 1978), which reinforces the idea that the differences between women and men are not challengeable because

men and women are born to be different and should be treated differently (Hawkesworth 1997, Foster 1999).

Using femininity to determine a woman's identities restricts the concept of identity to a gendered binary. Scholars explain that in many societies individuals are categorized into women and men in terms of the difference of feminine and masculine characteristics that regulate how women and men should think and behave (Cerulo 1997). For example, a woman is defined as "the degree to which [she] sees herself as feminine on the basis of meanings associated with being a woman in society" (see Burke 1991). This raises the issue of a gendered binary.

Femininity is often defined within the framework of a gendered binary in that a woman is seen as universally and naturally constructed and she is expected to embrace socially decided gendered characteristics. Scholars point out that femininity is defined in contrast to masculinity so as to fit into the gendered binary that "is crowded with the over-determinations of male supremacy, invoking in every formulation the limit, contrasting other" (Alcoff 2005:426). "Femininity" within the context of this dualism can be best explained by post-structuralism, which describes that a gendered binary represents an example of binary oppositions that underpin classical Western thinking (Sikka 2008, Butler 2005).

The binary opposition indicates a way of perceiving and analyzing concepts whereby social reality is understood and expressed by "linguistics" (Sikka

2008). The binary thinking is based on Aristotle's axiom. For example, A cannot be "not A". If A is Logos then "not A" is never Logos. It is the absence of presence that is considered inherent in Logos. A woman, if she is perceived as feminine within the context of the linguistics of the binary system, it is because she is lacking any of the attributes of the male, and thus seen as "not a man". Femininity therefore is differentiated from the masculinity of men. An identity within the framework of a gendered binary does not assert the agency of a woman because it categorizes a woman as "not male" and thus she can only be "feminine".

An identity within a gendered binary undermines a woman's agency also because within the framework, a woman is perceived as inferior to a man. Within the framework of a gendered binary, a feminine woman is less likely to be seen as a capable being. The reason for that is because in the binary system, concepts that are divided into two mutually exclusive, opposed, or contradictory binary groups, such as femininity/masculinity, are organized into hierarchical ranks or grades with each level subordinate to the one above. This binary hierarchal system constructs reality within a binary frame, whereby matters are perceived in terms of the power relations of superiority and inferiority (Sikka 2008). It is this hierarchal power relation, according to feminist researchers, that leads to the inferiority of women (Wright 1992:170). Within the frame of a gendered binary, femininity is restrictively defined as inferior or powerless. Women perceived in a gendered power relationship are subjected to the domination of male power (masculinity). Femininity and masculinity as a form of "power", as Foucault

puts it, is a set of (social) 'laws'. This social construction requires women and men to take on feminine and masculine characteristics, because "confronted by a power that is law, the subject who is constituted as subject is he who obeys" (Foucault 1977:85). This view about gender as (social) law points out that research that defines women in terms of femininity within the framework of a gendered binary very often negatively perceives women as subjected to the social control of a patriarchal hierarchy. Women as feminine are perceived as having no choice but obeying the law of gender and are defined in ways against the superiority of masculinity (Cerulo 1997). Under such a dualist definition, a woman who develops a feminine identity has no agency because she can only perceive herself as a powerless female and thus inferior to the male.

So far I have highlighted one point: Simply defining the identities of women in terms of the gender discourses of femininity undermines the possibility that a woman is able to develop identities through the agency of her own thoughts. I reject the concept of a gendered binary and its restrictions to the meanings of femininity, which determines that women are essentially inferior to men because they are contrasted against masculine characteristics. This study thus argues that a woman's identity should not be investigated in terms of femininity within the gendered binary. However, this does not mean that the influences of a gendered binary on women and their identities should be disregarded.

### 4.1-3 Gender discourse as social influence

I will use Judith Butler's (Butler 2005) "gender-as- performative" to explain that this study perceives femininity as a form of social influence. That is, to assert a woman's agency, femininity that represents gender discourses and transmits ideas of what a woman is within the frame of a gendered binary should be seen as a form of social influence instead of as an essential element to her sense of self. Women are not born with the essence of femininity, but rather, are socialized and thus perform as feminine. Butler uses Foucault's concept of body-soul to argue that femininity/masculinity are merely body performances that are socially constructed and therefore should not be treated as essential to individuals' (women's) ways of thinking. Foucault (1977) in his book, *Discipline & Punish, The Birth of the Prison*, illustrates that individuals (defined as comprising body and soul) are malleable by social elements (such as gender discourses) through a set of socially-designed strategies.

Using Foucault's body-soul concept, Butler (Butler 2005) describes that a gendered binary that defines what women and men are in terms of femininity and masculinity is merely "performative". In other words, a gendered binary is a social strategy that drives individuals to "act" either as women or as men within roles that are clearly distinguished and characterized as feminine and masculine.

However, this socialization entails a certain digress of compulsion. To ensure that one's behaviour is under social control, however, "punitive power" is used to make sure that individuals obey specific social rules. For example, in prison, punitive power is used to discipline the condemned men through "a calculated manipulation of its (the body's) elements, its gestures, its behaviour" (Foucault 1977:168). The strategies are developed to discipline the condemned men so as to "compel their bodies to signify the prohibitive laws as their very essence" (Foucault 1977:168). By manipulating the bodies of the condemned men through the construction of gestures and behaviour, the social body is produced to make individuals obey the law, which in turn signifies that the law is "on and through the body". The "subjected and practiced bodies" are thus produced, and are namely the "docile body" (Foucault 1977:168).

By this "docile body", Butler depicts that a gendered binary is only a series of socially manipulated body performances and should not be seen as essential to any individuals (Butler 2005). A gendered binary to individuals, like the "law" to prisoners, is socially made and enforced onto individuals with coercion. The gender law is enforced upon them through the regulating of each individual's body language, from how one dresses, wears make up and hair styles, to one's manner of living, working and speaking (Lucal 1999). Such a regulation of gender is merely "performative" because it stands on no essential ground, but is purposely constructed to ensure the propagation of the binary opposition that expects individuals to act as female or male, feminine or masculine. This gender law, however, comes

with "punitive power". Under the gendered binary, one is obligated to demonstrate the gender or sex of oneself by identifying unambiguously with gender discourses that conform to either femininity or masculinity. But if one violates this "gender law", s(he) is "punished", for example, by being labelled as "deviant" or "abnormal" (Butler 2005; Lucal 1999). Butler's theory that insightfully describes gendered binary as "performative" and socially conducted inspires this study to argue that femininity, although a form of social influence that transmits gender discourses to women, should not be seen as essential to the identity of a woman. It might be true that a gendered binary/gender discourse is a form of social control to ensure that a woman acts in a way that fits into the feminine category that is subservient to the masculinity of men. But femininity entails no respect or consideration for cultural, social and historical factors, but only signifies the control of a gendered binary system through body performances.

The above points depict that femininity as a gender discourse within the framework of a gendered binary serves the purpose of social control and should not be seen as an essential quality of women. In the following paragraphs, I will explain that this study asserts the agency of women through recognizing the influences of a gendered binary on women's identities.

## 4.1-4 Women, gender discourse, and identity

Thus far, this study has explained that femininity should not be seen as essential to a woman's identity. It should not be used to describe what a woman is because it is a social construct that restricts a woman to femininity within the framework of a gendered binary and denies her agency. However, this study is aware that a gendered binary in many societies determines what women should be and thus its influence on women cannot be disregarded. The question then is how to find a way to conceptualize a woman's identity that shows that she is capable of cultivating a sense of self despite being under the influence of a gendered binary.

Foucault offers an ideal depiction that presupposes that one can be freed from the restriction of binary oppositions, such as femininity and masculinity, by escaping (social) elements that enforce any determinants on individuals. Individuals, if embracing any social determinants, can be "enslaved" by their social surroundings and lose their independence from social control. To liberate oneself from a binary restriction, therefore, is to become "independent in its own fortress", meaning to "reject" the influences of any form of social control in order to "rejoin oneself" (Foucault 1984:65). Accordingly, to explore how a woman can "ultimately rejoin herself", that is, define herself in her own way free from the restriction of femininity, a gendered binary as a form of social control that enforces femininity on women has to be "renounced" (Weir 1996). However, rejecting or

renouncing the influence of a gendered binary does not mean that it is to be overlooked or denied.

To assert women's agency, a gendered binary should be seen as a human history "in which we are both subjects of and subjected to social construction" (Alcoff 2005:434). Femininity is not essential to a woman's identity but is "relevant" to her sense of self. This relativity, according to Lauretis (1984), pertains to a woman's "experience". A gendered binary as a social construction represents an outside world, whereas the identity of a woman represents an inner process. A woman develops identity through her interaction with the outside world. This outside world refers to "the cultural discursive context to which she has access" (Alcoff 2005:435) and often builds "gender relations (which are) social relations and, therefore, historically grounded and culturally bound" (Oyewumim 1998:1055). Her experience is "the effect of such interaction" (Lauretis 1984:159) that affects how she develops identities. It is therefore correct to say that women's identities are "produced by her personal, subjective, engagement" through her interactions with the outside world (gendered society). Such inner process asserts a woman's agency because it does not overlook or deny her ability to "lend significance (value, meaning, and affect) to the events of the world" as a subject (Lauretis 1984:159). This subjective experience of a woman rightly inspires this study to treat femininity as not essential to a woman's identity but yet taking into account the influence of a gendered binary, which transmit gender discourses, on women. By treating a gendered binary as an important cultural influence on a woman's identity, a

"particular discursive constellation" (Alcoff 2005:434), which in this study refers to a 21<sup>st</sup> century intricate Taiwanese society, is recognized. In this society, Confucian feminine and masculine gender discourses might still play an important role in affecting how women and men define their family roles. However, the ideals of what women are are "subject to revisions, diversity and fluidity" (Miller 2011:176) depending on recent social, political and economic developments. The "changing cultural and individual variability" (Miller 2011:171) resulting from the social changes should not be ignored, as that reflects how women in 21st century Taiwanese society negotiate Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses to develop their sense of self. By recognizing the changing gender discourses and their influence on women, a woman's capability to "produce her own interpretation and reconstruction", meaning her ability to perceive gender discourses by employing her thoughts in a gendered society is asserted (Alcoff 2005:435).

This study states that "all women can think about, criticize, and alter discourse, and thus (their) subjectivity can be reconstructed", despite the influences of a gendered binary (Alcoff 2005:433). This study expects to understand how an intricate Taiwanese society that transmits Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses shapes the subjective experiences of a working mother and thus her identities. This study will explore the possibility of a Taiwanese working mother developing identities that go beyond the restrictions of the Taiwanese Confucian-based family tradition, which represents a form of gendered binary, by integrating both Confucian

and non-Confucian gender discourses into her sense of self. With this, identity has to be conceptualized in a way that is outside of the binary impasse so that a woman's capability to cultivate subjective experiences can be asserted. In the following section, I will use post-structuralism, a view greatly influenced by Derrida, to explain this point.

# 4.2 The definition of identity

The previous sections have illuminated that in this study, identities are seen as a woman's sense of self that reveals how she relates gender discourses to herself by employing her thought. That is, a woman is not a passive or negative recipient of gender discourses of femininity. This standpoint proposes that women's identities should be explored in a way that avoids conceptualizing women within the context of a gendered binary opposition that restrictively defines women in terms of femininity. The following section will explain how I use the thinking of Derrida to conceptualize the identity of a woman in relation to this proposition.

"De-stabilized and indeterminable thinking" is a key feature of Derrida's work. Loosely called deconstructionism, Derrida argues that one should not take "the authentic reading of a text" for granted, but instead, one should criticize and question what has come to the eyes of the reader so that meanings which fix the frame of binary oppositions, such as femininity/masculinity, can be deferred and disrupted (Sikka 2008:233-234). The thinking behind deconstructing binary oppositions aims to dismantle

the hierarchal power relation of superiority and inferiority by using a method of "reversing and then displacing hierarchical binaries" (Sikka 2008:233). "Revising" is a method that includes questioning how meanings of words determine the way individuals perceive matters and challenge words that construct "social reality" into the form of binary opposition. This deconstructionist thinking is useful for this study because only through problematizing the concept of a gendered identity can the identity of women be defined in a way that deconstructs the frame of femininity, so that women's abilities to reflect on and challenge gender discourses can be asserted. To further explain this, I adopt Derrida's view of "Differance" (Sikka 2008).

I use the concept of "Differance" as coined by Derrida to argue that despite living under the influence of a gendered binary, women should not be defined as passive recipients of gender discourses. For Derrida, "Differance" had two facets.

In the first instance it refers to the dictionary meaning of difference as describing the state or way in which two people or things are not the same or in which something or somebody has changed so as to make it not the same as something else. This meaning of difference asserts that an individual has the ability to free and differentiate her/himself from the restrictions of a binary system. In this sense, identity should be treated as "differential to women" in that women have the capacity to think for themselves, not within a gendered binary, but as free agents in the chain of

possible meanings that lies between the two binaries but never reaches them.

In the second instance, "Difference" becomes "the temporizing detour of deferral" (Sikka 2008:233-234) that makes it possible for difference to take place. That is, instead of defining women as feminine, how women define themselves can be perceived as different depending circumstances. This "deferral", which echoes the theme of "reversing", entails a process of overturning and rearranging hierarchical binaries in order to dismantle the restrictions placed on individuals by a binary system. This process of deferral asserts that one should challenge the socially defined meanings attached to the frame of binary oppositions, so that the hierarchical power relations of especially the one who is in an inferior situation, can be reversed and disrupted. In this sense, women, despite living under the influence of a gendered binary, should be seen as capable persons able to reverse and disrupt the restrictions of hierarchical power relations. That is, one should assert women's capabilities of perceiving the gender discourses of femininity in their own ways, and then challenging the pre-determined meanings of what a woman should be within a gendered binary, thereby developing identities that represent their subjective views about themselves.

The theme of "deferral" that is derived from the concept of "Differance" is useful for this study because it proposes that an individual has the ability to "corrupt any notion of finality or meaningfulness" (Sikka 2008:233-234).

Accordingly, if the meanings of a binary system can be challenged, there is hope that an individual can become aware of and thereby challenge the restriction of gendered binary oppositions. "Differance" can rightly suggest that by asserting women's abilities to question how the gender discourses of femininity affect the way they define themselves, the identities of women become meaningful. This offers a positive way of thinking that proposes that the identities of a woman can be defined in a way that reveals that she is capable of challenging and criticizing gender discourses, so that her identities can show that she can reject their meanings, such as inferiority, which are inscribed on her by living under the influence of a gendered binary.

By "differance", Derrida suggests that to construct meanings of identity, one has to define a woman in a way that shows that she can decide who she is by employing her thoughts and thus reject the gendered binary frame. She is thus able to see herself as distinguished from others (men and other women). However, to differentiate oneself from others and or the binary frame and develop an identity that is true to oneself, an individual has to deconstruct the element of "sameness" that is embodied in the context of identity.

Derrida notes that identity, although indicating a sense of self that distinguishes oneself from others, is only suggesting that the self and the other are similarly constructed as selfless. Take an individual using language as an example. Language is constructed through socially shared

meanings. An individual who speaks the language cannot think independently from the discourse of that language. An individual is thus not a speaking subject who has a free will, but only one who is determined as "a 'function' of language and becomes a (submissive) speaking subject only by making its speech conform to the system of the rules of language..." (Derrida 1982:15). In this sense, identity only represents a deprived self subjected to words and phrases that entail social meanings (Ruthrof 1997). Identity, if being perceived within a binary opposition, contains the meaning of sameness because identity to an individual is like a speaking subject to the language, or one who is merely representing a product of the social control of linguistics (gender). An individual, as the recipients of social control, eventually "shrinks to signifiers" (social institutions) and loses her/his specificity.

Considering identities as universally identical denies the agency of individuals. It suggests that individuals are passively and socially constructed and that "erases any room for manoeuvre by the individuals within a social discourse, or set of institutions" (Alcoff 2005:430). The statement of sameness about identity denies a woman's capability of challenging gender discourses and embracing herself as her own possession. A woman is merely treated as "history's imprint" and therefore her existence in human history is rejected and her chance to become self-determined is deprived (Alcoff 2005).

Like Foucault and Butler, Derrida's thinking about sameness stresses that an individual is a social construct. However, Derrida further proposes that the sameness has to be deconstructed in order to develop an autonomous identity. This offers a solution that suggests that identity can be constructed in a way that renders specificity to individuals (women), but at the same time takes into account the influence of gender discourses on them. Namely, an individual (a woman) can positively develop a sense of self that is not confined to a binary frame.

The concept of "Difference" by the themes of difference and "deferral" explains that the socially constructed binary frame can be deconstructed by recognizing individuals' agency (Ruthrof 1997). Despite living under the influence of a binary frame, individuals still have the capacity to look at the system from the outside and deconstruct it by becoming aware of what has been forced on them by social discourses. Identity, if treated as being passively and socially constructed, does not represent a self that is able to think outside the frame of language. There is no room for a thinking process because the signified (individuals) is prescribed. However, by asserting that a person is able to develop the consciousness of who they want, the restriction of a binary frame is deconstructed. This consciousness in turn indicates that every individual is different. That is, individuals are able to perceive social discourses in their own ways and define the meanings of words or phrases that they feel related to, and because of such a capability, the socially constructed binary frame can be challenged, meaning the status of sameness is deconstructed and thus every individual can be seen as a different being. This identity can then positively perform as a "subjective existence" of oneself in a binary society.

Through such a deconstruction process individuals are able to "reverse" a binary system (Derrida 1982). To "reverse" the socially constructed binary frame is to challenge its hierarchy. If defining identity in this way, one can invite oneself to rejoin her/himself as a "living present" whereby an identity represents an active and capable self that is able to think about her/his role. Through the assertion of this active and capable self, an individual becomes a "determination...within a system which is no longer that of [the] presence [of determinants]...but a system that no longer tolerates the opposition of activity and passivity..." (Derrida 1982:16).

Informed by the concept of "reverse", I argue that to assert a woman's thinking capacity in a gendered society, one has to question the method that defines women in terms of femininity within the framework of a gendered binary. That is, to deconstruct a gendered binary is to lay bare its "unitary concept that contains repressed or negated material" (Sikka 2008:233). Defining the identities of women in terms of femininity within the frame of a gendered binary opposition is to enforce that they can only define themselves as inferior to men and thus are unable to speak for themselves. To "reverse" the socially constructed binary, women should not be defined in terms of femininity that devalues women as universally emotional (incapable), dependent and oppressed or be contrasted against the rationality and assertiveness of the superior male. Women's agency

has to be asserted so that women are not devalued as the same kind of femininity in relation to the superiority of masculinity (Scott 2005: 448). To do so, to explore the "multiplicity" of the identities of women is necessary. The "philosophy of multiplicity" is a deconstructive strategy that can "reverse" the socially constructed binary frame. This "multiplicity" refers to revealing women's subjective experiences within different historical, social and cultural contexts. This is to assert that it is possible for a woman to be a thinking person who can therefore say no to the binary oppositions (Sikka 2008:234) and develop a sense of self from the diverse life experiences that are particular to her. Accordingly, I will explore the possibility of a Taiwanese working mother redeeming from the frame of the Confucian gendered binary by asserting her abilities to challenge the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition in a changing Taiwanese society.

The concept of "reversing", together with the thinking of "Differance" that contains the themes of difference and "deferral" has inspired this study to define a woman's identities as her "self-attributions of who she is". To probe for women's self-attributions of who they are, one should ask the question: "[I]n what specific contexts, among which specific communities of people, and by what textual and social processes has meaning been acquired (within the narrative contexts of women)?" (Scott 2005:447). By looking at the self-attributions of a woman, I am rejecting the methods that restrictively define women within the framework of gendered binary oppositions and categorize women by feminine characteristics. Instead, I am open to the possibilities that women are capable of engaging in a "free play of a

plurality of differences" (Scott 2005:447) that have been cultivated by their diverse life experiences within different cultural contexts. Such identifying processes involve the subjectivity of women perceiving particular gender discourses by following their ways of interpreting issues related to them, their personal tastes and views as such. By exploring the self-attributions of women, this study understands that the identities of women involve their subjective experiences. This definition is used to reveal how women relate to particular gender discourses which are meaningful to them and to their sense of self within different cultural contexts, and that in turn assert their capability to decide who they want to be by taking into account their life experiences.

The definition of identity is developed by deconstructing a gendered binary that "render(s) formally clear ideas ambiguous..." (Sikka 2008:233). I expect to find out whether a Taiwanese working mother is able to 'render' the meanings of the Taiwanese Confucian gendered binary and "reverse" their socially constructed meanings of what a woman should be in 21<sup>st</sup> century Taiwan. I take into account how an intricate Taiwanese society in the 21<sup>st</sup> century, which transmits Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses that contain different and often conflicting ideas about who women are, influences a working Taiwanese mother. By doing so, I recognize and expect to deconstruct the determination of the Confucian-based gendered binary and explore the possibilities of a Taiwanese working mother challenging the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition and developing her own identities. I argue that defining the identity of a

Taiwanese working mother as *her self-attributions of who she is* can verify and unveil the multiplicity of her identities. This study expects to defer and interrupt the "unitary concept" of the Taiwanese Confucian gendered binary. This binary reinforces the meaning of "sameness" that defines Taiwanese women as being inferior to male power and seniority, and devalues them as domesticity-oriented and incapable subjects who submissively conform to womanly moral standards in a male-dominant society. In this way, this study recognizes a Taiwanese working mother's subjective experiences. I assert that she is capable of negotiating Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses, or of integrating non-Confucian gender discourses into her Confucian mindset. The definition of self-attributions also helps to avoid using predetermined Confucian characteristics to categorize a Taiwanese working mother within the framework of Confucian gendered binary.

The approach that I have adopted to define the identities of women is described by Cohen (1994) as an 'inductive' method: "[I]nstead of conceptualizing the self as a replicate in miniature of society, one could begin by paying attention to the ways in which people reflect on themselves, and then see in what ways these reflections are indicative of social and cultural context, or require such contextualization to be intelligible to us' (Cohen 1994:29). By exploring the self-attributions of a married Taiwanese woman I am able to capture her subjective views about herself and how she perceives gender discourses and their influences on her.

# **Conceptual framework:**

## 4.3 The process of women developing identities

In this current section I will illustrate how I define the process of a woman developing her various identities. How women develop identities is related to their perceptions of the outside world (Lauretis 1984). In other words, a woman's subjective experience is related to how she "lends significance" to gender discourses. Her identities, therefore, are related to how she "gives herself a label to signify" her support of gender discourses (Kessler and Mckenna 1978:8). This self-signification indicates that a woman develops identity through relating gender discourses to her sense of self by following her ways of thinking (Kroska 1997). For example, those who identify themselves with idea of gender equality tend to define themselves as feminist women compared to those who do not engage themselves in such self-signification (Blaisure and Allen 1995).

How women develop a sense of self thus can be perceived as a social and inner process that involves "the continuous engagement of self or subject in social reality" (Lauretis 1984 in Alcoff 2005:433). This social and self engagement can be seen as an ongoing and daily construction that influences women's identities (Lauretis 1984). Informed by this perspective, I perceive the process of a woman developing an identity as her taking on gender discourses through her contact with social institutions, which, in this

study, include educational institutions, work places, helping professions, the press and mass media, family and helping professions. Because of the developments in 21<sup>st</sup> century Taiwan, these social institutions play important roles in transmitting gender discourses to working Taiwanese mothers. Through her contact with the social institutions, a Taiwanese working mother embraces gender discourses that she perceives as meaningful or important to her and integrates those into her sense of self. In the following paragraphs, I will explain in detail the important roles social institutions play in enabling women to take on gender discourses.

Educational institutions, especially higher education and employment, are important social institutions that have an impact on women's identities. Through attending courses, obtaining degrees certificates and acquiring job promotions and so on, it is possible that women take on gender discourses, such as the ideas of assertiveness and self-reliance which inspire them to think for themselves (Beck 1992; Beck, Beck-Gernsheim 1995).

Through their contacts with helping professions, for instance, seeking advice from counselling services and reading articles that provide advice on promoting psychological wellbeing, women in general are becoming familiar with gender discourses that transmit ideas such as expressing feelings and sharing thoughts with significant others (see Coltrane 2000; Lin 2005; Christopher and Sprecher 2000).

The press and mass media are also an important social institution because through reading, for example, women are likely to be introduced gender

discourses that deliver ideas of what women should be/want to be. For instance, research suggests that magazines transmit gender discourses that serve as "references" for women to think about who they want to be (Gauntlett 2002). A study looked at how internet users in the West, particularly in the UK and US, identified themselves with gender discourses transmitted through television programmes, films, magazines, web pages, books and newspapers. This cyberspace-based study found that through reading women's magazines, such as Cosmopolitan and Vogue, women related what they read to their sense of who they wanted to be. One of the female interviewees expressed her feelings about empowerment after reading a magazine. She said that she considered the female figures presented in the magazine as her role models and that she would expect herself to be as independent and successful as these women. However, gender discourses transmitted through women's magazines can also serve as sources of 'negative identification' which reminds female readers of the kinds of person with whom they do not want to identify. For instance, in the same study, a female reader reported that she did not want to be as "superficial" as some of the female models presented in the magazine (Gauntlett 2002).

Family is also considered by this study as an important social institution. This is because research evidences that family plays an important role in transmitting ideas about what husbands/wives should be (Cunningham 2001). The survey examined how parenting had an impact on the attitudes of teenage children towards the gender division of domestic labour in the

household. The research result suggests that through observation, young children learn ideas about how couples should share domestic work. For example, children who observe that their parents division of domestic work conforms to masculine gender discourses, such as men being the breadwinner and women being the homemaker, tended to report that they, as men or women, should follow the same pattern when deciding how to share domestic labour with their spouses. The same survey also states that family is important source for introducing gender discourses to women, especially young girls. I therefore consider family as an important social interaction that might transmit gender discourses to women and influence women's identities.

However, it is not to say that these social institutions determine the identities of working Taiwanese mothers. Rather, the above paragraphs suggest that women are capable of perceiving gender discourses by employing their thoughts and developing identities according to their life experiences. This study expects to understand the process of a working Taiwanese mother relating gender discourses to her sense of self through her contact with different social institutions. Through this self-attribution process, she takes on Confucian and/or non-Confucian gender discourses and develops identities that represent her subjective views about who she is.

## 4.4 Summary

I propose that a woman's identities should be investigated by asserting her capacity to perceive gender discourses by employing her thoughts. Informed by post-structuralism, this study presupposes that the methods of defining women in terms of gendered binary oppositions that reinforce feminine characteristics should be rejected. In other words, what women are should not be restrictively defined by femininity within a gendered binary framework. This rejection will allow for the assumptions of inferiority to be deconstructed ("reversed").

However, "reversing" a gendered binary is not a reversal between femininity and masculinity that makes femininity become superior, but is a refusal to categorize women by clearly defined contrasting feminine and masculine characteristics. Defining women as universally feminine and against a universal masculinity within a gendered binary opposition can only lead to defining women as dependent, deficient and domesticity-oriented as opposed to the assertiveness and bread-winner status of a masculinity that implies the superiority of the male (masculinity). Within the gendered binary framework, a woman is devalued because in a hierarchal power structure, she has no choice but to see herself as a negative and passive powerless subject who conforms to the category of femininity in opposition to male superiority.

This study is aware that a woman's sense of self should not be disassociated from the influences of a gendered binary. Nevertheless, I assert that a woman's identities can be verified or unveiled only when her capabilities to perceive gender discourses are recognized. I argue that the social determinism of femininity and masculinity has to be disrupted by placing the focus on the diverse subjective experiences of women. To reverse the binary is to recognize and look into women's abilities to integrate diverse life experiences into a sense of self and form identities that reflect on the influences of social, historical and cultural factors upon them. Accordingly, I expect to find out the possibilities of a woman committing herself to a thinking process and defining a sense of self that reflects on how she makes sense of her life experiences.

Regarding the process of women developing identities, I have discussed how women develop identities that involve the process of them interacting with social institutions, including educational institutions, the work place, helping professions, the press and mass media and the family. These institutions might transmit different gender discourses to them. Developing identities is defined as a process of a woman engaging in self-attributions that reveals how an educated and employed married Taiwanese woman, who lives in an intricate society, incorporates Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses into her sense of self.

In the following chapter, I will explain the research methods that are employed by this study to capture a woman's subjective experiences in

Chapter Four Theoretical Perspective and Conceptual Framework

order to explore how a Taiwanese working mother takes on gender discourses and develops her identities.

# CHAPTER FIVE RESEARCH DESIGN

# 5.1 An overview of research design

The research design explains how the research strategy and methods are used to explore two research aims: (1) How does a Taiwanese working mother perceives her family roles? (2) How do gender discourses influence a Taiwanese working mother's identities? I will then explain how this study analyzes and presents its findings. Finally, validity, reliability and ethical issues will be discussed.

# 5.2 Case study as a research strategy

A case study is used as a research strategy to explore the research aims of this study. Case study strategy is often used as an "empirical inquiry" (Yin 2003:12) that "calls for an in-depth examination" (Mctavish and Loether 2002:195) and aims to explore "a contemporary phenomenon within some real-life context" (Yin 2003:1) with the guidance of pre-developed theories or propositions (Yin 2003). The "contemporary" in this study entails "the process of change" (Mctavish and Loether 2002:195) from the 1980s in Taiwan until the present. The "phenomenon" in this study refers to a woman's self-attributions as to how she makes sense of the world that involves the process of her integrating subjective experiences into her sense of self. The "real life context" in relation to a woman's identities refers

in this study to how a woman views her family life experiences and identities. However, this study expects to understand her subjective views about her family roles and identities rather than focusing on a reconstruction of the "factual process" or proving objective truth or fact (Flick 2006:332). That is, the aim of using the case study strategy is to gain "an insight story" (Mctavish and Loether 2002:184) that reveals how a woman in 21<sup>st</sup> century Taiwanese society perceives her family roles and makes sense of the influence of political, economic and social developments on her.

Case study strategy is appropriate for this study for three reasons. Firstly, this study is an exploratory study that is aimed at testing my propositions which argue that it is possible for an educated and employed Taiwanese woman to develop identities that do not necessarily conform to the restrictions of a gendered binary. This study expects to understand how she perceives gender discourses by imposing her own thoughts. A case study is a suitable strategy because it is "generalizable to theoretical propositions" (Yin 2003:10; Yegidis and Weinbach 1996) or because it produces results against a "conceptual critique" (Mctavish and Loether 2002:184) in which "a previously developed theory is used as a template with which to compare the empirical results of the case study" (Yin 2003:32). That is to say, through the "interaction" of my propositions, which assert a woman's capability, and empirical findings, which show how a woman perceives family roles and develops identities, I am able to test and refine my theoretical framework (Ragin and Becker 1992:10).

Secondly, the case study is suitable because a Taiwanese woman's perceptions and identities are treated as a contemporary phenomenon. This study focuses on how a woman negotiates different gender discourses that represent the influences of an intricate Taiwanese society in the 21st century that has resulted from dramatic political, economic and social developments since the 1980s.

Thirdly, this study explores perceptions and identities by understanding a woman's subjective experience which is related to a "real-life context". I value her own accounts of her life stories because this reveals her sense of who she is and investigates how she perceives her family roles and develops identities by asserting her agency.

By adopting the case study strategy, in the following section I will first explain how I selected an interviewee.

# 5.3 The sample and population

This study purposely selected an individual case as my research sample. There are three reasons for this. Firstly, a woman's perceptions of her family roles and identities represent rich data because they entail a "broad area of social life" (Berg 2007:286). By focusing on one woman's stories, I am able to understand in depth her life experience comprehensively since "all aspects of an individual's social life are interconnected and often one of

them cannot be adequately understood without consideration of the others" (Berg 2007:287). Secondly, this single case is treated as a "critical case" who was carefully chosen to test "whether a theory's propositions are correct or some alternative set of explanations might be more relevant" (Yin 2003:40) to the "particular times and conditions" (Ragin and Becker 1992:122). This is an exploratory study aiming to test my propositions that an educated working mother is capable of challenging the Confucian gender binary and integrating gender discourses which she identifies with into her sense of self. I expect this individual case to "present a significant contribution to knowledge", or "refocus future investigations" (Yin 2003:40) and become a foundation of further studies.

Thirdly, this exploratory study does not intend to cover a representative sample of the population. In the majority of similar studies, in order to gain rich and in-depth data that covered narratives exhaustively, the size of sample in general was small (see Li Yuan-hui and Li Jing Ping 1999, Song Jin-shiu 2000, Caplan 1997). To the extreme, some only focused on one woman's stories. For example, literature sponsored by the Taiwanese government entitled *The Peacock of the North Wall Mansion: Grandma Liu's Story*, documented the life-story of one old lady and comprehensively recorded how a woman's life was influenced by dramatic social, political and economic changes of systems between 1904 and 1997 (Li Yuan-hui and Li Jing Ping 1999). An oral history, published by women's groups entitled *Married Women's Life of Tai-Zhong During the Colonization by Japan*, interviewed ten old ladies to explore how they experienced poverty

and hardship in their family life as a result of political changes (Song Jinshiu 2000). Despite the small sample, by probing into the diverse stories of each interviewee, the above two studies revealed women's subjective views about their family lives during previous historical eras. For the same reason, considering the time constraints, research budget and the fact that life-story interviews are likely to contain great amounts of "contextual material" (Flick 2006:180), a single case was selected to conduct my case study.

Purposive sampling was used to select my interviewee. The reason for this method is because I "identify particular types of cases for in-depth investigation" (Newman and Kreuger 2003:211). That is, instead of generalization, this study specifically sets out to gain insight into the life experience of an educated working mother in the Taiwanese society. I am in particular interested in how she negotiates different gender discourses. This makes it important to select a woman who has opportunities to interact with different social institutions that deliver both Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses.

However, there is no clear way to identify women who meet my research criteria. Some previous research on Taiwanese women identified their target samples through institutes or support groups (Hsiung Ping-chun 1996). However, a similar institute that targets educated working mothers is not available in Taiwan. I recognized that the interviewee should be willing to reveal her thoughts and feelings; she would need to build a trustful

relationship with me as an interviewer. Although there is extensive literature on women's life stories in Taiwan, many aspects of intimate family relationships, such as marital sex, are likely to be considered by many Taiwanese women as sensitive subjects. However, culturally it is more likely to build a trusting relationship if one is introduced through their friends, relatives or other acquaintances. For this reason, I presumed that I would be able to find a potential interviewee to take part in the case study if the primary contact had any connection with the interviewee through a friend or an organization.

One last point that I want to address regarding sample selection is that I expect to select a woman who identifies herself with the research purpose. Scholars have suggested that interviewees who agree to be involved in research should be considered as doing the interviewers a favour (Plummer 2001). However, I argue that interviewees who participate in interviews without any knowledge of the purpose of research or familiarizing themselves with the research questions, might not be motivated to finish the interview sessions. This is especially true considering that a case study demands personal commitments of time and energy. For my study, I am aware that a working mother is likely to have to juggle jobs and family responsibilities. Intensive interview sessions that take up extra time and energy might further distress her. The interviewee's understanding of my research question therefore is important. I expect that she would be able to commit to the interview sessions if she were familiar or agreed with the research purpose (Neuman and Kreuger 2003).

This case study targets sn educated working mother. A Woman with dependents is another important inclusion criterion for the sample population. The reason for that is because looking after young children intensifies a woman's responsibility for domestic work and childcare and that has an impact on how she defines herself as a mother and wife. I further set a criterion for urban women. In the case of Taiwanese society, an urban woman is more likely to be introduced to non-Confucian gender discourses than a woman who lives in the rural areas. In cities like Taipei, social institutions that transmit non-Confucian gender discourses are more numerous than in rural areas in general. For example, in Taiwan, the number of women's social welfare institutions doubled in size between 1996 and 2000 and a majority of them were established in Taipei and other urban areas (DGBAS 2002b). Taiwanese women living or working in urban areas might be likely to gain access to non-Confucian gender discourses through their frequent contact with these social institutions. However, age is not considered as a criterion for sampling. Limited research shows that age plays little if any role in deciding how a woman takes on gender discourses and develops identities.

I was introduced to a few working mothers through friends and formal colleagues. I met Helen through my contact with a women's self-help group. This one particular interviewee was selected because she met my sample selection criteria of a Taiwanese married woman who lives in Taipei (the capital of Taiwan), has young children, is employed and educated, and

has experiences of interacting with different social institutions. When the interviews took place, Helen was working full time as a manager in a business company and was studying for a Masters degree at a university. Formal colleagues introduced her to me and through my contact with this women's self-help group I knew that she used to be employed as a manager in the same organization. Before the interviews, I had a meeting with her explaining the nature of a case study and made sure she understood that the project required a few interviews that might take up quite a bit of time. Helen understood that this study was set up to explore how she perceived and defined her family roles as a wife, mother and daughter-in-law. She felt that my research was interesting and meaningful to her and that she would like to take the opportunity to review her life through storytelling as part of an interview process.

In the following section, I explain that this study treats story contexts as a woman's "narrative".

#### **5.4 Narratives**

The reason why I treat interview data as narrative is because narratives "encourage storytelling of particular topics...relate[d] to difficult circumstances or issues closely connected with a person's sense of identity and self-worth" (Earthy and Cronin 2008:429). Treating stories as narratives therefore enables this study to understand the developments of politics, economics and society in 21st century Taiwanese society and its

influences on my interviewee. However, I treated the data as "more than statements and reported fact" (Flick 2006:179). I perceived the data as "the reconstructs of internal logic of process" (Flick 2006:179) that revealed the inner process of a woman's self-attributions on how she perceived and defined her sense of herself.

Treating interview data as narrative fits in with my research strategy that examines the life experience of one woman. A woman's self-attributions are a form of "narrative" which entails the thinking process behind the perceptions of her life experiences, and thus can be treated as the database for a case study (Yin 2003). Narratives can be seen as "stories (that) circulate culturally" and that signify cultural meanings embedded in individual's stories (Lawler 2002:242). Yet they also entail how individuals "construct and express meanings...in their own voice" (Mishler 1986:67). Narratives are often used as important data in historical research as they contain stories about life experiences of individuals of a certain period and how these individuals construct meaning through their experiences (Marshall and Rossman 2006). Narratives often entail both past and present life experiences systematically and coherently. The reason for that is because present events and meanings "have their origins in earlier times" (Yegidis and Weinbach 1996:142) and what happened in the past often has an influence on the present or are connected to the present (Berg 2007:265). Narrative therefore is especially useful for this case study for three reasons.

Firstly, narratives are considered as personal life stories connected with social and historical events that help to understand the private life of individuals within particular cultural settings (Osmond and Thorne 1993). The focus of cultural factors and their relationship to life stories helps to reveal how Helen's family life experiences and identities are related to Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses in an intricate Taiwanese society in the 21<sup>st</sup> century.

Secondly, narratives contain "biographical experiences" (Flick 2006:23) that reveals individuals' subjective experiences in a "comprehensive way" (Flick 2006:172). The reason for that is because narratives "provide background details and relationships necessary for understanding the story" and they reveal information in-depth about every aspect of life and their meanings to particular individuals (Flick 2006:175). Narratives thus help to probe Helen's life experiences more broadly and more comprehensively reveals the details of how a Taiwanese working mother embraces varied gender discourses through self-attributions at different life cycles and builds up her identities of the present time.

Thirdly, narrative that is seen as constructed by "plot", a concept informed by Paul Ricoeur and refined by Lawler (Lawler 2002:245), is useful for this case study. A plot contains time and event which are important elements in narratives. The element of time constructs narratives in a way that builds up storylines and thus reveals one's present and past life experiences. Plot also contains events that are sequential in one's life experiences because

earlier events might contribute to the later ones, even though they might appear to be disparate events (Lawler 2002:245). By treating Helen's stories as narratives, I probe into her life experiences in terms of time and event and understand how she embraced particular gender discourses during particular time periods, such as her childhood, employment and marital life. The plot helps understand how Helen progressed and developed her current identities which are interwoven with her present and past life experiences.

The following sections illuminate how this study adopts narrative interviews as the major method to probe Helen's narratives.

#### **5.4-1 Narrative interview**

This study sets out to understand how a Taiwanese working mother develops her sense of self and sheds light on the influence of a variety of gender discourses (Confucian and non-Confucian ones) on her perceptions and identities. The perceptions and identities of a Taiwanese working mother are considered by this study to be her subjective experience of living in a changing Taiwanese Confucian-based society in the 21<sup>st</sup> century. The methods used to explore the perceptions and identities, therefore, have to be able to probe for the narratives that reveal her subjectivity.

Narrative interviews were adopted as the primary data collection method because "the theoretical background of studies using narrative interviews is

mainly the analysis of subjective views and activities (Flick 2006: 179). I therefore used narrative interviews to probe for Helen's stories in order to understand how she embraced different gender discourses through her interactions with social institutions during different time periods over the years. I aim to capture Helen's subjective views in order to understand how she perceived her family roles and developed her identities in her own words.

#### 5.4-2 How to conduct a narrative interview?

The length of the interviews

Narrative interviews in general require between two and six sessions and each interview takes about one to one-and-a-half hours (Neuman and Kreuger 2003). However, interviews that gather stories about life experiences can take longer, from more than ten hours in length to a few years, depending on the actual research design (Song Jin-shiu 2000, Plummer 2001). For my interviews, I explained to Helen that it might take quite a bit of her time and energy to reveal her past and present life experiences. Time needs to be given for her to recall memories, construct meanings of life and clarify her thoughts and feelings. The reasons why I expect to have several interviewing sessions is because it takes time to build a "trust and rapport relationship that is less distressing with a sense of continuity" (Earthy and Cronin 2008:431). The interviews allow the interviewer and the interviewee some time to "reflect and clarify...and explore stories in great depth in a subsequent conversation" (Earthy and

Cronin 2008:431). The estimated interview length for my research design is three to four sessions, with the estimated time to be around two to three hours. However, I explained to Helen that we should discuss the interview length by taking into account her circumstances, including her family responsibilities and working schedules.

Helen agreed that a two-hour interview for each meeting would be suitable during office hours but that she might be able to spend more time if we had interviews at the weekends.

We decided to have four meetings, either at her office or her house. The interviews took 12 hours in total. On average each session lasted between 2 and 2.5 hours when they took place at her office, with the last interview, conducted at her house on a weekend, lasting 4 hours. We finished the interviews when both of us felt that the significant stories had been told, the important information captured and the key issues clarified. When interviewees start to repeat themselves and the interview data becomes coherent, interviews should come to the end (Plummer 2001).

## The "agency" of interviewee

When conducting narrative interviews this study is open to stories that are not originally set out to be explored. That is to say, this study allows for "contingencies or forkings" instead of imposing predetermined categories on data or treating data as variables for "simple rational calculation" (Ragin and Becker 1992:62). The above statements highlight my point about a

woman's agency in the preceding chapter which stresses that the interviewee should not be treated as a passive informant who submissively waits for questions and gives answers. Rather, she should be seen as a capable being able to spontaneously respond to questions and raise issues that are of concern to her, and decide what stories to tell (Holstein and Gubrium 1995). To achieve this, researchers should develop rapport research relationships that are able to encourage their interviewees to tell personal stories (Olesen 2000). In the interviews, therefore, I cultivated a friendly research relationship in a non-judgemental manner with my interviewee, Helen, in order to create an open interviewing atmosphere that encouraged Helen to tell her stories in her own words. It is right to create a trusting and supportive interviewing atmosphere so that interviewees feel free to openly and exclusively speak for themselves and thus tell their stories (Holstein and Gubrium 1995, Plummer 2001).

However, how to build an interview research relationship that is good enough for the researcher and the interviewee to enjoy a reciprocal interview partnership has generated some debate among scholars. It is worth going through the debates as they provide insightful information on what inspired me to build my interview relationship with my interviewee.

What is an "appropriate" interview relationship?

In general, building an "informal" interview relationship with interviewees, or building a rapport with them, is considered important by scholars, especially with interviews that demand a few sessions with each interviewer (see Plummer 2001, Oakley 1981, Hsiung Ping-chun 1996). However, what is of concern to me is how to cultivate an "informal" research relationship.

Some argue that making friends with interviewees helps to build a trusting research relationship that encourages the interviewees to narrate their life experiences. A close friendship involves researchers and interviewees reciprocally sharing thoughts and feelings about their private personal lives (Oakley 1981). However, scholars have argued that a friendship that intensifies interview partnerships could result in mistrust and generate a power struggle, which makes it difficult to cultivate a friendly and harmonious research relationship (Kirsch 1999). The reason for that is because the two parties might emotionally expect feedback from each other at a personal level and that could result in feeling vulnerable to misunderstandings and negative feelings. However, what concerns this study even more is that a friendship makes it difficult for interviewers to negotiate a balance between performing as a researcher and a 'friend'. Ideally interviewers should be able to avoid feeling dislike and hostility towards interviewees in order to smooth the interviews (Plummer 2001). I argue that making friends with interviewees might have a negative impact on the interviewing outcome. There are two reasons for this. First of all: Interviewers might express personal opinions about certain issues which might be seen as being opposed to the views of their interviewees, and consequently this might intensify the interview atmosphere and thus affect the storytelling. In addition, interviewers might find it difficult to shift roles between being a researcher and a friend with their interviewees and as a

result, discourage the interviewees from expressing their true feelings or giving opinions. Unfortunately, limited research has looked into this issue.

In my interviews, I was aware that a close friendship between my role as an interviewer and Helen might confuse our research relationship and have a negative impact on the interviews. But I intended to build a friendly research relationship with Helen by encouraging her to tell stories in her own words and listening to her stories in a non-judgemental manner. Scholars suggest that when sharing personal information, interviewers should be aware that their own values and judgments might influence interviewees and thus it is important to clarify any concerns with the interviewees (Olesen 2000). In my interviews, I shared my feelings and expressed my thoughts with Helen when she asked for my feedback, but reminded her that her feelings and opinions were valuable and that my feedback should not affect her views about her own life experiences.

What I found useful are scholars' views that suggest that in-depth interviews should be "fluid" (Yin 2003: 89). That is, interviewers should not rigidly pre-determine how to conduct interviews, such as setting up an order of questions. Interviewees who might come from different personal, historical, social and cultural backgrounds may have preferences and specific requests regarding how to interact with interviewers. Scholars have rightly suggested that interviewers should be ready to talk sincerely and discuss openly with interviewees in order to find suitable ways for both parties to conduct interviews (Plummer 2001, Oakley 1981). Conducting in-

depth interviews is a dynamic and creative process and subjects that should be discussed in interviews cannot be strictly pre-defined (Holstein and Gubrium 1995, Plummer 2001). Accordingly being "fluid" means that it is important to be a good listener and show a curiosity and an interest in the stories. The flexibility also includes carefully explaining the interview process and discussing with interviewees how I plan to conduct the interviews (Plummer 2001, Oakley 1981, Hsiung Ping-chun 1996). I found that the suggestion for employing flexibility useful for conducting my interviews because by allowing a personal space for Helen to express her feelings and opinions, I created a friendly interview relationship that encouraged her to express herself and tell stories in her own words. For example, I clarified with Helen what her ideas of giving interviews were. She expressed that she would like to take the opportunity to review her life and therefore would be happy to spend a few hours telling stories.

### The construction of interviews: Three stages

Either semi- or unstructured interviews were adopted depending on the stage of the interview process. The interviews involved probing into stories about what had happened in the interviewee's life and how she perceived those events. Considering the change of interviewing atmosphere in each meeting with Helen during the course of interviews, I divided my interviews with Helen into three stages. These include what I described as the "honeymoon stage", the "conflict stage" and the "harmony stage" interview. Throughout the three stages of interviews, I adopted some helping (counselling) skills that helped probe into Helen's stories. The first and

second meetings together formed the "honeymoon stage". During this stage, my aim was to warm up the interview atmosphere and build a friendly relationship with Helen. With this, skills such as "relationship building" were used in order to build a warm and trusting interview relationship. This included showing "respect, genuineness, empathy, and empowerment" (Egan 2002:140,142), "attention giving" and "listening" (Seden 2005:45). These skills helped me create a supportive interview atmosphere that won the trust of Helen and that in turn encouraged her to tell stories.

The purpose of the interviews during this stage was to gain background knowledge of Helen, for example, to understand her family tree, topics that were considered by her as important and subjects that she felt it was easy to start with. During the "honeymoon stage", interviews were unstructured. The interviews started with a few general questions that encouraged Helen to open up with the "minimized influence of the interviewer" (Earthy and Cronin 2008:431). At this stage, my aim was to "provide the interviewee with the scope to tell her stories...[and] generative narrative questions [were] used to stimulate the production of a narrative" (Flick 2006:179). That is to say, I asked "how" questions that cover "generative questions broadly but at the same time sufficiently specifically for the interesting experiential domain to be taken up as a central theme" (Flick 2006:173). Despite being unstructured, I developed questions from each interview and discussed them with Helen at the end of the interview or in the next interview session. This was used to prompt Helen to go though important stories in detail or help Helen recall her memories of events that otherwise were not mentioned or recalled (Neuman and Kreuger 2003, Song Jin-shiu 2000). Those generative narrative interview questions provide information about topics and specific areas that should be followed up or discussed at a later stage of the interview process (Plummer 2001).

As the interviews went on, the interview relationship moved on to what I described as a "conflict-stage". Drawing on the work of Flick (2006), this is a "question period" where "why" questions were asked to glean explanations and clarifications (Flick 2006:173). By this stage, Helen was becoming enthusiastic in her storytelling and was eager to express her views about events and people that were close to her heart. However, I found that I had lots of discussion with Helen about some specific issues. For example, Helen was not sure about the way that I described the women's organization where she used to work. With this, using some counselling skills such as "understanding defences" was useful. Defensiveness, such as feeling upset or angry, is used by individuals to "avoid discomfort, anxiety or threat". When interviewees become defensive, it is important for interviewers to stay calm in order to show understanding and acceptance to interviewees in order to lower their defence (Seden 2005:47-48). Other skills, such as "Immediacy", meaning being able to reflect on what I observed in the situation, was also useful for easing the tension. This skill includes elements such as "competent basic listening...a willingness to be open and genuine, framing the words honestly in a calm way" (Seden 2005:48). By explaining to Helen my understanding of her

stories in a calm and sincere manner and sharing with Helen my thoughts about the nature of our disagreements, Helen was able to understand that I valued her opinions and appreciated her thinking and the tension was thus eased.

During the "conflict-stage", semi-structured interviews were adopted. As the interviews continued, Helen revealed more key words and significant information, but the discrepancies and confusing figures in the interview data also increased. However, going back and forth between stories and clarifying the discrepancies and confusing figures helped develop coherent story lines.

When the interviews entered what I describe as a "harmony-stage", my interviewee and I were heading towards the end of interviews. During this stage, interview questions are "direct" and the interviewer "takes the lead and asks prepared questions based on the emerging analysis" (Earthy and Cronin 2008:431). A friendly interview relationship had been formed and the relaxing and trusting interview atmosphere by this stage enabled me to probe more deeply into intimate questions such as marital sex. At the same time, Helen was more ready by this stage to discuss these issues and reveal her feelings in depth.

This "harmony-stage" can also be a "question period" where lots of "why" questions are asked in order to explain and clarify unclear issues (Flick 2006:173). I ensured that important information was exhaustively

investigated. I noted down any unclear or confusing information after each interview so that further questions could be developed to clarify any issues during the following interview. Helping skills such as clarification, or helping interviewees to "spell out...concrete details" (Egan 2002:140) were used in order to bring out important themes and resolve inconsistencies in stories (Egan 2002). Despite adopting semi-structured interviews, I made sure that Helen continued to have control of the storytelling. This included developing open-ended questions, encouraging Helen to develop her own topics and being flexible with the question sequences.

As a whole, the main point of adopting semi- or unstructured interviews was to ensure flexibility in the storytelling process in order to capture the narrative context that Helen revealed of her subjective life experience. I started with "how" questions and then on to "why" questions in order to effectively probe her narratives throughout the interviewing process. Throughout the three stages of interviews, helping skills such as "relationship building", "understanding defences", "Immediacy" and "clarification", were used in order to probe the data in depth, develop coherent story lines, encourage open discussions and reduce conflicts in interviews.

#### Diary keeping

I kept diary after each interview and that helped me to clarify data and thus improve the validity of my research. Any verbal responses or body language that might help to explain unclear information about topics or

issues were noted down. Any communication with Helen that might have had an impact on the conduct of the interviews were also recorded. In addition, "signs of confusion, contradiction, ambiguity and reluctance" in the interviewing process are worth recording. The "problematic" message often reveals important information about interviewees' life experiences that deserve great attention (Holstein and Gubrium 1995: 79). I have quoted the following passage from my diary as evidence of my noting down information, for example, of confusing statements that required clarification that helped me to reflect on and examine the interview context and enabled me to develop further interview questions for the next session:

My diary: The second interview meeting on 28/04/06 12:30-14:30 in Helen's office

In the previous interview, I spent some time discussing with Helen how to describe the women's organization, the place where Helen has been working for some years. Initially, Helen did not like the fact that I used "the women's movement" to describe it. For the next interview, I should clarify with Helen how she sees the women's organization...In the previous interview Helen told me that people, including me, tend to use the terms "the women's movement" and "counselling" to address this women's organization. I need to know how Helen views her interaction with the women's organization and its influences on Helen's family roles. I am aware that there is some literature in Taiwan suggesting that this particular women's organization has contributed to the women's movement in terms

Chapter Five Research Design

of women's legal rights, for example. But with the interviews with Helen,

what is more important is to probe into Helen's subjective experience.

The above quotation shows that my diary was as an important tool that

enabled me to reflect on the discussions from a previous interview session.

The diary served the purpose of a reminder so that I was able to note down

unclear information that required further clarification. I then developed

interview questions for the next section that enabled Helen to express her

views about the women's organization.

The diary can also be used as a "what-to-do list" for later interview sessions

(Holstein and Gubrium 1995). I quote the following passage to show how I

used my diary to note down questions for further discussions:

My diary: The second meeting on 28/04/06 12:30-14:30 in Helen's office

Helen called me in the evening the day before the interview saying that she

had an unexpected meeting on the next day in the morning... I arrived by

12:00. Helen was late. A girl from her office made me a cup of tea and gave

me some cookies... Helen later on told me that this girl was the girlfriend of

one of the workers in that women's organization. Helen also mentioned that

"lesbian stuff" is still not a very open issue in Taiwan. When Helen

mentioned it, however, it seemed to me it was nothing strange to her. Helen

has worked for the women's organization for many years and that might

have changed her attitudes towards women's family roles and

126

Confucianism that tends to use womanly moral standards to judge Taiwanese women. I will discuss those with Helen in our next interview meeting.

The above quotation shows how I used my diary to note down my reflections and develop research questions for the next interview. My conversation with the girl, although it did not seem to be relevant to Helen's identities, inspired me to ask interviewing questions that revealed how Helen's interactions with certain social institutions influenced her views about family roles and Confucian womanly moral standards.

## 5.5 Data analysis

The case study strategy is aimed at discovering my interviewee's characteristic ways of perceiving and thinking of herself. When analyzing narrative data, therefore, it is important to focus on the "coherence of the progress of narratives" (Lawler 2002:245). There are two reasons for that. First, the goal of narrative analysis is to "focus on the notion of trustworthiness" (Earthy and Cronin 2008: 483). That is, I aimed to find coherent and understandable storylines that can reveal how my interviewee makes sense of the world in a consistent manner. Narratives that contain the elements of time and event involve their past and present life experiences. Events happening during different time periods often influence their perceptions in different ways. However, there nevertheless is "one story" that reveals that an interviewee perceives those experiences in

particular ways (Lawler 2002:245). Accordingly, when analyzing Helen's narratives my aim was to find consistent and characteristic storylines that capture Helen's subjective views about events and people related to her perceptions and identities, as narratives become meaningful only when the plot, or storyline, becomes coherent and understandable (Lawler 2002).

Second, coherent data helps to test for "analytical generalization" (Yin 2003:37) or "particular discourses or theoretical frameworks" (Earthy and Cronin 2008:483). That is, my data analysis is aimed at "generalizing a particular set of results to some broader theory" (Yin 2003:37) that is predeveloped and that can be compared with the empirical results (Yin 2003; Ragin and Becker 1992). Here, "theory" refers to my proposition that a 21st century Taiwanese working mother is able to challenge the Confucian gendered binary because she lives in an intricate Taiwanese society. Coherent data provides evidence that shows her characteristic ways of perceiving and thinking and that in turn helps this study to examine my proposition. In other words, the purpose of analysing narratives in my case study is to "develop typological or biographical courses as an intermediate step on the way to theory building" (Flick 2006:180).

Interview data were fully transcribed in order to comprehensively present the narratives. After transcription, the data were analyzed through open coding, that is, putting together similar words, phrases and terms to form concepts and develop categories (Ryan and Bernard 2000). This was done with the help of the computer programme *NVivo*. The analysis theory of

open coding was originally developed from content analysis, which involves conceptualizing and categorizing informative data abstracted from transcripts (Bryman 2001). With the help of the NVivo programme, I was able to develop diagrams that showed relationships between different codings. As the data coding was completed and the stories were refined and categorized, all data were then compared in order to generate coherent storylines that showed how she perceived her family roles and developed identities. For example, I categorized stories in terms of the four dimensions: domestic work and childcare, oral communication, marital sex and looking after in-laws. Within each dimension, stories were divided into different sections by subject, including the identities of wife, mother and inlaw. Important themes were developed within different dimensions and sections. I then compared these themes to find characteristic features that show how Helen perceives and defines her family roles as a wife, mother and daughter-in-law. However, as a result of the analysis, I found extra stories that originally were not included in the four dimensions and family role identities that were considered important in Helen's narratives.

The primary (unedited) transcripts were kept in a file separate from the 'editing' file. This editing file was used for conceptualizing and categorizing interview data as the analysis continued. The unedited data remained important because they contained original and rich material. When analyzing data, I often checked the original data file in order to fully comprehend Helen's stories within her contexts. In the editing file, data were changed around, cut and pasted constantly until the process of data

analysis was completed. In addition, I checked my diary to find useful evidence that showed how interviews were conducted and my reflection of how I interacted with my interviewee and how that influenced story telling. This helps to improve research validity (Plummer 2001).

### 5.6 Data presentation

In order to reveal Helen's subjective experiences authentically, important interview conversations were quoted in order to faithfully present stories in her own words (Holstein and Gubrium 1995).

This case study considers the conducting interviews as a meaning-making process that is influenced by the interaction between researchers and interviewers. For that reason, in the results chapter, I present information that shows how important issues were discussed to clarify certain words or phrases or stories.

Considering the ethic of confidentiality, Helen's stories are presented under a pseudonym. In order to further protect Helen's identity, her personal details and the context of some stories have been changed to ensure that Helen cannot identified by her acquaintances (Finch and Mason 1993). Some have further argued that if stories contain some extraordinary life events that are highly identifiable, details of these events or people involved should also be changed in order to protect interviewees from being recognized through these details (Plummer 2001). In view of this, I

removed the name of the women's self-help group and counselling organization for in which Helen was involved from the stories. This is to prevent Helen from being identified through association with these organizations.

Regarding the research outcome, apart from presenting stories relating to the four dimensions and family role identities, I also presented data that contained information about other dimensions and identities that originally were not set out to be investigated but were mentioned in Helen's stories and were considered by her as important life experiences.

## 5.7 Issues of validity and reliability

Regarding validity in general, I expect my data to capture the subjective views of my interviewee. Whether her perceptions and identities are fully captured and revealed, therefore, is my main concern. To achieve that, this study has adopted semi- and unstructured interviews to investigate in-depth my interviewee's past and present life experiences. The open-ended interview methods create a flexible and relaxing interview atmosphere that helps to prompt her to exclusively and openly tell life stories in her own words. The open-ended questions, friendliness and the flexibility improve research validity because they enable my interviewee to exclusively express her opinions about (sensitive) issues. My interview approach allows me to clarify with my interviewee any unclear and confusing information (Holstein and Gubrium 1995, Silverman 2005, Plummer 2001)

and that further ensures the validity of the research. For example, I was aware that my interviewee had strong feelings about the women's self-help group where I used to take part in their social events. To promote the validity, therefore, it is important to avoid imposing my views on her perspectives about this particular organization. In the finding chapters, I have quoted conversations that show how unclear and confusing information and disagreements were clarified and discussed with my interviewee in relation to this women's self-help group.

This case study is aimed at exploring my interviewee's narratives that show her characteristic ways of perceiving her family roles, as well as achieving "analytical generalization", meaning that I examine the data within the predeveloped theoretical framework. The issues of validity therefore include "internal" and "external" validity. An "internal validity" refers to "pattern matching" that shows that patterns across different variables "coincide". For example, the data shows that the interviewee perceives her family roles that are consistent in manner with the issues of domestic work. Her characteristic ways of expressing herself provide evidence that shows that the research findings achieve internal validity (Yin 2003:116). "External validity" is related to "analytical generalization" (Yin 2003:37). To accomplish that, this study compared the case results with the predeveloped theoretical framework. I found that this particular case generalized a conclusion that testified my propositions. The external validity of the research is important for this study since this particular case is

treated as a pilot study to evidence that it is worthwhile conducting a multiple-case study in the future.

Regarding reliability, taking advantage of the long-term interview relationship, I prompted the interviewee to tell stories about similar subjects from different angles at different stages of the interviewing process and that promotes reliability. The effort allows the researcher to examine data and resolve discrepancies in the stories (Silverman 2005). In addition, how the interviews were conducted was discussed in the findings and that also helps to improve the research reliability (Gorard and Taylor 2004; Yin 2003).

In the following section, I will discuss four ethical issues that I considered important when I conducted the interviews and presented the research outcomes.

#### 5.8 Ethical issues

#### (1) Informed consent

In the first meetings with my interviewee, a consent form was given to her. Helen was reassured that her stories were conducted especially for this study. I agreed that I would discuss it with Helen if my research would be published in non-academic journals or books.

## (2) Confidentiality

I explained to Helen that the fully transcribed primary data would be kept confidential. The personal details of Helen were changed or presented under a pseudonym to further ensure confidentiality. For example, I did not specify Helen's job title or the time when she started to work at the women's self-help group and nor did I record the name of this women's group. I also altered the ages of Helen's children to further protect her identity.

### (3) Well-being

I informed Helen that it was possible for her to feel distressed during the course of storytelling. Helen was reassured that if this should occur, she had every right to ask for a break and that any issues which caused discomfort or distress would be discussed and perhaps continued at a later session if possible. I encouraged Helen to openly discuss with me any difficulties during the course of the interviews.

### (4) Right of withdrawal

Another important ethical issue that I mentioned to Helen is that she retained the right to withdraw herself from this study at any time. I also explained to Helen that she could refuse to discuss any subjects which she felt uncomfortable with or considered offensive at any stage of the interview process. Furthermore, Helen understood that she was not obligated to give any reason for asking for a break or for terminating the interviews.

### 5.9 Summary

In this chapter issues including research strategy, data collection methods, data analysis and presentation, validity, reliability and ethical issues are discussed.

I adopted the case study as my research strategy to explore how a Taiwanese working mother perceived her family roles and developed identities in 21st century Taiwan. Despite having contacted eight women, a particular case was selected in order to achieve depth of treatment. Life-story interview methods were used to prompt narratives that revealed the subjective experiences of how Helen perceived and defined her family roles through self-attributions. The life-story interview method allowed me to have enough time to collect and conduct in-depth data. The interviews took a total of 12 hours over four meetings to complete. However, the lengthy life-story interview sessions were time and energy consuming and at times caused tension between Helen and myself, especially during the "conflict stage" where I was involved in intense discussions about certain issues. For example, Helen was eager to express her views about how to address the women's self-help group. She requested to know the reasons for why marital sex was listed as an important topic in the storytelling. However, my effort to build an informal and flexible interview relationship, meaning my listening to her stories in a non-judgemental manner and inviting her to decide how to conduct the interviews, helped to smooth the interview process. I used helping (counselling) skills, such as clarification, reflection, and lowering

defence techniques to show that I was understanding and accepting, and that enabled me to create a friendly and supportive interview atmosphere.

Regarding data analysis and presentation, with the help of the *NVivo* software programme, I coded, refined and categorized my data. Through the coding process, I developed themes and divided the data into four dimensions, including domestic work and childcare, oral communication, marital sex and looking after in-laws, and categorized the data into different types of identities, including wife, mother and daughter-in-law. However, I also presented data that were originally not set out to be explored. The unexpected data is important as in Helen's narratives it presented significant information about how her life experiences related to her identities. Conversations were quoted to present the stories in her own words so as to better show Helen's subjective experiences. Interview data were presented under a pseudonym to ensure confidentiality.

To promote validity, my data analysis results showed that Helen perceived and defined her family roles in a consistent manner. I also looked at how the particular case was used to test my propositions. Open-ended questions, friendliness and flexibility helped me to authentically probe into the subjective experiences of my interviewee and that also improved the research validity. The method of life-story interview allowed me to have enough time to probe into Helen's stories from different angles and that promoted reliability. Discussions that revealed how the interviews were conducted were presented in the findings and that further improved the

Chapter Five Research Design

research reliability. Regarding ethical issues, informed consent, confidentiality, the wellbeing of the interviewee, and her right to withdraw from the research were discussed.

In the following chapter, I will present results that relate Helen's stories to the four dimensions, including domestic work and childcare, oral communication, marital sex and looking after in-laws, as well as her perceptions and identities in relation to her family roles.

# CHAPTER SIX NARRATIVE ANALYSIS AND

**RESULTS: FAMILY ROLE IDENTITIES** 

This narrative analysis is done based on the case that has been purposely selected for this study. Narrative interviews were adopted to collect the data that present the stories of case H (Helen). Helen is in her late 40s and has been married for 15 years. She has two girls aged 8 and 12. Her husband has been working abroad for around 10 years and visits Helen and her children on average every two months. Helen's employment history includes working for a counselling organization as a counsellor and for a women's self-help group as a manager. In her stories Helen repeatedly stated that her experiences of meeting service users and working with colleagues in the two organizations had an impact on how she perceived herself. Helen is now working full time in a management company as a manager and is studying for a Masters degree at a state university in Taiwan.

In this chapter, Helen's narratives are divided into four parts: domestic work and childcare, verbal communication, marital sex and looking after in-laws. In each section, I will reveal Helen's perceptions and identities of her family roles and how they are related to Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses. However, despite the original focus, in the next chapter, I also present data that do not fall into the above four dimensions. The reason for including this data is because I encouraged Helen to tell any stories which

she considered meaningful for her so that she might reveal her subjective experiences. This helps to probe for data that is originally not anticipated but contains information that presents the "significant ways individuals construct and express meaning" (Mishler 1986:67).

This narrative analysis also investigates "events", meaning life-marking events, such as births, anniversaries, new jobs etc, and their influences on Helen. The "events" reveal stories about Helen's interactions with different social institutions, such as her family and workplace and how these experiences are related to her perceptions of her family roles and identities as a wife, mother and in-law.

With narrative analysis, "time" is also an important element. The "time" is linked to Helen's past and present life experiences and from these I am able to understand how particular events have influenced Helen during different periods of her life. Incorporating a time element into narratives enables this study to understand how Helen's past life experiences intertwine with her current perceptions and identities. In the following sections, therefore, I will present stories that reveal Helen's past and present life experiences, including her childhood, study, employment and marital life. Stories about how Helen interacts with different social institutions, such as counselling services, the women's self-help group and her native and procreative families, at different life cycles will be presented. This is aimed at understanding how past and present life events contribute to Helen's current perceptions of her family roles and her identities.

Since this study considers Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses as important elements (please see Chapter Two Taiwanese Society of the 21 Century and its Features) that influence Helen's perceptions and identities, I outline in brief their attributes. The relationbased Taiwanese Confucian family tradition transmits Confucian gender discourses. Under the tradition, family members are valued in terms of their relationships with each other and each family member's roles are rigidly defined in terms of seniority and gender. In the family a woman is expected to be a "Dutiful Wife and Loving Mother", which reinforces that a man should perform as the breadwinner in the household, whereas a woman is expected to be domestically oriented and family centred. The emphasis of family relations in general reinforces family hierarchy that determines that male members, especially husbands, are superior to women (wives). The family hierarchy values seniority that transmits ideas that junior members are subject to the authority of senior members. In this sense, younger family members should fulfil "Filial Obligation", that is, showing respect for and looking after senior family members. The Confucian family hierarchy also transmits ideas that a woman is inferior to a male family member. According to Confucian womanly moral standards imbued in the principles of "Three Obediences and Four Virtues", wives should be dependent and submissive to male members, especially their husbands and senior figures, and put the family first and sacrifice themselves for others.

Non-Confucian gender discourses refer to gender discourses that transmit conflicting ideas that challenge or disagree with the Taiwanese Confucian family hierarchy tradition. For example, ideas, such as self-fluffiness, the wellbeing of an individual and independence, are defined as non-Confucian gender discourses because they might encourage a female family member to pay attention to their thoughts, feelings and aspirations, rather than putting other family or their own domestic responsibilities first.

#### 6.1 Domestic work and childcare

In this section, I will first present stories about cooking, which Helen considers as one of the domestic tasks that needs to be completed as a daily routine in her family life. The stories reveal how the Confucian family tradition affects Helen's perception of her family role as a wife.

## 6.1-1 Cooking

Helen talks about her cooking experience in her early marital life. Helen tried to cook when her husband worked for a company in Taiwan and her daughters were young children:

Helen: At the time, I felt a couple should live like that (doing everything together). Then we had kids... He picked me up every day after work...

You (Helen often refers to herself in these passages in the second person) did not enjoy cooking, but it was not nice to eat out every day...because I

had to (cook)... He tends to blame me because...he has some expectation of me as a wife and a mother... In his family, men are superior to women.

Whenever he is with his family, his sister always cooks for him.

The above quotation indicates that at an early stage of her marital life, Helen's perceptions of her family role as a wife was under the influences of Confucian gender discourses. A "dutiful wife and loving mother" was a standard that was used to judge her roles as a wife and mother. Both Helen and her husband lived with the expectation that Helen should stay home and cook for the family. What is more, domestic work was not just considered as a task, it was associated with the idea of "togetherness". Within a Confucian context, togetherness represents a collective effort that states that family members should live and work together as one for sake of family welfare. The togetherness in turn reinforces the idea of family relations, where a married woman should put the family first and is expected not to pay attention to her needs and wishes. Under the influence of the tradition, Helen perceived herself as a "dutiful" wife and took on the responsibility for cooking whilst her husband devoted himself to work as a breadwinner in the household. After trying to conform to the Confucian tradition for a year, however, Helen felt she disagreed with the obligation of cooking:

Helen: I do not think domestic work is stimulating. It is quite a chore and it is a waste of time... I was not interested in doing any kind of domestic work... I became short-tempered. You could not bear to see your man sitting there

and watching television. When you were suffering from something, you could not bear to see people happy. So you criticized him and we often had quarrels.

Relevant research has shown that educated and employed married women who consider domestic work and childcare as "unequal" or "problematic" are likely to experience marital breakdown or engage in marital conflicts (Kluwer, Heesink and Vliert 1997, Greenstein 1995). Helen's account suggests that within a Confucian context, it is possible that a married woman who embraces Confucian gender discourses but is nevertheless unhappy with her family role as a "dutiful" housewife with its obligation to cook for the family, might feel distressed. Despite that, however, at an early stage of her marital life, Helen defined her family role as a wife in terms of "dutiful wife and loving mother". She said that:

**Helen**: I was not an ideal wife (to my husband)... With my role as a wife, I feel he has adjusted and has lowered his expectation for me as much as he could...

The above quotations evidence that despite her awareness of disagreement and unhappiness with cooking, Helen at an early stage of her marital life was under the influence of the Confucian family tradition. She integrated Confucian gender discourses into her identities and defined herself as a wife who was not "dutiful" within a Confucian context.

### 6.1-2 Childcare

Helen tells stories about looking after her two daughters, which reveals how she perceives and defines her family role as a mother:

Helen: Once my kids wanted to eat a watermelon. I said no to them because it was not sliced. It is their father's or my domestic worker's job to prepare a watermelon. My kids did not complain about it. They accepted and said that yes mom is lazy. They said that mom does not do such a thing (slicing a watermelon)...I have a short temper. So they (Helen's kids) called me witch mom.

Helen perceives herself as a mother in conflict with the Confucian family tradition of a "Loving Mother":

Helen: I admit that I am selfish at some points...when they disturb me, I have authority over them and they have to obey orders. I need sometime for myself (a break during the weekends). I would try to arrange meetings or social events for a Friday evening or Saturday, like, when I give a speech or lecture. In that case, I cannot be with you. I do not care whether you like it or not, you have to go to granny. There is no room for negotiation. That is it. They have to accept the arrangement. So, sometimes I am quick-tempered and I admit. I admit that it is not nice (laugh). I allow them to criticize me because it is a fact.

Helen uses the concept of a "Loving Mother", which reinforces ideas that a woman should put her family first and sacrifice herself for the family, as a reference and perceives and defines her performance of family role accordingly. However, Helen also talks about her needs as a person in relation to her family role as a wife:

Helen: With my role as a mother, he (Helen's husband) (still) expects me to give everything and look after the kids and stay with them all the time. At times, he keeps an eye on me to make sure I stay home with the kids...he wonders where I am, whether I leave the kids alone....He does care. He pays attention to this (childcare) and you can clearly feel his expectation and, and needs. But I cannot do anything about it. I feel I need to have a life.

The above statement reveals that despite her awareness of the Confucian family tradition of a "Loving Mother", Helen does not conform to it. The reason for that is because Helen somehow embraces the idea that she needs to pay attention to her needs as a person. The way that Helen defines her family role is influenced by the non-Confucian idea that she should "focus on herself", and it challenges the "Loving Mother" Confucian tradition. The focus of self in turn enables Helen to pay attention to and value individual qualities:

(1) Helen: At least the kids are healthy and happy, there is nothing to be blamed for, and, it cannot be denied that if I were not stable, your kids

would not have grown up happily...My stability has much to offer for my kids, that, he (Helen's husband) admits that, it is an important reason... I am a secure person. Since I was a child, I have been like this. I feel thankful for that. I am also confident...I have got everything. I think it is my greatest capital...My two kids feel very secure.

(2) Helen: I feel actually the core of my life is fairness and justice. Like many people say that it is not good for the kids to play video games or watch television. I told them that playing computer games hurt their eyes and that they cannot watch too much television because they need to go to bed early. Otherwise, they will be late for school the next day. This is the only reason that I consider justified. So, during the weekend, they can go to bed late or watch television as much as they like. I cannot say no.

The above narratives suggest that on the one hand, Helen defines herself in terms of the value of the Confucian family tradition of the "Loving Mother". On the other hand, Helen is able to pay attention to herself and define herself as a mother in favour of individual qualities. Despite her awareness of Confucian gender discourses, Helen is able to assert her sense of being as an individual and values her needs when considering her family roles as a mother and that shows that she can also be non-Confucianism orientated.

As a whole, Helen's past experience of cooking and her current experience of looking after the children reveal coherent storylines. The narratives show

that Helen has always been aware of the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition of the "Dutiful Wife and Loving Mother". However, Helen's statement about "focusing on herself" indicates that somehow Helen also defines her family roles as a wife and mother in a non-Confucian manner. She defines her family roles in terms of her individual qualities, but those qualities are devalued within the context of the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition because of its emphasis on family relations.

#### 6.1-3 Domestic work, childcare and social institutions

# The women's self-help group

Despite the influence of the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition of the "Dutiful Wife and Loving Mother", Helen is able to perceive her family role as a wife and mother in non-Confucian ways by paying attention to her needs and recognizing her qualities, which value personal strengths as an individual. The following statements show that Helen's work experiences with the women's self-help group at a later stage of her career enables her to embrace non-Confucian gender discourses that affect her perceptions of family roles as a wife and mother. Helen tells stories about her work experiences as a manager when working for the women's self-help group. Helen no longer works for this organization but has continued being involved in their training courses.

The work experience with the women's group enables Helen to think for herself as an individual in her marriage: Helen: Having seen many examples (of marital breakdown), I have finally started to pay attention to myself. In those years, the sisters (female members of the women's self-help group) taught me a lesson...I would prefer to focus on myself. What I am, what I can do to make myself happy, what the purpose of my life is...

This experience of working with women with marital problems enables Helen to define herself in a non-Confucian way by paying attention to her needs as a person in the marriage. The work experience also inspires Helen to value women's independence:

Helen: Actually, what the women's self-help group wants women to learn is an ability to survive. Fighting for money or property is only a method or strategy. To me, the basic is being able to survive...I have seen what happened to those sisters. They were betrayed, abandoned, thrown out of the marriage, they did not have money and they lost their kids. I have spent so much time and energy trying to figure out the values and meanings that lie behind their problems. That really helps me.

The idea of "survival" from Helen's point of view is all about a woman's capability to earn her own living:

**Helen**: I am a capable person and this is my greatest social capital. I am the greatest capital for myself... I would not want anything else and would not take anything with me if my husband and I divorce.

Working with the women's group, which provides an opportunity for Helen to witness how other women experience marital breakdown, inspires Helen to recognize the importance of women's independence. This in turn enables Helen to perceive her family role as a wife in terms of her capability as an individual instead of her relationship with her husband. This might help to explain why, despite living under the influence of "Dutiful Wife and Loving mother", Helen, when telling stories about her later marital life, perceives her family roles as a wife and mother in a non-Confucian way. Helen is able to value her family roles as a wife in terms of personal qualities as an individual instead of through her contributions to domestic work and childcare.

However, Helen's stories about her interactions with the women's group also reveal that Helen does not necessarily always identify with non-Confucian gender discourses. For example, Helen criticises the "doctrine" of gender equality:

Helen:...You cannot deny that at some points we devalue it (domestic work) by saying that you are good-for-nothing, wondering whether you should worry about your future (due to no sense of gender equality). Actually I feel

that if that is something that a woman wants and is willing to do, there is no reason to say that she cannot make that decision.

Some research has treated "gender equality" as an important theme in relation to domestic work (see Kaufman 2000, Rogers and Amato 2000, Gersick and Kram 2002, Schoen, Astone, Rothert, Standish and Kim 2002, Joshi 2002). Earlier research often examined how a married woman shared domestic work with her husband in terms of her sense of "gender equality", meaning an "equitable" division of domestic work (in terms of quantity) between the couple. For example, a married woman was defined as "egalitarian" or "traditional" based on her attitudes towards gender equality (Doucet 1995).

However, Helen's perception of domestic work does not seem to conform with such research viewpoints. For instance, Helen does not define herself as an "egalitarian" wife or mother, despite refusing to do domestic work. Helen's disagreement with the "doctrine" of gender equality shows that domestic work can be perceived by a working mother as merely a "personal choice", instead of an obligation, especially when she feels free to ask others, such as her husband and domestic worker, to do the work for her.

Perhaps Helen's stories indicate that despite living in an intricate Taiwanese society where different social institutions are likely to transmit different and often conflicting ideas about what women are, a working Taiwanese mother is able to perceive those Confucian and non-Confucian

gender discourses by imposing her own thoughts. One should bear in mind that defining the identities of a working mother in terms of predetermined categories, such as "gender equality", might overlook her subjective views about family roles (Doucet 1995).

# **Native family**

Helen's interactions with her native family, neighbours and friends in her childhood also play an important role in enabling her to embrace non-Confucian gender discourses by recognizing individual qualities and that affects how Helen perceives her family role as a mother.

Helen: I am like my father. He values fairness and justice so much. I think this quality is already in my blood...I feel secure and confident because I have been well looked after... The confidence that I have is because everybody (Helen's native family) made me feel I was excellent. That is a good experience. In the village where I used to live when I was a child, and in my family, I always thought I was the best and the most excellent one. Later on I realized that I was not (laugh). I want them (Helen's daughters) to feel that at every moment, no matter what people say about them, they are the best and the most excellent persons in my heart.

Helen's stories about her childhood reveal that this past experience enables her to value individual qualities and that in turn makes it possible for her to define herself in terms of what she is as an individual in her perceptions of family roles. The native family influences her identities as a mother in a non-Confucian way. Within a Confucian context, fairness and justice, security and confidence traditionally are not characterized as desirable qualities for married women. Family hierarchy determines that family members interact with each other by their predefined family roles. Senior members have authority over younger generations and this is especially important in a parental relationship. However, as a mother, Helen's native family inspires her to value what she is as an individual against this relation-based Taiwanese Confucian family tradition.

## Counselling

Helen's past work experience as a counsellor also plays an important role in enabling her to identify with non-Confucian gender discourses, such as individual qualities. She has not particularly addressed the influence of counselling in the above narratives. However, the individual qualities, such as independence, security and confidence, that Helen considers important are often seen as fundamental elements in counselling services (Giddens 1991, Schnarch 1997). I will present stories about Helen's perceptions of premarital sex that further evidence the influence of counselling on Helen's identification with individual qualities:

Helen: ...I do not think you can forbid such thing (premarital sex). It depends, it depends on the circumstances. I think their father probably will have a problem with it. I think I am OK with it (premarital sex). Anyway, what is important is something fundamental.

Liu: What is fundamental?

Helen: I feel what is (more) important is personal development, growth, fulfilment and a sense of achievement. With other things, I do not feel it matters. I do not really care or pay attention because they do not have much influence on you.

Premarital sex for women in the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition is considered as a "moral" issue because of the emphasis of virginity reinforced by the womanly standards of "Three Obedients and Four Virtures". However, Helen perceives individual qualities as "fundamental" against the moral standards in her perceptions of premarital sex and she does not value her daughters in terms of the tradition. It is correct to say that with the influence of her counselling experience, as a mother Helen considers individual qualities as more important than the womanly moral standards.

#### 6.2 Verbal communication

The development of counselling culture in 21<sup>st</sup> century Taiwan might have encouraged married women to engage in verbal communication, such as expressing thoughts about matters that are of concern to them or sharing feelings with their husbands. Helen's stories show that because of her past working experience as a counsellor, she identifies with the idea of verbal communication:

Chapter Six Narrative Analysis and Results: Family Role Identities

Helen: We (Helen and her husband) cannot communicate well. We are not good at talking and there is a big lesson that we have to learn. As a counsellor and working as a helping professional, communication is the

principle of everything. Everything has to be talked through...

Helen exercises the skills of communication through "sweet talk" to her

husband. For example, she tells her husband that she feels so "blissful"

because her husband "provides them with the best living standard". Current

research has shown that women who are engaged in verbal communication

are likely to request feedback from their husbands (see Wilkie, Ferree and

Ratcliff 1998; Erickson 1993; Coltrane 2000; Hawkins, Marshall and

Meiners 1995). Since Helen shares her feelings with her husband, I asked

Helen whether she expects her husband to say nice words to her in return.

The following stories confirm that once a married woman becomes

expressive, she expects her husband to be expressive too:

Helen: Of course I do, but you know his limitation. He is getting better after

some training.

Liu: Training?

Helen: Yes, I sometimes ask him who his beloved is and he would say it is

his wife (laugh)...after many years... I sometime tell people that you know

what, he was not born to be this brilliant. I have trained him for so long.

154

Helen expects her husband to be expressive in return for her effort to be engaging in communication. However, Helen feels disappointed about the inexpressiveness of her husband:

Helen: No, he is not the kind. He has never done something like that (sweet talk). Eventually, I thought, never mind. It is like the other day, he called me on a Thursday. He said that he bet I did not buy lottery tickets on Tuesday. You know he is that kind of person...I said, why did you say I did not? You do not have faith in me (laugh)...and, you can decide to get angry or let it go. For me, I am used to it. That is how he expresses himself. He did not mean it. He has to be critical because of his job. He is a manager. You know it is hard to be a manager. Your workers can be very difficult to deal with. If you want to ask him to...I do not think it is possible. I am not saying that it is impossible. But it would be very challenging.

Helen eventually accepts that her husband will probably never be as an expressive person as she has wanted him to be. In the past, Helen invited her husband to meet with her friends so that her husband could "appreciate" what she considered important in her life. But once again Helen was disappointed because "the truth is that he (Helen's husband) could only respond to you with a yes or no answer".

Current research has reported that women become distressed or experience marital difficulties if they engage in communication but are unable to receive feedback in return from their husbands (see Erickson 1993, Duncombe and Marsden 1993). However, despite feeling "frustrated", Helen has not particularly mentioned that she feels distressed or experiences marital conflict. Being able to "focus on herself" might be the reason why Helen is able to cope with the disappointment. Helen's identity as a wife confirms this point:

Helen: It depends on what your focus is in your life...and, I have decided not to take such a challenge. I would rather invest my time and energy in something else. So, you ask me if I have an expectation, of course I have. But it depends on whether or not you want to carry on a difficult mission. I have my list of priorities. I invest my time and energy in matters that deserve my prior attention so I do not get mad at him. I am not angry but I would tell him that I have done my part...I tease him a bit.

Helen defines herself as a wife who "has her list of priorities", such as a job and her emotional wellbeing, and she is not distressed by trying to change her husband. This in turn indicates that by paying attention to matters that she considers important for her, Helen avoids disappointments with her 'inexpressive' husband. This suggests that Helen perceives her family role as a wife in a way that is in conflict with the relation-based Taiwanese Confucian family tradition that considers family hierarchy and welfare more important than communication between family members, and disregards the needs of individuals, especially female members, to express themselves.

## 6.2-1 Verbal communication and "intimacy"

In the modern era, women, including those who are married, are likely to commit themselves to communication (Duncombe and Marsden 1993; Jamieson 1999). However, for these women communication is likely to be associated with "intimacy". Intimacy "is often a very specific sort of knowing and loving" (Jamieson 1999:1). "Being close to another person" (Jamieson 1999:1) often refers to physical contact that creates the feeling of closeness. However, Helen's stories show that for her communication is associated with the emotional feeling of "love":

Helen: What is important is the intimacy, the feeling and the quality of marriage. I feel it would be dreadful if two persons, who do not like each other, feel very unhappy and do not love each other, to stay married forever. A marriage with no intimacy (love)...does not mean anything to me.

The love and happiness is what Jamieson calls "disclosing intimacy", or what is called by Hochschild (1989) "emotion work". Other scholars, such as Duncombe and Marsden (1993) and Erickson (1993) describe intimacy as a status that involves "the ability to communicate" (Duncombe and Marsden 1993:221). Helen's account confirms that she associates communication with love and intimacy that is related to how she feels as an individual in her marriage:

Helen: Sometimes my colleague and I joke about it by saying that we feel so depressed. That is, we are the kind who are assertive, and, we work hard

and we have great passion for our jobs. Unfortunately, our other half has no interest in our jobs and absolutely has no idea about what we are doing... you start to complain about your job, he asks you to quit. He says that he will look after me...not like others, with whom perhaps you can talk. They (husbands) have no interest in your jobs at all. They can only respond to the conversation with yes or no.

Helen's above account reveals that she expects her husband to understand her passion for her job. It is the "intimacy of the (two) self" that matters as it emphasizes the ability to communicate with each other. This includes "mutual disclosure, constantly revealing your inner thoughts and feelings to each other" (Jamieson 1999:1). In this sense, for Helen, the purpose of communication is to "understand" each other (Duncombe and Marsden 1993:227) in order to feel love.

### 6.2-2 Verbal communication and social institutions

# Counselling

In the following sections, I will present stories on how Helen's experience of working in a counselling organisation at an early stage of her career affects her perceptions of her family role as a wife. Counselling services have played an important role in enabling Helen to embrace non-Confucian gender discourses, such as valuing communication, including expressing thoughts and sharing feelings with her husband. Despite that, however,

Helen does not necessarily agree with the "principle" of verbal communication:

Helen: I do not force him (to be expressive) because every individual is independent. He has his own interest and life style. There is something that I still cannot figure out in my life. That is, communication. What is the meaning of communication? Forcing my idea upon him, or forcing his idea upon me? Yes, because, he is what he is. He could have asked you (me) to make compromises. I do not want to make compromises and therefore I am hesitant to ask him to make compromises. Because I am not sure what is the right thing to do...

Despite being committed to communication, Helen does not reinforce her idea of expressiveness on her marital relationship. Instead, she questions the meaning of verbal communication for her marriage. This indicates that Helen is able to employ her thoughts on non-Confucian gender discourses and interpret them in her own ways. Her critical manner confirms the viewpoint of this study that argues that a woman, especially if she is educated and employed, is able to interpret gender discourses by employing her thoughts and does not necessarily develop identities that fit in with any pre-determined categories.

When Helen tells stories about her "inexpressive" husband, she stresses that it is "natural" of her husband to not be "perfect" (not expressive). The usage of the term "natural" might contain meanings related to Confucian

philosophy. Within a Confucian context, "nature" in general explains relationships between human beings and "mother earth" that emphasize harmony. It might be correct to state that Helen uses "natural" to stress that she accepts things as the way they are and therefore does not impose her idea of expressiveness onto her husband. However, it is not clear whether Helen uses "nature" to define her identities as a wife that can imply any meaning of harmony.

#### 6.3 Marital sex

Traditionally, Taiwanese women were less likely to pay attention to their own sexual needs or become aware of sexual satisfaction due to the emphasis on women's virginity which determines that a "virtuous" woman is not "sexual". To explore how the Taiwanese Confucian womanly moral standard affects Helen's perceptions of her marital sex and how the tradition influences her identities, I asked Helen how she meets her sexual needs when her husband is away. Helen's views appear to fit in with the category of a "virtuous" woman because she defines herself as "not sexual":

Helen: people might wonder how I deal with sex, especially when my husband is away for a long time (Helen's husband visits her and the children on average every two months). Interestingly, a friend of mine is the kind of person who feels annoyed that she cannot have sex because of her period. It is only 5 days but it is already too long for her. She is very sexual.

She cannot understand why I am like this. She thought I am unbelievable.

But to me... my friend and I are the extremes of being sexual and not sexual.

Despite being "un-sexual", however, Helen's views about how she perceives the meaning of marital sex shows that she is able to employ her thoughts and perceive the Confucian gender discourses of "virtuous" women in her ways. For Helen, her sex life is "not important":

Helen: Well, perhaps what is more important is the quality...yes, frequency is not an issue. I am not interested in such a thing. So, what on earth why I am like this? I have not paid much attention...So, you know, not everything has to be figured out. To me, if it is something that I care, I figure it out. Otherwise, it does not matter. It is ok. So I am not concerned about whether you (Helen's husband) need sex when I am not with you, and if yes, how you deal with your sexual needs. This part does not concern me or affect me.

This study does not consider Helen's "being un-sexual" as her conforming to the Taiwanese Confucian womanly moral standards. Perhaps Helen rejects the standards by paying attention to matters that she considers important and that does not include marital sex.

Relevant literature has suggested that married women in 21<sup>st</sup> century

Taiwanese society have been more likely to engage in extra-marital affairs

than women of previous eras (Lin 2005). With this, Helen's account helps to explain that perhaps these women have not considered faithfulness as "important" for their marriage:

Liu: Do you have any standard such as you cannot sleep with anyone else because you are married?

Helen: No, we have never thought that we should not do anything just because we are married. Otherwise, it would not be natural. I have never thought I cannot get a divorce, or I cannot do anything just because I am married. You see, I do not even care about faithfulness (laugh)...because I feel what matters is not rules or what you can ask for, but what is important for you... Rules or restrictions are not important...I do not think you should stop yourself from doing things just because you are married...So, I have my own standard. Everybody has different standards.

The above quotation provides some insight into how a married Taiwanese woman perceives marital sex. This suggests that it is possible that in 21<sup>st</sup> century Taiwan, a married woman's extra-marital affairs might be related to her views towards faithfulness. Faithfulness was not mentioned in the "Three Obediences and Four Virtues". However, under the tradition, an unfaithful Taiwanese married woman was more likely to be criticized than a Taiwanese married man. This is because the Confucian gendered binary determined that a dutiful and loving mother and wife should put her family first and thus devote herself to her family roles. For example, she is likely to be condemned as a "bad mother" and an "immoral wife" if engaging in

extramarital affairs, while a married man is likely to be seen as simply "too romantic towards other women" in a Confucian context. In this sense, it is correct to say that Helen's identity as a wife who does not care about faithfulness, contains a non-Confucian feature. Helen's stories show that a married Taiwanese woman who is able to focus on herself by paying attention to what she considers important is likely to think differently from the Confucian gendered binary.

### 6.3-1 Marital sex and the "mistress"

Helen's perception of marital sex also reveals that she defines herself as a "mistress":

Helen: I often joke about my position. I am taking a position as a wife but performing as a mistress (laugh). I mean, I enjoy all the benefits that a wife should get. I have everything. But I only need to perform like a mistress because he is not here most of the time. But when he comes home, I dress up for him (laugh), and make him happy. The feeling is like a mistress. Your sponsor comes to see you occasionally and you serve him. When he is not here, you make yourself happy.

"Mistress" generally refers to a woman who is financially and sexually subservient to a man to whom she is not legally married (see Oxford Dictionary). The usage of "mistress" originally implies that a woman is "inferior" to her man because she is financially dependent on him and has

to offer sex to please her man (sponsor), who has power over her through sex.

Helen's account of a mistress indicates that she is aware of the great earning power of her husband:

Helen: ...He has provided us with exclusive and continuing financial support. He provides us with the best living standard...I have adjusted by considering myself as a mistress. I thought...because he hardly spends time being with us, we should treat him. I do things that can please him and make him feel that everything, his sacrifice and his effort, is worthwhile. When he is back staying with us for a few days, I would do things to fulfil his expectations and satisfy his needs. Do you not think I behave like a mistress? (Laugh) Of course I do not really behave like a real flatterer, but I think it (my position) means something like that to some points...I feel that is something that I can give in return for his care of us.

Within a Confucian context, it is (morally) right for a married woman to be financially dependent, while her husband is to be the breadwinner in the family. Helen herself is aware that her husband fits in with this gendered binary opposition:

**Helen**: I feel because as a man, he feels he needs to provide the family with financial support and he has to be successful, and enjoy great achievement.

Helen is aware that her husband enjoys greater earning power. Taking the Confucian gendered binary as a reference, she defines herself as a "mistress", which reveals her value of putting her husband first and satisfying his need in return for his financial support. Helen seems to appreciate and subscribe to the concept of a mistress who is aware that she benefits from her husband's financial support and that in a way suggests that Helen might define her family role as a wife within the framework of the Confucian gendered binary.

#### 6.3-2 Marital sex and social institutions

### The women's self-help group

The above stories have shown that non-Confucian gender discourses have an influence on Helen's perceptions of her family roles and her identities as a wife. Helen's past working experience as a manager in the women's self-help group has provided opportunities for her to become familiar with the idea that marital sex is important:

Helen: When I worked in the women's self-help group, we had seminars and advanced courses that focused on sexual needs. The issue of sex was discussed from different perspectives and from there I realized that sex was an important issue for women.

However, Helen appears to disagree with the idea that marital sex is important:

Helen: No, no. Actually I do not have a great understanding of the issue of sex...I designed the courses. But I did not go to the classes. I was not interested (in the issue of sex). I did not pay much attention to it. The courses are there, but not everybody thinks this thing (the issue of sex) is meaningful or valuable.

The reason why Helen is able to perceive marital sex differently is because she asserts that sexual life is not important for her. She thinks differently from the teaching of non-Confucian gender discourses that sex is important and disagrees with the ideas that are reinforced by marriage experts. The following stories further prove this point:

Liu: Have you and your husband ever talked about how and when you want to have sex at some points?

Helen: When you ask such question, you assume that marital sex should be important for us and thus we ought to pay attention to it. But to me...it happens naturally. So far, there is nothing that particularly attracts our attention regarding this matter, or any difficulty that needs to be dealt with.

Helen affirms that she does not feel marital sex is an issue that requires much attention in her marriage. Helen's response to the interview question confirms my research method that argues that to comprehend the subjective experiences of women, their stories should be investigated by allowing them to tell stories in their own words (Mishler 1986). In this

Chapter Six Narrative Analysis and Results: Family Role Identities

current context, Helen spontaneously makes it clear that marital sex is not

an important issue for her. However, I am aware that Helen has provided

limited information about how she interacts with her husband in relation to

marital sex. Researchers should clarify with their interviewees any

information that contains unclear or ambiguous message (Olesen 2000).

For that reason, I ask Helen about her views of marital sex:

Liu: Do you talk about marital sex with friends?

Helen: No, because I am not interested in that subject.

Liu: Do you feel it is private to you?

Helen: No. I am just not interested...

Perhaps the teaching of sex in the women's self-help group, although

rejected by Helen at the time, over the years has nevertheless inspired

Helen to think about her sex life and thus enabled her to become aware

that "physical contact" is more important for her than "intercourse":

Helen: It is like... I like physical contact with him. It is intimate. Just with him.

It is like...I told him to hold my hand when we go for a walk. So, now he

remembers and often holds my hand, and...Very often he watches

television. I do not like television programmes. I do not watch television. But

I stay with him from beginning to the end. Some feeling of intimacy is more

important to me. It does not have to be intercourse....

167

# 6.4 Looking after mother-, sister- and brother-in-law

I present Helen's stories about looking after mother-, sister- and brother-inlaw, because these aspects of family life were traditionally considered as important for married women in the Taiwanese Confucian society. I will explore how Helen perceives and defines her family role as in-law to understand how she negotiates Confucian gender discourses. More information will be provided in the following sections.

# 6.4-1 Looking after mother-in-law

Traditionally, the family role of daughter-in-law played an important part in married women's lives. Living under the influence of "Filial Obligation", married women tended to be "dutiful" in a sense that they felt obligated to take on the primary responsibility of looking after their parents-in-law, especially when they were ill, and thus defined themselves as (informal) carers (see Wang Ling-yi 1998). Helen's stories about how she looks after her mother-in-law seems to conform to this aspect of tradition. Helen's mother-in-law passed away a few years ago. However, when Helen's mother-in-law was ill, Helen visited her in the hospital and at the nursing home on a regular basis. When her condition was deteriorating, Helen stayed in the hospital overnight:

Helen: When she was in the hospital, she expected that I would go and visit her. She would tell me what she wanted to eat. I always got whatever she wanted...Then she was put in a nursing home. She was in coma.

Sometimes her situation got worse. The hospital informed me. It was convenient for me to go and stay overnight so that I could keep an eye on her in case her condition deteriorated.

At the time, Helen worked as a full-time wedding planner. She had to go to work during the day. Despite that, Helen took on the main responsibility of visiting her mother-in-law if need be. I clarified with Helen whether she made the effort in order to fulfil "Filial Obligation":

Liu: Do you think you were fulfilling filial duty?

Helen: No. It was because we happened to get along with each other. She was not demanding...It was easier for me to go (to hospital and look after Helen's mother-in-law)...My husband's brother looked after her as well. I did not feel I had to look after her as a daughter-in-law. I just thought it was convenient for me and also because I was resourceful. My mother looked after the kids for me. I did not have to worry about them. My sister-in-law had to stay home looking after her children and she did not know how to drive. She was not very independent. I was the most independent person. I did not expect my other sister-in-law to come because she had to come on a mo-ped... You did not have to do anything in the hospital. You just stayed.

Despite taking on the main caring responsibility, Helen did not perceive herself as a dutiful daughter-in-law. Helen did not feel she had to take on the responsibility of looking after her mother-in-law. Rather, she paid attention to herself by taking into account her personal circumstances, such

as her resources, independence and her companionship with her mother-in-law. Helen's perceptions of looking after her mother-in-law show that she does not necessarily conform to the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition of "Filial Obligation".

Research has shown that married Taiwanese women in the 21<sup>st</sup> century are more likely than in the past to adopt non-Confucian ways when looking after their parents-in-law, such as placing them in a nursing or residential home (see Kao and Stuifbergen 1999; Statistical Units of Government Agencies 1998). Helen's stories help to explain that as an educated, married woman is able to think for herself, she is less likely to feel obligated to conform to "Filial Obligation" that in tradition often determined that married women should physically look after parents-in-law and that it was "immoral" to send parents-in-law away. However, she may still undertake some of the same caring or censorship work as that of women of the previous historical era, but it cannot be denied that she is able to perceive her family contributions or define her family roles by employing her thoughts.

# 6.4-2 Looking after sister- and brother-in-law

This study also found that the family role of sister-in-law is significant in Helen's marital life. Available literature has not shown that in the modern era, married women take on the responsibility of looking after their husbands' sisters and brothers. However, Helen's stories show that she

takes care of her sister- and brother-in-law. She used to look after her younger brother-in-law and sister-in-law by providing meals for them, such as ordering takeaways for them almost every day. Her younger brother-in-law has been working abroad for a few years, but her sister-in-law still lives nearby and continues to dine with Helen and her family. Once again, Helen does not perceive looking after them as a "duty":

Liu: Do you feel it is your responsibility to look after them (sister- and brother-in-law)?

**Helen**: No, they do not need to be looked after. They are adults. They do not expect anyone to look after them.

*Liu:* Any reason that makes you invite them to dine with you?

Helen: Nothing particular. I just think of them. They live close by. If we have food, you just come and eat...I do not feel it is my duty to feed them... I do not feel just because I am a sister-in-law I have to do certain things. I just thought I do what I can do. But if I cannot, then I cannot. I do not feel I am doing anything special. I am not doing it for my husband...

Similar to her views about looking after her mother-in-law, Helen defines her family role as a sister-in-law in a non-Confucian manner. As a sister-in-law Helen differentiates herself from any family obligation and asserts that she is herself. Helen perceives her past experiences of looking after her mother-in-law and her current experiences of looking after her sister- and brother-in-law in a consistent manner. She is able to differentiate her actions from those expected of "Filial Obligation" or family obligation and

thus does not perceive herself as a dutiful daughter- or sister-in-law. Her perceptions and identities are greatly influenced by her past working experiences as a manager in the women's self-help group. I will explain this point in the following section.

### 6.4-3 Looking after in-laws and social institutions

## The women's self-help group

The following stories show that over the years Helen's past working experience has provided her with opportunities to hear and witness other women's marital problems, and have enabled her to think for herself in her own marriage:

Helen: In the women's self-help group, the inspiration is that a marital difficulty results from how we identify with gendered roles. You feel because you are a gender (women or men) you have to take on certain roles. You do what you think you should do but those might not be what you really want to do, or perhaps you do not enjoy doing them. You feel bitter and upset. Despite that, you cannot say anything. Because you identify with them (gendered roles) in the first place, it would be wrong at some points if you complain about them. As time goes by, eventually your marriage is damaged. You do not get back to the basics. Who you are as a person is disregarded. What you like, what you want or what you are willing to do. What you do not like, what you cannot do or you are not willing to do...! have learned a lot from the women's self-help group. It helps me.

The women's self-help group inspires Helen to differentiate her thoughts and actions from family obligation or duty. She has become aware that her interactions with her in-laws should not be determined by a sense of duty and that she should pay attention to what she wants to do. It is therefore correct to say that the women's self-help group represents the influence of non-Confucian gender discourses on Helen.

The above sections are about Helen's perceptions of her family roles and her identities as a wife, mother and in-law. To explore her perceptions and family role identities, this study originally set out to probe into stories about the dimensions of domestic work and childcare, verbal communication, marital sex and looking after parents-in-law. This focus was necessary in order to understand how Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses have an influence on a married Taiwanese woman's perceptions and family role identities in a changing Taiwanese society in the 21<sup>st</sup> century. Despite the original settings, however, as the interviews went on, I found that the narrative contexts of Helen's stories were more complex and richer than was originally anticipated. Since the primary interest of this study is to explore the subjective experiences of a woman cultivating her sense of self, the findings should authentically include the material that was not originally the main focus but that nevertheless reveals relevant depths about her sense of self. For that reason, in the following sections, I include the dimension of interactions with her husband in order to further understand Helen's perceptions and identities as a wife.

### 6.5 Other dimensions: Interactions with the husband

## 6.5-1 Watching TV and "gender equality"

Helen tells stories about watching TV with her husband which shows that despite valuing the women's self-help group, Helen disapproves of some of its teachings on "gender":

Helen: Once I was with my husband. We were watching a film on the television. A colleague (from the women's self-help group) called me to discuss some work stuff. She asked what I was watching. I said I don't know. I said that I am not interested and that it is probably some kind of action film, lots of killing going on. I was criticized. I was told that I do not have a sense of gender (equality) and that I am not independent as such...Some fundamentalists who are involved in social movements (including some colleagues from the women's self-help group) are like that. They have to criticize everything...

The "fundamentalists", from Helen's viewpoint, refer to those who take part in social movements, including her colleagues, who campaign for women's rights. In the above stories, the meaning of "gender equality", which was reinforced by the women's group, from Helen's point of view means that a married woman should always assert what she wants and fight for it. This view was confirmed by current research on "feminist" women.

I will take the research by Blaisure and Allen (1995) on twenty "feminist" Western women as an example. This research studied those who reported

that they identified with "feminist" views, such as ideas about "equal" relationships where women have the right to voice themselves as much as that of men. This same study looked at how "feminist" views were practised by women in their marital lives. It concluded that a "feminist" woman was a woman who identified with "gender equality", meaning her being able to express what she wanted. This "gender equality" was used to describe wives who should enjoy a "[marriage] relationship...where they could voice their own thoughts" (Blaisure and Allen 1995:12); and that it was important to own "themselves" in marital life. For example, one of the interviewees reported that she did not want to take the name of her husband because she was herself and not his "possession".

The following statements indicate that Helen perceives "gender equality" in a similar way. She thinks it transmits the idea that a (married) woman has right to think for herself as much as her man (husband):

Helen: A person's (a woman's) life should have been treated fairly. But under some conditions this person (woman) is not treated fairly. We emphasize that you should find the value of yourself and we look at this issue from the perspective of gender....She can have a different life. Before (when a woman was still married) it (everything she did) was all for the kids and husband. Of course you still can, but it is because I want to, not because I am expected to do so. Life is hard if living by expectations, if it (life) is for others.

Despite her awareness, however, Helen does not commit herself to the idea of "gender equality":

**Helen:** I feel it (gender equality) is irrelevant...With some matters (such as watching TV) it is simply out of affection, it is reciprocal.

The above quotations show that it is possible that an employed and educated, married Taiwanese woman can reject non-Confucian gender discourses by employing her thoughts. Helen explains the reasons why she disagrees with the teaching of "gender equality" as reinforced by the women's self-help group:

Helen: I do whatever I want to do, and as long as I do not disturb people, you have no right to judge me...I feel when it comes to the basic needs of human being, everybody has right to make decisions for themselves.

The above statements show that as a wife Helen identifies with individual qualities, such as independence (this point was highlighted earlier in her stories about verbal communication). This identification enables her to focus on herself and thus differentiate herself from the non-Confucian gender discourses of "gender quality":

Helen: I feel what matters is what makes you feel good... The focus is you, not new values, not using new values to reject your own...the point is the basic needs, a person, the right to be independent...my beliefs belong to

myself. You have your own faith and that is for you. But you cannot judge people by what you consider right or wrong.

## 6.5-2 The thought of divorce

Helen tells stories about how she perceives divorce when considering the differences between her and her husband. I present the stories as they show Helen's perceptions as a wife.

Helen expects to have an intimate relationship with her husband, but at the same time questions whether it is possible to have one:

Helen: Sometimes, you see people, those couples who are so intimate and they understand each other. You feel you envy them. But you cannot deny that that kind of understanding and intimacy requires the exchange of other things. I wonder if we can make that kind of exchange. Like my personality, it is suitable for me to be a mistress (laugh). But if we live together for a long time, stick together all the time, I wonder how we can understand each other or become intimate, or maybe we are more likely to encounter serious conflicts. It is hard to say.

Helen perceives divorce as "not unacceptable" or "unthinkable":

Helen: I have never thought I cannot get a divorce or I cannot do anything just because I am married... I do not feel it is unacceptable to have a marriage which is not good. It (A good marriage) is a desirable outcome.

But if you know that there is no guarantee that you will get the desirable outcome, you do not feel that disappointed. Yes, because there are things that you cannot get by force.

The reason why Helen considers a divorce as an option for an unhappy marriage is because she "focuses on herself" by paying attention to what she wants or what she can do:

Helen: You cannot press that person by saying that you have ruined my entire life. It is your own fault. You allow other people to decide your own happiness that is out of your control. I would never place my hope on anyone. I think of what I can do, to what extent and what I am willing to do, otherwise, I do not want to do it.

Helen considers a divorce as "nothing to fear for" is because she is able to make use of "resources":

Helen: I will be fine. I will not be afraid of anything once I have 26 signed documents from 26 friends. I will stay with each friend for two weeks (if I am divorced and no where to go). All I am asking for is each friend feeding me with two bowls of rice and sparing a room for me to live. I am easy to please and I can be very entertaining. I talk about divorce with my husband sometimes. He thinks I am being silly. He says it (divorce) is not going to happen, But I think there is a possibility that it can happen. Because when

my sister got a divorce (out of sudden). we were having dinner and then we talked about divorce...

The above sections have selected stories about Helen interacting with her husband, such as watching TV and her thoughts on divorce. The stories further reveal how Helen perceives and defines her family role as a wife and show that she is able to differentiate herself from non-Confucian and Confucian gender discourses by paying attention to what she wants or what she considers important in her marriage. Her views about divorce shows that her ability of survival includes her thinking of making use of available social resources, such as informal support from friends, and that enables her to further differentiate herself from the Confucian gender discourses that value a woman in terms of her family roles and family contributions. In the next section, I will explain how social institutions, such as the women's self-help group and counselling organizations, have an influence on her perceptions and identities as a wife.

#### 6.5-3 Social institutions

### The women's self-help group

Despite Helen's challenge of the idea of "gender equality", the non-Confucian discourses have an impact on Helen by inspiring her to think about herself as a woman (wife):

Helen: I feel for me it releases me from, when I was in the women's selfhelp group, I became very aware of, me, as a woman, what was important for me and what I wanted. That thinking becomes very distinctive and different.

Focusing on herself enables Helen to decide not to conform to what other people say about her marriage:

Helen: It does not matter whether I think differently from people or not. I am who I am. Many people wonder whether I worry about my husband. He has been working abroad for more than 10 years. People say why do you not go with him? You know people make various strange conjectures about it, but at the same time, they (the conjectures) are very consistent. They (the conjectures) are all very much socialised.

The quotation below further explains the reason why Helen is able to think differently from other people:

Helen: I feel, me, as a person, I wonder whether or not I should give up my life for a marriage. Because of my work, and many other things, if I go with him, I wonder what I can do there. I wonder whether or not I should give up my life and forget about my passion for work in order to keep my marriage going.

Helen's experience of working as a manager in the women's self-help group inspires her to focus on herself, such as thinking for herself and differentiating herself from other people's expectations. This indicates that despite living under the influence of (non-Confucian) gender discourses, a married woman is able to become aware of and thus reject the influence and perceive her family role as a wife in her own ways (Tichenor 1999).

The women's self-help group also inspires Helen to perceive marital breakdown (divorce) in a positive manner:

Helen: Many people feel that an affair is horrifying, but those women in the women's self-help group free themselves from the restriction of marriage because of the affair. If it was not because of her husband having an affair, she would not have realized that through her entire marital life she has lived for others. When she, when she is betrayed, she, she finally finds that she as a person through her entire life has no value to herself. Because she has never lived for herself...she can restart, start to see that she actually can do something for herself, or have a life.

The women's self-help group provides opportunities for Helen to see other women's marital problems and this experience in turn inspires her to think independently from the teaching of "gender equality" and perceive divorce as a positive outcome. The same non-Confucian gender discourses transmit the idea that a woman should think for herself and that enables Helen to think for herself as an individual in her marriage. The women's self-help group can thus be seen as a social institution that transmits non-Confucian gender discourses and enables Helen to define herself as a wife in a non-Confucian manner.

### Counselling

Helen identifies with independence and defines herself as an individual and that enables her to think for herself and perceive gender discourses by employing her thoughts. I found that Helen's previous work experience in a counselling organization had an influence on her identity. For example, Helen tells stories about how the counselling training enabled her to quickly agree with her husband's decision to work abroad:

Liu: Did your husband discuss with you about working abroad?

Helen: He told me ten days before he left. We actually did not have time to talk it over. Only ten days before his flight. He told you that there was a job opportunity. If he wanted it, he had to leave within ten days, otherwise, the opportunity was gone. He said he wanted to go. Then I thought, yes, you should go...So, at the time, because of my training as a counsellor...I feel, at the time I did not stop him going. I feel that I learnt from counselling and that taught me to show respect for people. I feel as long as one can take responsibility for their own behaviour, they deserve respect. Nobody has right to make any decisions for him.

Helen's previous work experience as a counsellor at an early stage of her career inspired Helen to see her husband as an independent individual. Since then her counselling experience has continued to be an influence on her perceptions of her family role as a wife. How Helen perceives her husband's views of her going to the pub is another example that indicates the influence of her counselling experience on her:

Helen: Occasionally, we, a group of women, like to go down to the pub to fool around. But he feels it is only drinking, smoking and very noisy. He cannot understand what we do in the pub. But for us, it is very relaxing and comfortable. We can listen to music, speak loudly and drink... Yes, I found it difficult to...because you know he does not like it (pub) and you become hesitant to go, or you go and leave early, very upsetting. With things like that, you can make a big deal, or forget about it. I mean, it depends on how you see it. I simply do not want to be fussy. I feel everybody is different, different attitudes toward life.

Helen describes her husband's disapproval of her going to the pub as his individual opinion about certain life styles. Her perceptions suggest that she uses the counselling concept of individuality to interpret her husband's views about the pub.

#### 6.6 Summary

This chapter presents interview data that reveal Helen's perceptions and identities of her family roles in relation to four dimensions: 1. Domestic work and childcare; 2. Marital sex; 3. Oral communication; 4. Looking after mother-, sister- and brother-in-law. However, to present her subjective experiences authentically and capture her life stories, the dimension of Helen's interaction with her husband is included to provide further

information about how Helen perceives and defines her family roles as a wife.

Helen's narratives, which contain stories about various life events at different times of her life, present coherent storylines.

Regarding her identities as a wife and in-law, Helen "focuses on herself". She thinks for herself, pays attention to what is important for her and identifies with individual qualities, such as fairness, justice independence, and defines herself as an individual who is able to express her needs in her marriage. Helen differentiates herself from Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses, such as family duties, filial obligations, the teaching of marital sex and the idea of "gender equality". Helen pays attention to her emotional well-being and matters that she considers important and that prevent her from feeling distressed about disagreements between her and her husband on childcare, cooking, work commitment and going to the pub. What is more, Helen is able to perceive divorce in a positive manner because of her thinking of using friends as an informal social support and her perception that being herself or looking after her needs is essential and is more important than staying in a marriage where she is losing her sense of who she is.

Helen takes on non-Confucian gender discourses through her interaction with social institutions, such as her native family, counselling organizations and a women's self-help group. The counselling sensitizes Helen to value

individual qualities. The women's self-help group, which provides opportunities for Helen to see other women's marital problems, transmits non-Confucian gender discourses such as the idea of "gender equality", and that enables Helen to think for herself as a wife, mother and in-law. However, Helen is capable of challenging the non-Confucian gender discourses of "gender equality" and "marital sex" by imposing her thoughts. This shows that despite the influence, Helen is able to disagree with the non-Confucian gender discourses and perceive them in a critical manner by paying attention to what is important for her resulting from her reflections on life experiences of interacting with work colleagues and family members.

Helen's narratives provide evidence that challenges some of the available research results on Western women. For example, despite valuing "gender equality", which often transmits ideas that a woman should affirm what she wants, it is possible that an educated working mother will refuse to commit herself to the idea or relate the idea to her identities. It is possible that domestic work is perceived by a working mother as a "personal choice" and that she may not relate domestic work to "gender", which is a term used in much research on Western women to evaluate a woman's sense of self in terms of her views about the equal division of domestic labour with her husband.

However, Helen's stories also reveal that she takes Taiwanese Confucian family tradition as a reference and perceives and defines her family roles within a Confucian gender binary. Evidence includes her using the terms

"selfish" and "mistress" to describe or define herself, which implies her awareness that she does not fit in with the category of "Dutiful Wife and Loving Mother". She also reveals that she is aware of her inferior financial position to her breadwinner husband. Despite her awareness of the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition, Helen does not necessarily agree with the Confucian gender discourses. The reason for that is because she decides to pay attention to and commit to gender discourses that she identifies with and thus might not perform her family roles according to the Confucian tradition or define herself in terms of the tradition without employing her thoughts.

Helen uses the term 'natural' to stress that she is herself and that she accepts things as the way they are and therefore does not judge anyone by her own value.

In the next chapter, I will present results of Helen's narratives about personal and work identities. They are important data because Helen's perceptions and identities as a person and worker represent the life experiences that she consider as significant to her.

**CHAPTER SEVEN NARRATIVE ANALYSIS AND** 

**RESULTS: PERSONAL AND WORK IDENTITIES** 

Despite the original focus of this research, I encouraged Helen to tell

stories that reveal her life experiences. This helps to probe for extra data

which this study did not anticipate originally but which contains information

that presents "significant ways individuals construct and express meaning"

(Mishler 1986:67). For this reason, I include data that do not fall into the

categories of the four dimensions or family role identities, but reveal how

Helen perceives and defines herself in her marital life. More details will be

discussed as follows.

This study found that in Helen's marital life, in addition to perceiving and

defining herself as a wife, mother and daughter/sister-in-law, she also sees

herself as an individual and employee and develops a sense of self as a

person and a worker. In the following sections, I will show aspects of these

perceptions and identities of Helen and present stories about how she

takes on gender discourses through her interactions with social institutions

that affect her perceptions and identities.

187

### 7.1 The identity of a person

# 7.1-1 Interaction with the native family

Helen tells stories about how she became aware of the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition and its emphasis on the importance of family relations through her interactions with her native family:

Helen: They feel what matters is relationships. How you do things depends on who you are dealing with. Kinship means everything... It lacks a sense of judgement. I cannot bear them. Any relation, they think relation is everything... My mom did not understand why I did not help my sister (with her financial problems). But I feel I cannot help the kind of person like you (her sister). I myself do not spend much. My husband works very hard. My kids study in a public school. Your (Helen's sister) kids study in a private school. You spend your money like that and you want me to get you a mortgage on my house, just because you are my sister. I am not relation-oriented.

However, identifying with individual qualities enables Helen to define herself as a person who decides to differentiate herself from the relationbased Taiwanese Confucian family tradition:

Helen: Fairness and justice is important for me...I know clearly that it is the core of my value...fairness and justice enables me to behave very

differently from my mother, sister and brother. I do not care about relations.

What is more important is whether it is right or wrong.

Helen values the individual qualities of fairness and justice and that enables her to focus on matters that she considers important as a person and thus think differently from the relation-based Taiwanese Confucian family tradition. This indicates that the ideas of individual qualities are a form of non-Confucian gender discourse that enables Helen to reject the Confucian gendered binary, which determines that a married woman should give up herself (and her own opinions and preferences) and put her family (others) first.

### 7.1-2 The identity of person and social institutions

In this section, I will look at social institutions that have influences on Helen's identities as a person. I illustrate how she takes on gender discourses through her interactions with social institutions that affect her perceptions and identities.

#### Native family

Helen identifies with individual qualities, such as fairness and justice. She expresses how her father had an impact on her identities as a person:

**Helen**: I am like my father. He values fairness and justice so much. I think this quality is already in my blood...

Helen tells stories about how her interactions with parents and siblings affect her sense of self as an independent person:

Helen: At the time (when Helen was a little girl) you did not know what to expect from people. You felt you needed to deal with everything all by yourself...My father was hardly home. My mom played mah-jong<sup>3</sup> all the time. My brothers and sisters were never around. I felt I had to deal with everything all by myself. Many things happened, but you were used to keeping things to yourself. It has become a habit. You (I) deal with things all by yourself (myself).

# Counselling

Not only does Helen's father enable her to identify with individual qualities, but also her working experiences in counselling organizations at an early stage of her career inspire Helen to think about herself as a person:

**Helen**: When I worked as a counsellor, I spent lots of time trying to figure out what I was good at and it kept coming to me that fairness and justice was an important value in my life...

Her counselling experience, including seeking advice from psychiatrists, enables Helen to identify with individual qualities, such as independence:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>A game of Chinese origin usually played by four persons with 144 domino-like pieces or tiles marked in suits, counters, and dice, the object being to build a winning combination of pieces.

Helen: My counselling training in the past emphasized that everybody is an independent individual. This is the core and the basic. It is not incompatible with anything...He (a counsellor) used to say that I was like Ching Ko<sup>4</sup>. What the story tells you is that you...live for others. You help others to make their dreams come true. He (the tutor) thought I was like Ching Ko. Ching Ko had dreams and he was passionate. But he tried to assassinate the King of Chin Dynasty for the prince and he forgot that he had his own aspirations. The meeting with him (the counsellor) had a great influence on me. It is about me. I had dreams but expected that I could meet someone who I could work with to make my dreams come true. At the time, I was upset. I worked for the government. Many of my colleagues were hypocritical in order to survive in our department. I was the only person who criticized the whole system all the time. It made my life difficult. Then I decided to go to see him (the counsellor) because I did not feel I was in a good condition.

The counselling sessions originally were not set out to teach Helen about her independence. However, the process of counselling somehow helped Helen to clarify that she was "other-centred". The inspiration enables Helen to differentiate herself from the Taiwanese Confucian gender binary in the sense that it enables Helen to question her intention of "living for others" (sacrificing herself for others) and as a result, encourages her to become an independent individual (self-reliant):

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Ching Ko was a brave man of the State of Wei in the Epoch of Warring States, who was asked by the prince of Yen to assassinate the King of Chin Dynasty but failed.

Helen: The influence is that it (the story of Ching Ko) has enabled me to see, to feel, start to feel that there must be something that you can do. It is easier to be self-reliant. It is hard to ask for things from others. I wonder whether you want to live for others and place your hope on people. After that counselling, I felt I was different...I feel self-help is important before you ask people to help you (laugh).

The above section has shown that Helen's interactions with social institutions, such as her native family and counselling organizations, have enabled Helen to focus on herself by identifying with individual qualities, such as fairness, justice and independence. These social institutions transmit non-Confucian gender discourses that are in conflict with the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition which values family relations. They inspire Helen to perceive herself as an independent person who is able to pay attention to her needs and focus on what is important for her in marital life.

#### 7.2 The identity of a worker

#### 7.2-1 Interaction with the husband

Helen tells stories of how she perceives herself as a worker when she thinks of her family role as a wife:

Helen:...I am the person who is very tough and organized (when Helen is in the work place)...With other things in everyday life I am "idiotic"...I remember once a journalist interviewed my husband. He (the journalist)

asked my husband what worried him most about working abroad and he (Helen's husband) said that he worried about you (Helen) because you (Helen) did not know how to look after yourself.

Helen's statements raise the issue of "the fear of success". She seems to feel fine with impressing her husband as a woman who is not good at managing every day life. Research shows that living under the relation-based Taiwanese Confucian family tradition, a married Taiwanese working woman might have a fear of success because a good wife should not hurt her husband's pride and that a married woman's career should not be a threat to her husband's position as the main breadwinner in the household (Chuang Shu-fang and Chen Chang-I 1994). With this, I ask Helen whether her husband's views about her being a wife who 'needs to be looked after' are related to any worry of her being a successful career woman in competition with her husband:

Liu: Do you not want your husband to see what you are like in the work place?

Helen: The truth is...If it is something that I care about, I am committed and very competent. But if it is something that I do not mind...What I understand and what I am good at mostly is related to my work. With other things in everyday life...I rely on him a lot.

Helen does not relate the fear of success to the fact that her husband does not seem to be aware that she is 'tough' at work. She explains that how she presents herself as a wife at home is related to her identity as a worker:

Helen: How can I be assertive if I do not know things? My focus is only on certain areas (her job). With those, I am very precise and I pay attention to detail. Apart from that, I know nothing, like an "idiot". So I agree with whatever he says. In the household, with things like buying a car, buying a house or refurbishing the house, I agree with his decisions. Like, the other day he said we should visit a place. I took it seriously and searched for relevant information...

Helen's stories suggest that research on how working mothers perceive their career in relation to their family roles should also investigate other identities, such as work-related identities, which women may consider important for them as wives. Married working mothers' perceptions of family roles might be related to their personal commitments at work. In her stories, Helen uses the word, "nature", to stress that she does not restrict herself to any predefined (family) responsibilities as a worker (wife) because she is able to focus on what she wants and chooses to pay attention to what is important for her. The following quotations evidence this point:

Helen: I insist that I have my own standards of dealing with work and colleagues...It is because I care about myself and things that are relevant

to me, every minute. I try hard to keep myself in a good condition. I do not force myself to... If I am not in a good condition, I would, I know it, I would go and get some sleep, or go on a holiday as such. I spend every minute to keep myself in a good condition. I feel, I always care about how I feel. And, my needs have always been my focus. If I do not feel well, I deal with it.

However, Helen perceives herself as 'selfish' because she pays attention to her needs and looks after her well being:

Helen: I do not deny that I am a selfish person...I do things that are good for me and interest me...I do things that make me happy. Like, I run courses in the women's self-help group. I did it before and our members thought it was great. They keep saying to me that I should do more...But I feel I do it because it interested me and that helped them. I was happy...Now they want me to run another session, but I will not do it just because they need it or they like me, or because they admire me making me feel it is an honour to do it. No, if I agree to do it, it is because I want to do it and I feel it helps.

Helen's account of selfishness implies that she takes the Confucian womanly moral standards as a reference. The standard determines that a married woman should put others, especially family, first and sacrifice herself for others (the family). Despite the influence of the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition on her, Helen is able to challenge the idea of sacrificing herself for the family:

**Helen**: I do not like the emphasis of family relations...I insist that things should be done in certain ways...I do not feel that things can be done in your ways just because you are my family and you are not happy. No, you still have to deal with problems by yourself, but I can give you whatever you need to help you.

Helen explains that the reason why she is capable of rejecting the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition, which values relationships more than individuals, is because she identifies with independence:

Helen: If what you talk about is rights (women's rights), then it is about independence...My beliefs belong to myself. You have your own faith and that is for you. But you cannot judge people by saying to them what is right, or what is wrong. As long as you have a good life and you do not disturb people, I feel your values are good...but I feel many of us (the members from the women's self-help group) feel only I (Helen's colleagues) have the right answers...

Helen's focus of herself enables her to be "self-reliant" as a wife and worker:

Helen: When I consider things, I only see what will happen if I do it all by myself. What the worst situation is... Then you do not feel your expectations for people are high. Otherwise, when facing some (bad) results, you feel it is other people's fault. I am capable of seeing things from

that angle. So, any help from others is an extra help... You cannot blame people by saying that you have ruined my life. It is your own fault. You place your own happiness on things that are out of your control. I would never place my hope on anyone. I think of what I can do, to what extent and what I am willing to do, otherwise, I do not want to do it.

The above section has shown that despite living under the influence of the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition that values family relations, Helen is capable of challenging the tradition by focusing on what she wants and what she considers as important. By asserting that she focuses on herself, Helen is able to positively define herself in terms of her work performance and identify with personal qualities, such as independence and self-reliance, when perceiving her family role as a wife.

Helen uses the term, "nature", to describe how she perceives challenges and difficulties in the work place:

Helen: I do not think of the worst situation (at work). But it comes naturally. It is a mechanism. I do not do it purposely. I feel it is naturally a principle of surviving... What is the worst situation, and you do not, I do not expect what people can give you.

"Nature" in this context is used to stress that Helen does not purposely intend to do things, such as preparing for the worst. The term "natural" is

also used to refer to "mechanism" and that indicates that Helen believes that things should be done by simply following the ways they are.

#### 7.2-2 The identity of the worker and social institutions

In this section, I will explain how Helen's identities as a worker are influenced by her interactions with social institutions, such as the women's self-help group.

### The women's self-help group

Helen's stories show that her perceptions and identities as a worker are influenced by the women's self-help group that has inspired her to "focus on herself":

Helen: It was many years ago. At the time, people had expectations for counsellors, with high moral standards. Like, you could not do many things. You could not be quick-tempered and your manners towards people could not be hostile as such. I was unhappy. I faced some conflicts. But because you thought you had to learn to behave like that (being "moral"), the conflicts were very big. The women's self-help group made me happy because it has enabled me to understand that what a person is does not have to be related to her/his social roles. Because of this thinking, I do not feel I have to fit in with social expectations and I feel it is a great relief...After this turning point, I thought, well, it does not matter what the society is like, I am who I am... I can be myself.

The "social roles" mentioned in Helen's stories represent social expectations that are "attached to (work) positions occupied in networks of (work) relationships" (Stryker and Burke 2000:286). Helen used to feel that she had to comply with the moral standards from the counselling organizations. However, the women's self-help group inspired Helen to focus on herself and helped her to assert that she can be herself without conforming to expectations or moral standards that reinforce ideas of how she should behave or conduct herself as a worker. Because of the inspiration, Helen is able to isolate herself from the moral standards attached to her "social roles" in the work place and is empowered to pay attention to what she wants to be.

# 7.3 Summary

The above sections show that in relation to Helen's perceptions of her family role as a wife, she defines herself as a person and a worker. Helen "focuses on herself" and that enables her to define herself as an independent person who is able to identify with personal qualities, such as fairness, justice and self-reliance, in her perceptions of her marital life. Because of her capability to pay attention to who she is, Helen is able to isolate herself from "social roles", such as people's expectations for her as a wife and an employee, as well as challenge the Taiwanese Confucian gendered binary which determines that a (married) woman should be othercentred, putting her family (others) first at home and in the work place.

Helen's interactions with her native family during childhood and her working experiences in counselling organizations, including seeking advice from psychiatrists, enable her to identify with personal qualities, including independence, fairness, justice and self-reliance that transmit the ideas that one should pay attention to one's own strength as an individual. Under the influence of the women's self-help group, Helen decides to pay attention to herself and is empowered to stand against the expectations from others, including work colleagues and family members. She refuses to fit in with the 'social roles' attached to her family role as a wife and as an employee in her work life.

Helen considers her career as a personal commitment. This presents different results when compared to research on the fear of success that suggests that working women are hesitant to show that they have been successful in their career because they do not want to be a threat to their husbands' position as the main breadwinner in the household (Chuang Shu-fang and Chen Chang-I 1994).

Helen uses the term "natural" in her narratives about personal and work identities. The usage of this term is mainly to stress that she accepts matters as the way they are and that it is not necessary to change people because they have the right to be themselves.

In the following chapter, I will summarize the results that show Helen's perceptions and identities as a wife, mother, in-law, person and worker. I

Chapter Seven Narrative Analysis and Results: Personal and Work Identities

will also discuss how the results are related to current literature and theories.

# **CHAPTER EIGHT DISCUSSION**

This chapter will be divided into three main sections: Firstly, I will explain how the findings answer the research question. I will summarise the finds of how a Taiwanese working mother perceives her family roles and how she develops identities in the 21<sup>st</sup> century. I will then illustrate the influences of gender discourses on her perceptions and identities. The findings will be discussed in relation to the four dimensions of domestic work and childcare, verbal communication, looking after in-laws and marital sex. Social institutions that influence her perceptions and identities will also be discussed. In the second part, I will show how the findings are related to theoretical perspectives. Concepts that help to identify and conceptualize important issues that are related to the identities of a working mother will also be mentioned. Finally, I will reflect on the methods that I have used to collect and analyze the data.

# 8.1 Perceptions, identities and gender discourses

The literature review showed that the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition does not necessarily determine the ways that educated Taiwanese working mothers perceive their family responsibilities, such as childcare (Gates 1991). For example, educated married women are less likely to define their family roles for the purpose of marital obligations than uneducated married women (Kane and Schippers 1996; Christopher and Sprecher 2000). My research findings support this statement. Helen's perceptions indicate that it is possible for an educated working mother to reject or disagree with the

Taiwanese Confucian gendered binary which reinforces Confucian gender discourses such as "Dutiful wife and Loving Mother" and "Three Obediences and Four Virtues". Because of her capability to challenge the tradition, she is also able to decide to not take on the family duty in a traditional way. For example, despite being aware of the Taiwanese Confucian womanly moral standards, Helen "focuses on herself" by paying attention to her physical and emotional wellbeing and becoming aware of what is important to her, she feels free to value individual qualities, such as fairness and justice, and thus is able to define herself as an independent individual in her marital relationship. However, in the case of Helen "education" includes not only university degrees, but also the training that she received when she worked in a counselling organization and a women's self-help group. My study suggests that the level of education enables a working mother to pay attention to what she wants and what is important for her and that empowers her to challenge the restriction of a gendered binary, in this case, the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition. This includes her valuing her career ambition and her personal qualities and defining herself in terms of those, rather than merely considering herself as a wife and mother who should be family centred.

Regarding verbal communication, my findings confirm that a working mother who identifies with communication is likely to expect "feedback" from her husband, such as requesting her husband to share thoughts and feelings with her (see Wilkie, Ferree and Ratcliff 1998; Coltrane 2000; Hawkins, Marshall and Meiners 1995; Lin 2005). Helen's perceptions also

reveal that verbal communication is somehow associated with a married woman's expectation for an "intimate" relationship (Duncombe and Marsden 1993:227). A working mother might expect her husband to have a mutual understanding of her thoughts and feelings about her job, for example.

Intimacy is in general "often a very specific sort of knowing and loving" and is associated with the idea of "being close to another person" (Jamieson 1999:1). In Helen's stories, intimacy refers to not only physical contact but also includes what Jamieson calls "disclosing intimacy" or what is identified by Hochschild (1989) as "emotion work". Emotional disclosure requires "the ability to communicate" with each other, meaning engaging in verbal expression (Duncombe and Marsden 1993; Erickson 1993:221). Communication in this context is important because intimacy consists of mutual understanding that involves the "intimacy of the (two) self" (Jamieson 1999:1), which requires "mutual disclosure, constantly revealing your inner thoughts and feelings to each other" (Jamieson 1999:1).

However, Helen does not seem to have an intimate relationship with her husband because of the fact that her husband is not verbally expressive and that he does not understand Helen's passion for her work. Previous research has shown that married women who commit to communication and intimacy become distressed or experience marital difficulties if they do not receive feedback from their husbands (see Erickson 1993; Duncombe and Marsden 1993). However, my research findings show that a working mother who is able to focus on herself, such as paying attention to what

she considers important as an independent person, in her marriage, is less likely to face marital conflict or suffer from distress. For example, Helen's perceptions indicate that she perceives herself and her husband as independent individuals, and believes that she and her husband should be in an 'equal' marital relationship, meaning they have rights to be themselves and make decisions on matters that are close to their hearts. Because of her perceptions, Helen has not suffered overly from distress or experienced major marital conflict despite her disappointment with her inexpressive husband.

Regarding marital sex, Helen's identities and perceptions suggest that despite the influence of the Taiwanese Confucian gendered binary, a married woman in 21<sup>st</sup> century Taiwan is able to perceive marital sex in ways that do not conform to its restriction within the tradition. For example, Helen appears to be influenced by the Taiwanese Confucian womanly moral standards because she does not perceive herself and define herself as "sexual". However, Helen's perceptions reveal that she does not feel the issue of sex is important for her. Helen challenges the teaching that states that marital sex is important for married couples and reasons with me by stating that she is not interested in the issue of marital sex. Her perceptions of marital sex suggest that it is possible for a married woman in 21<sup>st</sup> century Taiwan to disagree with Confucian gender discourses by imposing her thoughts. The "Three Obediences and Four Virtues" tradition have historically prevented women from paying attention to their own sexual desire. The restriction in turn transmits Confucian gender discourses that

state that it is morally right for a married woman to be submissive to her husband and thus be faithful to him, meaning that she should not engage in sexual relationships with other men. However, Helen's rejection of the idea of faithfulness suggests that despite being aware of the tradition, it is possible for a working mother to isolate herself from such an influence by focusing on herself. This includes her perceiving faithfulness as a form of meaningless "constraint" for her and her marriage. Perhaps this helps to explain why married women in 21<sup>st</sup> century Taiwanese society have been more likely to think of or engage in extra-marital affairs than women in previous eras (Lin Helene H. 2005).

With regard to looking after in-laws, despite taking on the responsibility of looking after her mother-in-law at some points of her marital life, Helen does not perceive herself as a dutiful daughter-in-law. The literature review showed that the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition does not necessarily determine the ways that educated Taiwanese working mothers perceive filial obligation (Gates 1991). For example, research shows that Taiwanese married women in the 21<sup>st</sup> century are more likely to adopt non-Confucian ways in looking after their parents-in-law, such as placing them in a nursing or residential home (see Kao and Stuifbergen 1999; Statistical Units of Government Agencies 1998). Educated married women are less likely to define their family roles for the purpose of marital obligations than uneducated married women (Kane and Schippers 1996; Christopher and Sprecher 2000). My research findings support the above statements. Helen did not feel obligated to fulfil the "Filial Obligation" by physically looking

after her mother-in-law in the care home/hospital when her mother-in-law was ill. Her identification with the idea of focusing on herself enables her to take into account her own circumstances, such as availability of resources, convenience, her independence and companionship with her mother-in-law. Helen's stories provide an example that helps to explain the reason why an educated working woman in 21<sup>st</sup> century Taiwan perceives the responsibility of looking after in-laws in a non-Confucian manner. Because a married woman is able to think for herself, such as paying attention to what is important to her, she is less likely to feel obligated to conform to "Filial Obligation", which in tradition often determines that it is morally right for married women to put their parents-in-law first by providing physical help and looking after their parents-in-law.

This study found that the family role of sister-in-law is significant in Helen's marital life. Available literature has not shown that in the modern era, married Taiwanese women take on the responsibility of looking after their husbands' sisters and brothers. However, Helen's stories show that she has close relationships with her sister- and brother-in-law and has been taking care of them, such as providing meals for them whenever they are around. But once again, Helen does not perceive looking after them as an obligation. She defines herself as a sister-in-law who is able to think for herself. She makes decisions to look after them because it does not affect her identity as an independent individual or interfere with her intention of being herself.

However, previous research has shown that Taiwanese women in the 21<sup>st</sup> century are influenced by Confucian values (Wu and Minor 1997). Some of my research findings present similar results. On a few different occasions during the course of interviews. Helen defines herself as a "selfish" mother and "not an ideal wife and mother" to her husband. These are examples that show that a working mother in 21st century Taiwan continues to live under the influence of the Taiwanese Confucian tradition of "Dutiful wife and Loving Mother". The tradition that defines (married) women within a gendered binary framework transmits Confucian gender discourses that decide that a married woman should put her family first and sacrifice herself for the family. Helen is aware of this tradition and uses it as a reference in her perceptions of her family roles as a wife and mother. She does not think she meets the standard because she decides that she needs to look after her own social needs, such as meeting with friends, and satisfying her career ambition by ensuring that she is able to attend meetings. Helen does not feel she is a "loving mother" because she is not willing to always put her children first by staying home with her children. Her usage of the term "mistress" provides another example that shows the influence of the tradition on Helen. Helen uses the term "mistress" to describe how she feels when she has to put her husband first whenever he is around, because for her, her husband is the main breadwinner. "Mistress" often refers to a woman who is financially and sexually subservient to a man to whom she is not legally married. By addressing herself in that way, Helen might have perceived herself as being in an inferior position to her husband because of his greater financial contributions. Nevertheless, she seems to

appreciate the fact they her husband provides her and her children with good living standards. However, I interpret that Helen, who perceives her family roles as "selfish" and as "not an ideal wife and mother" as well as "mistress", does not necessarily identify with Confucian gender discourses. The identities of married women are influenced by their commitment to gender discourses (Kessler and Mckenna 1978:8). Although taking the tradition as a reference. Helen does not seem to commit to or identify with the Confucian gender discourses. Evidence includes the fact that the idea of "selfishness" has not influenced how she perceives and performs domestic work and childcare. Helen does not perceive domestic chores, such as cooking, which she has repeatedly stated she is not interested in, as a priority or a primary responsibility of her marital life. The findings suggest that a working mother is able to reject or disregard the influence of the tradition in a Confucian gendered binary society and develop her identities as a wife and mother against that tradition, if she is able to focus on herself by asserting what is important to her and paying attention to what is of interest to her.

#### Marital breakdown/divorce

Helen's narratives show that an intimate relationship is important for her, but yet she questions whether it is possible to have mutual understanding with her husband. As a result, Helen perceives divorce as "not unacceptable" or not "unthinkable". This finding suggests that when a married woman values her own happiness, a divorce becomes a "positive outcome" for her. This is especially true when she becomes financially

independent and is confident of her capability to survive from a marital breakdown because of her earning power and her capability of making use of recourses available, such as informal social network, to support her when need be. Research has indicated that although employment itself does not increase the divorce rate, an employed married woman is more likely to end her marriage than a non-employed one under circumstances when she and her husband are not happy with the marriage (Schoen, Astone, Rothert, Standish and Kim 2002). With this, Helen's perceptions explain that the reasons why a working woman is likely to end her marriage might be because she perceives divorce in a positive manner because of her (financial) independence and her confidence of self-reliance and the support available for her. Empowered by these, a divorce is considered by her as an acceptable solution when she feels unhappy with her marital relationship. When married women see themselves as "autonomous people with wishes of their own they are less ready to accept the solutions... (such as)... adjusting (and) ...sacrificing...(Because they are) becoming tired of being the peace-makers... (and) want to be the recipients of such feelings" (Beck and Beck-Gernsheim 1995:88). As a result, "it is better to end the marriage than put up with shortcomings" (Beck and Beck-Gernsheim 1995:94). In the case of Helen, she defines herself as a selfreliant woman (wife) and expects to "place happiness" in her own hand. A divorce is not "unthinkable" or "unacceptable" because she is not willing to comply with her husband's expectation and become a "Dutiful Wife and Loving Mother" by losing herself and her own happiness as an individual. A working woman, especially when she is educated and employed and thus

is (financially) independent, might potentially perceive divorce as a "positive" marital outcome because "it is possible for her to conceive of being alone rather than living unhappily in a couple…a new life begins with the divorce-a life of their own" (Beck and Beck-Gernsheim 2002:72).

#### Identities and social institutions

Helen's narratives show that her interactions with her native family, especially in her youth, and work experience in counselling organizations, including seeking advice from psychiatrists, have played important roles in influencing how she perceives and develops her identities. In a Confucian context, these social institutions reinforce non-Confucian gender discourses that enable Helen to identify with individual qualities, such as fairness, justice, confidence and independence, and help her to assert her identities as an independent person in her marriage.

The women's self-help group is also an important social institution that inspires Helen to challenge the relation-based Taiwanese Confucian society, as it transmits non-Confucian gender discourses that have influenced Helen's identities. The women's group has enabled Helen to decide to be herself in her marriage and in the work place, although living and working under the moral pressures that reinforce the idea that she should conform to the (family) relation-based tradition and fit in with "social (family) roles" can be strong. What is more, the women's self-help group provides opportunities for Helen to see other women's marital problems. This inspires her to focus on herself, such as becoming aware of her

happiness and be herself by paying attention to what is important for her as a wife, mother and in-law. The women's self-help group transmits non-Confucian gender discourses through the education of "gender equality" and by providing courses that teach women about the importance of "marital sex". Despite her disagreement with some of the "teaching", these non-Confucian gender discourses inspire Helen to constantly examine her marital relationship by thinking for herself and of herself.

My study suggests that within a Confucian context, social institutions including the native family, counselling organizations and the women's self-help group play an important role in transmitting non-Confucian gender discourses and inspire/empower a working mother to develop identities as a wife, mother, in-law, worker and person in non-Confucian ways.

### 8.2 How the findings are related

In the following sections, I will first discuss how my findings are related to theoretical perspectives. This study is a case study that is aimed at testing my proposition that it is possible for an educated working mother in an intricate, 21<sup>st</sup> century Taiwanese society to develop identities by employing or imposing her thoughts, thereby challenging the restrictions of a Confucian gendered binary. In the sections I will explain how my findings have provided evidence to support my proposition. I will look at concepts, including "nature", "reflection" and "reflexivity" and "differentiation", to illustrate how the findings are related to current research and theories.

# 8.2-1 Research findings and theoretical perspectives

Informed by Derrida's view of "Difference", I have used themes, including "revise", "reverse" and "deferral" to form my theoretical perspectives on identities (see chapter four Theoretical Perspective and Conceptual Framework). "Revising" is used to explain that I reject the methods that examine identities within a gendered binary framework. The binary often defines what women are in terms of a predetermined hierarchy and patriarchy, which decides that women (femininity) are inferior to men (masculinity) and passively and restrictively categorizes women as domestically-oriented, emotional, dependent and inefficient. "Reversing" is used by this study to assert that the way that a woman perceives her family roles and develops identities should not be examined by predetermined categories that reinforce the meanings of binary oppositions. Another important concept is "deferral" which is used to explain that the influence of gendered binary oppositions should not be ignored when investigating a woman's perceptions and identities. That is, the "sameness" should be "deferred", meaning that one should question any approach that sees women as universally submissive to masculinity in a gendered binary society. Every woman's identities might be different, depending on their cultural, social and historical backgrounds. For my study, by using the concept of "deferral", how a woman perceives her family roles and defines her identities is investigated by encouraging my interviewee to tell stories in her own words in order to explore her subjective views. I looked into her narratives and found that she was able to challenge the Confucian

gendered binary and decide who she was by employing or imposing her thoughts that resulted from her interactions with different social institutions which transmitted Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses, such as her native family, counselling organizations and a women's self-help group.

Regarding my theoretical framework, I propose that because of Taiwanese working mothers' increasing contact with social institutions, it is possible for them to challenge the Confucian gendered binary. This is because the development of different social institutions resulting from political, economic and social changes often transmits contrasting or different gender discourses that are in conflict with the Taiwanese Confucian tradition. My research findings showed that Helen's life experiences with different social institutions enabled her to take on Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses during different time periods and these have gradually affected how she has perceived her family roles and defined who she is as a wife, mother and in-law. The findings suggest that my theoretical framework is useful in conceptualizing how gender discourses influence a Taiwanese working mother's perceptions and identities in 21st century Taiwanese society. It helps me understand that a woman's identities involve the process of her self-attributions, which result from commitments, thinking, reflections and self-awareness, and through her interactions with social institutions where she is able to take on different gender discourses.

#### "Nature"

In Helen's narratives, on many occasions she used the term "natural" when telling stories about her relationships with her husband. "Nature" within a Confucian context is associated with the meaning of "harmony" when it is applied to relationships. Because this study set out to explore the subjective experiences of a working mother within a cultural context, it is worth explaining how, within a Confucian context, "nature" is used to describe a (harmonious) relationship.

From the perspective of Confucianism, human beings and "the world" (earth)" should form a unity. It is "the world" that imparts to human beings their "nature" (the ways they are) (Cua 1975).

Confucianism views "the world" as a mystery of existence. Rather than trying to categorize or analyze it, Confucian thinkers consider the existence of "the world" as something that is presupposed and transcends man's knowledge. No meaning or concept can be developed to interpret "the world" itself. The existence of "the world" reminds human beings that individuals should be aware that there is something that goes beyond the intellectual pursuits of the human being. This indicates that the Confucian way of perceiving "the world" is a moral view. The transcendence of "the world" lifts up human beings' hearts and minds, so individuals should extend their ability to confront hardship and go beyond their inability to feel the pain of others and learn to be sensible and sympathetic towards others

(Cua 1975). Human beings can learn from "the world" and develop their "nature" by identifying with "central harmony", which is a concept that can be applicable to a relationship. I will use "central harmony" to interpret Helen's perceptions of her marital relationship. When human beings deal with their relationships, it is important to take into account the circumstances of others, so that individuals are able to function in a way that fits in best with the two parties.

Helen uses "natural" to describe her ways of perceiving relationships with people, especially her husband. Within Helen's narrative context, the term "natural" is used to stress that she accepts people as the way they are and that she does not intend to change people or press people for any outcome. From that perspective, it would not be "natural" if Helen forced her way on others that caused conflict between her, her husband or others. For example, Helen stressed that as a wife it was not "natural" for her to tell her husband what to do with his career without considering his circumstances. Because of such a way of thinking, she does not press her husband to make any change or to make any decision against his will and she accepts that her husband has the right to be himself.

#### 8.2-2 "Reflection" and "reflexivity"

This study set out to explore the possibility of a working mother challenging a gendered binary and interpreting gender discourses by employing or imposing her thoughts. Helen's narratives evidence that an educated working mother is able to "reflect" on gender discourses. To "reflect" is to take on knowledge (gender discourses) and define oneself in terms of the knowledge, because reflections "somehow subsume the object under the subject of knowledge" (Beck and Beck-Gernsheim 2002:ix). Helen's narratives show that she reflects on Confucian gender discourses, such as "mistress" and "selfishness". Helen's reflections enable her to become aware that she lives on her husband's great earning power, and that she is a mother who is not "loving", or "dutiful" to her children. Helen also reflects on non-Confucian gender discourses. She reflects upon childhood experiences where she spent much time by herself and learned to manage problems on her own, and as a result, defines herself as an independent person and a competent worker. She also reflects on non-Confucian gender discourses transmitted by counselling services that enable her to identify with individual qualities, such as independence and confidence.

Noticeably, Helen's reflections of gender discourses are related to her childhood and counselling experiences at an early stage of her family life. Reflection takes place within a "fixed and predefined" social framework (Beck and Beck-Gernsheim 2002:5) in a sense that the native family and counselling services provided gender discourses that clearly and perhaps profoundly showed what was "right" for Helen at the time. The reason for that is because "reflection presumes apodictic knowledge and certainty" (Beck and Beck-Gernsheim 2002:ix). When Helen looked for material to fulfil her sense of self and develop identities at the early stage of her family life, her experiences of interacting with her native family and counselling

organizations served as references for her to develop identities. Because of her need for identities and asserting a sense of self, she used the knowledge (gender discourses) that was introduced to her and defined herself as a wife and mother accordingly.

Helen's stories of a later stage of her marital life, including working for a women's self-help group and the relationships with her husband, reveal that she is able to assert her sense of self by valuing her interest, paying attention to matters that she considers important, and looking after her wellbeing. On many occasions, Helen described herself as "being herself" and "she is who she is". It is this "I am I" that indicates that Helen can also be "reflexive". Being reflexive is being "indeterminate" because it is about making choices (Beck and Beck-Gernsheim 2002:ix). At this later stage of Helen's marital life, she is becoming more educated and knowledgeable and therefore is "interest-constituted", meaning that she is able to think for herself, and is directed by "intentionality", which refers to the fact that Helen is capable of making sense of matters and making decisions and choices that satisfy her needs as an individual in her marriage (Beck and Beck-Gernsheim 2002:ix). That is, she is starting to be aware that she has to decide what she wants in order to secure a sense of being true to herself. She has become capable of thinking about matters in a critical manner and paying attention to what is meaningful for her and what can make her happy.

However, Helen also faces "uncertainty". She realizes that in 21<sup>st</sup> century Taiwan, there are "options" as a result of political, economic and social changes (Giddens 1991). The options result from a transformation in a changing society. With this, Luhmann's concept of "transition" helps this study to illustrate the transformation in relation to reflexivity (Luhmann 1986). For example, a 21<sup>st</sup> century Taiwanese society is a society whereby "one single subsystem of society" (Luhmann 1986:15), such as the Confucian gendered binary system, is no longer a dominant system that determines the ways of life of individuals. As a result, "a greater differentiation of personal and social systems" is formed (Luhmann 1986:15). This transition allows more personal space for individuals to cultivate a "unique" sense of self, instead of conforming to one predetermined social framework. The reason for that is because "less claim is made to specific positions" (Luhmann 1986:15). Within different social institutions, different gender discourses are transmitted and individuals are allowed personal space to negotiate those gender discourses to develop identities. They are involved in different projects at different stages of life cycles and are less likely to feel obligated to live under pressure of any form, due to constantly changing roles and positions in different institutional settings. As a result, instead of following certain rules, every individual attributes their sense of self to "specific social systems" (gender discourses) in different ways, depending on how they perceive and interpret the gender discourses that represent "the level of their respective personality systems" (Luhmann 1986:15-16).

In 21<sup>st</sup> century Taiwanese society, the roles of an individual (a working mother) are still defined according to her social status. For example, she takes on the role as a worker in the work place and at the same time is a wife to her husband in the household (Luhmann 1986:14-15). However, the changing society cannot firmly place a working mother in a single Taiwanese Confucian gendered binary system because of the developments of other social institutions, such as higher educational institutions and counselling organizations. Each of the social institutions functions in different ways and thus transmits different gender discourses in conflict with the Confucian tradition. The weakening Taiwanese Confucian family tradition has created an intricate society where she has personal space to choose ideas from among Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses that she identifies with. In this sense a Taiwanese working mother's identities become "decidable down to the small print" (Beck and Beck-Gernsheim 2002:5). From the perspective of "transition", it is correct to say that living in an intricate society, it is possible that a working mother's educational level and employment enable her to become "reflexive". A "reflexive" woman does not necessarily define herself within the framework of a predetermined gendered binary. Instead, she is likely to decide what ideas she is willing to commit to in order to fulfil her sense of self (Giddens 1991). She has to live with the "uncertainty" because she is less likely to believe in the solutions adopted by older generations of women who were prepared to conform to and identify with the gendered binary oppositions that pre-determined women's family roles in terms of femininity.

### 8.2-3 "Differentiation"

The findings have shown that an employed and educated working mother is capable of rejecting the Taiwanese Confucian gendered binary, which reinforces Confucian gender discourses, such as "Dutiful Wife and Loving Mother" and "Filial Obligation". She is also able to disagree with non-Confucian gender discourses by imposing her thoughts. In this section, first of all, I will use the concept of "differentiation" to illustrate an educated working mother's capability to reject or disagree with gender discourses.

### "Differentiation of self"

"Differentiation" in psychology refers to a person's ability to "stand up for what you (this person) believe" and it involves "holding on to (oneself) yourself" (Schnarch 1997:14). Informed by Bowen's Family System Theory, the term is often used to categorize "the balance/imbalance of two life forces or instincts: the force for togetherness and the force for individuality" (Titelman 1998:14). Differentiation of self on an "intra-psychic" level refers to an individual's ability to examine circumstances in a thoughtful, rational and intellectual manner and "maintain full awareness of one's emotion" (Skowron, Wester and Azen 2004). On an "interpersonal" level, differentiation of self refers to an individual's ability to "develop an autonomous sense of self while still maintaining close connections with important others" (Skowron, Wester and Azen 2004). Above all, for this study, I particularly look at the concept of differentiation related to an

individual's ability to take on an "I" position in a relationship. It is an important factor that enables an individual to think for themselves in relationships, such as marriage (Tuason and Friedlander 2000). The ability of being able to differentiate oneself from others empowers an individual to "own their thoughts and feelings...(meaning they) do not need to conform to the expectations of others" (Tuason and Friedlander 2000:27). Self-differentiation therefore enables an individual to secure "their sense of self... and (they are able to) maintain well-defined selves" in relationships (Tuason and Friedlander 2000: 27).

The concept of differentiation is applicable to my research findings. Helen's perceptions and identities show that an educated working mother has the ability of self-differentiation.

On an intra-psychic level, Helen identifies with personal qualities, such as independence, and thus perceives every individual as a unique and confident being. Because of her identification, Helen is able to focus on herself and take on gender discourses that she perceives as meaningful to her. This shows that Helen is able to secure her sense of self in a thoughtful manner. By thinking of/for herself, she challenges the Taiwanese gendered and/or rejects non-Confucian Confucian binary gender discourses. Examples include: (1) Helen reflected on unpleasant experiences of cooking for her family and decided that she did not want to conform to the Taiwanese Confucian gendered binary that reinforced the Confucian gender discourses of "Dutiful Wife and Loving Mother". (2) Helen

rejected the Confucian gender discourses of "Filial Obligation" or family obligation. She looked after her mother-, sister- and brother-in-law under circumstances that did not cause her to lose a sense of herself. She refused to define herself as a dutiful daughter- or sister-in-law. (3) Helen asserted that she did not conform to the teaching of "gender equality" and marital sex. She argued that she had the right to see marital sex as a matter that was not of her interest. She criticized the idea of "gender equality" by stating that the division of domestic work between a man and a woman was nothing to do with fairness but that it was merely a married woman's "personal choice" and thus "gender" was irrelevant. (4) Helen criticized an emphasis of family relations which is at the core of the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition. She rejected the Confucian tradition of being "other-centred" and thus declined to value herself in terms of her sacrifice for family or colleagues. By securing a sense of self as an independent individual, Helen questioned her intention of "living for others" and decided to become "self-reliant". (5) Helen paid attention to her emotions. She was aware of how she felt and what she needed. Whenever she felt emotionally down or physically unwell, she developed strategies, such as taking few days off work, to look after her needs.

On an interpersonal level, Helen is able to take on an "I" position as well as enjoy "togetherness". For instance, in her marital relationship, Helen is able to develop identities that assert her sense of self as a person when considering her family role as a wife. She defines herself as an independent individual who is the greatest capital for herself. Despite her

strong sense of individuality, however, Helen also enjoys a sense of "togetherness" when being with her husband. From Helen's perspectives, "togetherness" refers to intimacy that involves physical contact, such as holding hands when her and her husband go for a walk, and cuddling when they watch television together.

## Differentiation, personal identity and role identity

Despite focusing on family role identities, Helen's perceptions also reveal that she defines herself as a person and worker in her marital life. In this study, "identity" is defined as a woman's self-attributions of what she is. The ways in which an individual defines her/himself as a person is described as their "person(al) identity" (Parekh 2008; Stets and Burke 2000). It is one's self-meanings (self-attributions) that involve "the set of meanings (attributions) that are tied to and sustain the self as an individual" (Stets and Burke 2000:229), whereas family role identity or work identity is described as a form of "role identity" (Stets and Burke 2000). Similar to "personal identity", "role identity" also involves self-meanings (self-attributions). Individuals are aware of their relations with others that contribute to a different sense of who they are. Role identities are a form of identity that "people apply to themselves as a consequence of the structural role positions they occupy" (Hogg, Terry and White 1995:256). In other words, individuals cultivate "the meanings attributed to the self while in a role" (Stets 1995:131). Helen's narratives suggest that a working mother is able to develop personal identities and role identities, such as defining her self as a wife, mother, in-law, and worker. However, personal identity and role

identity are "related to one another through a common system of meanings" (Stets 1995:144) and this might involve "self-consistency" that is maintained within one identity and among different identities (Stets 1995). This statement helps to explain the reason why Helen defines herself as a wife, mother, in-law, person and worker in a consistent manner. For example, Helen's perceptions of her family roles as a wife, a worker and a person consistently reveal that it is important for her to have a sense of self no matter in what position she finds herself in. She asserts the right for herself and others to make decisions based on what they want to do, as she perceives herself and others as independent individuals.

Helen's ability of self-differentiation might play an important role in enabling her to develop her role and personal identities. She is capable of developing a sense of 'I am who I am' while managing to have close family relationships with her husband, children and in-laws. Her ability of holding onto an 'I' position in her relationships enables her to distinguish herself from her family role identities by asserting that she is an independent individual in her marriage and that in turn helps her develop personal identities.

### Differentiation and social institutions

The findings of this study contribute to research on differentiation by showing how a working mother's interactions with social institutions promote her capability to differentiate herself from her circumstances.

Helen's narratives show that her interactions with a women's self-help group, counselling organizations and her native family enable her to develop the ability of self-differentiation. However, they influence her in different ways. Firstly, working with the women's self-help group inspires her to secure her sense of self. Through Helen's contact with colleagues and service users, a majority of them were women with marital problems; she became aware of the importance of self-reliance and independence. For example, stories of how "selfless" divorced women were abandoned by their husbands inspired Helen to think for herself and value her capability to survive irrespective of what her position was. She did not feel obligated to fulfil any family obligation, or conform to womanly moral standards, such as faithfulness.

Secondly, within a Confucian context, working as a counsellor or seeking advice from counsellors enable a working mother to identify with individual qualities. Because of her identification, she is able to criticize or reject the relation-based Confucian family tradition and that in turn promotes her ability to self-differentiate. Counselling/therapy is likely to enable an individual to engage in "the process of self-formation" in order to "build/rebuild a coherent and rewarding sense of identity" (Giddens 1991:75). Taking the example of differentiation, the self-fulfilment process very often has to be done "privately", that is, it is not about maintaining family or other kind of relationships, but is about fixing the self "alone" (Titelman 1998:18). For instance, inspired by the advice of a counsellor, Helen decided to become self-reliant and thus challenge the relation-based

Taiwanese Confucian family tradition. Through attending the counselling sessions, she realized that being "other-centred" could hinder her self-fulfilment. This awareness enables Helen to differentiate herself from the teaching of Confucian family relations. Helen questioned her intention of "living for others" and as a result, she decided to think for herself and thus rely on her own capability to achieve matters.

Counselling experiences, together with Helen's interactions with the native family, especially in her youth, particularly contributes to her differentiation of self as a mother. For instance, Helen identifies with and perceives self-confidence, security, personal development, growth, self-fulfilment and a sense of achievement as important individual qualities for her. Despite the influence of a relation-based tradition which values married women in terms of their contributions towards families, those experiences have influenced Helen's family role identity by enabling her to define herself as a mother who looks after her children well albeit not devoting herself to childcare as much as is expected by her husband.

### 8.3 Revisiting the methodological approach

My discussions with Helen about issues such as marital sex and how to define the women's self-help group confirm the research method proposed by this study. In the previous chapters, I stated that to comprehend the subjective experiences of women, their stories should be investigated by allowing them to tell stories in their own words (Mishler 1986). In one of the interview sessions, Helen stated that I should not assume that marital sex

was important for every individual. On another occasion, Helen said that the women's self-help group should not be associated with the women's movement. Encouraging interviewees to tell stories in their own words allows the interviewer to clarify any unclear issues with them (Olesen 2000). For example, to understand the reasons why Helen was not sure about the interview question on marital sex, I asked Helen to clarify her meanings of marital sex. Helen clarified that "physical contact" was more important than "intercourse". I also clarified with Helen her concern over the "wrong" definition of the women's self-help group. By doing so, Helen was offered an opportunity to further elaborate her thoughts and was able to explain to me that the organization meant a lot to her and that she would like to say something for her colleagues in order to avoid any "misunderstanding" about this particular organization.

### 8.4 Summary

In the first part of this chapter, I presented findings related to the four dimensions of domestic work and childcare, verbal communication, marital sex and looking after in-laws. In the sections I discussed how my findings which revealed a working mother's perceptions and identities as a wife, mother and in-law were related to current research. I also discussed the influences of Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses on a working mother and how she took on different gender discourses through

her interactions with social institutions, such as her native family, counselling organizations and a women's self-help group.

I then discussed how the findings were related to the theoretical perspective of Derrida's "Differance", and "nature", a term that appeared in Helen's narratives. "Reflection" and "reflexivity" were also important concepts that I used to define and conceptualize the ways that Helen perceived gender discourses and developed her identities at different stages of her marital life. I explained how the concept of reflexivity is associated with "uncertainty", because of a transformation in a changing society and how this "transition" allows more personal space for individuals, like Helen, to cultivate a "unique" sense of self, instead of conforming to one predetermined social framework.

I used the concept "differentiation" to define the ways that a working mother challenged or rejected a gendered binary. I looked at "differentiation of self" and how that enabled her to develop personal and role identities. I also illustrated the influences of social institutions on her ability to self-differentiate. In the final part of the chapter, I discussed my methodological approach that asserted the importance of exploring a working mother's subjective experiences in the interview sessions.

# **CHAPTER NINE CONCLUSION**

### 9.1 Findings

This exploratory study set out to investigate the identities of a working mother in 21st century Taiwan. A case study and life story interview methods were adopted to examine how an educated working mother in 21st century Taiwanese society perceived her family roles and developed identities as a mother, wife and in-law. I used narrative interviews and adopted semi-structured and structured interviewing methods with openended questions to probe her stories. I purposely selected an educated working mother, Helen, as my interviewee and expected to use this case study to test my propositions. I argued that because of living in an intricate society in which she was introduced to, inspired by and under the influence of different and often conflicting gender discourses, as a woman she would be able to challenge, reject or disagree with the gendered binary. I set out to find evidence that a working Taiwanese woman was able to commit herself to gender discourses and develop identities through a selfattribution process. I particularly examined how she took on Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses through her contact with social institutions, such as the native family, counselling organizations and women's self-help groups, and thereby developed a sense of self.

I encouraged Helen to tell stories in her own words in order to authentically capture her subjective experiences. I explored Helen's narratives of her interactions with different people and her participation in various activities/events during different times of her life. I examined how she related gender discourses to her sense of self as a wife, mother, in-law, employee and a person and how that affected the ways she managed her relationships with family members, friends, colleagues and family responsibilities.

My findings show how a working Taiwanese mother negotiates different gender discourses in an intricate Taiwanese society where the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition is no longer a dominant system that determines the ways individuals lead their lives. The Taiwanese Confucian family tradition, which has been playing an important role in shaping family relationships for many decades, continues to transmit Confucian gender discourses and reinforce the patriarchal ideas about women's family duties and womanly moral standards. However, because of the changes in politics, economics and society, other social institutions are developed transmitting non-Confucian gender discourses. Because of her working experiences with a women's self-help group and counselling organizations, the level of her education and the way she was brought up by her family, Helen has been introduced to different gender discourses, which often transmit conflicting ideas about what a woman should be compared to the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition.

Helen feels less obligated to conform to the tradition then women of previous historical era. She does not feel she needs to seek protection from her marriage and considers a divorce as a "positive outcome". This is because of her abilities of earning a living, organizing resources in favour of her, her confidence of self-reliance and her strength of self-differentiation, being able to think for and of herself as an individual, instead of putting collective welfare first or being other (family)-centred. As a consequence, she lives with "uncertainty", meaning she is constantly faced with "options" and needs to make decisions. This includes her deciding whether working or staying home, being a dutiful wife and loving mother or fulfilling her career ambition, whether she should change how she behaves as a wife and a mother to live up with the expectation of her husband and how she wants to manage her marital relationship with her husband and what kind of person she wants to be in her marriage.

I argue that an educated and employed Taiwanese working mother's perceptions of family roles and identities are complex. It cannot be denied that the Taiwanese Confucian patriarchal family tradition and womanly moral standards are lingering, but because of the "transition" of the Taiwanese society (Luhmann 1986), which in turn creates "options", it provides more personal space for individuals, including working mothers, to cultivate a unique sense of self, instead of conforming to a single predetermined social framework (Miller 2005, 2011). In the case of Helen, she lives with "uncertainty" (Luhmann 1986), meaning that she does not feel obligated to follow any predetermined rule. How she performs her

social and personal roles in different situations depending on her personal decisions resulting from how she makes sense of her circumstances. She is aware of the Taiwanese Confucian family tradition, but chooses not to comply with it and becomes critical of many Confucian gender discourses. She identifies with many non-Confucian gender discourses but can be critical of the contexts and does not necessarily agree with the ideas transmitted. She develops her identities through an ongoing process of self-attribution which involves lots of thinking, questioning, reflection and reflexivity until she secures a sense of self where she feels she can be true to herself and is happy with who she is as a wife, mother, in-law and an individual. The ways she perceives Confucian and non-Confucian gender discourses refers back to who she wants to be as an independent individual irrespective of her role as a wife, mother, in-law, or an employee.

### 9.2 My contribution to theories and literature:

My findings suggest that it is worthwhile examining a working mother's identities in terms of concepts, such as "transition", "consciousness" and "agency", which explore a woman's identities by asserting her abilities to interact with social institutions, narrate her life experiences and relate them to her sense of self. My research findings indicate that focusing on a working mother's narratives helps to unveil the complexity of how she interacts with a changing society of the 21<sup>st</sup> century, such as Taiwan, and how that shapes her sense of self. This point is important especially considering the fact that a changing society might create uncertainty

resulting from weakening gendered binary in this society, which might press individuals, including working mothers, to fall back on personal judgements and preferences to find out about solutions, instead of merely seeking advice from a set of tradition or authority figures, such as senior members in the family. Helen's narratives which show the complex nature of her selfattributions of who she is evidence this point. I have highlighted that her strong sense of "I am I", her strength of self-differentiation, her ability of reflexivity, and her determination of being true to herself are elements which contribute to her sense of self as a wife, mother, in-law, employee and a person. Her identities are complex because the way that she perceives her personal and social roles is not necessarily determined by any set rule, but depending on how she relates herself to gender discourses. However, this is not to say that the influence of a gendered binary should be disregarded. As Miller (Miller 2005, 2011) has pointed out, the context of how a (working) mother performs and narrates her family roles as a mother and a wife is related to her ways of viewing her circumstances and how she interacts with the (gendered) society. Her identities are complex because they are developed resulting from the interaction of "the persistence of patriarchal legacies and associated practices of agency" (Miller 2011:1106).

My findings contribute to current literature by exploring a working mother's subjective views about the idea of "gender equality" in relation to domestic work. My study reveals that a working mother perceives the division of domestic work between her husband and herself as a "personal choice".

She is capable of rejecting the idea of "gender equality", which in much research on married women in the West reinforces that an "egalitarian" woman should voice her view if her husband fails to share domestic work fairly with her. My findings, however, confirm current research by suggesting that to evaluate a woman's family role as a wife, one should explore how she narrates the meanings of domestic work and her caring roles, instead of using predetermined terminologies such as "gender equality" to restrictively define her identities and her views about family contributions.

My contribution to current literature also includes findings that reveal a Taiwanese working mother's views about divorce and extra-marital sex. A woman considers a divorce as a "positive" outcome because of her perceptions that a divorced woman can live and think for herself in a sense that she has an opportunity to decide how she wants to manage her relationships with her children without conforming to the "restriction" of marriage. My study also reveals that a married Taiwanese woman's perceptions of faithfulness might have an impact on her decision to engage in exra-marital affairs. For example, despite the emphasis of the Taiwanese Confucian tradition and the "Three Obediences and Four Virtues", a married Taiwanese woman may engage in extra-marital sex because she does not perceive 'faithfulness' as essential to her in her marital life as a wife.

### 9.3 Limitations to the study and areas for further work

This case study explored a woman's narrative that presented a working Taiwanese mother's subjective views about her perceptions and identities. However, due to the small sample size, this study is unable to generalize the findings to the population of educated working mothers. Nor can this study's outcome be generalized to women from different cultural backgrounds. However, I expect that my case study serves the purpose of a "pilot" study for future research on educated working mothers.

More research needs to done to understand the correlations between "differentiation", "reflexivity" and identities. How social institutions influence women's perceptions and identities should be explored in-depth, especially with women who live in a changing society where a gendered binary tradition is experiencing a transition because of political, economic and social developments. Research on women from a Confucian-based culture should study the influences of "social discourses" on women's perceptions and identities, instead of restrictively focusing on "gender discourses". The reason for that is because Confucianism is a complex cultural and philosophical system that transmits ideas about how people should define and conduct themselves in every aspect of their lives. Its influences on individuals, including women, are far more multifaceted than people's identities as men or women. The term, "nature", which was used by Helen to elaborate her thoughts about how she perceived her marital life, is an example. "Nature" in a Confucian context originally was used to define

# Chapter Nine Conclusion

human beings' harmonious relationships with the earth but it's teaching of harmony might have an impact on how a Taiwanese woman perceives and cultivates her (family) life as a wife and mother.

#### **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

Acker J. (1992) From Sex Roles to Gender Institutions. *Contemporary Sociology*, 21(5): 565-569.

Alcoff L. (2005) Cultural Feminism versus Post-Structuralism: The Identity Crisis in Feminist Theory. In Kolmar W. K. and Bartkowski F. (eds) *Feminist Theory: A Reader*. NY: McGraw-Hill.

Allen S. F. (2003) Working Parents with Young Children: Cross-National Comparisons of Policies and Programmes in Three Countries. *International Journal of Social Welfare*, 12(4):261-273

Allen S. M. and Hawkins A. J. (1999) Maternal Gate keeping: Mothers' Beliefs and Behaviours That Inhibit Greater Father Involvement in Family Work. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 61:199-212.

Amin S. and Al-bassusi N. H. (2004) Education, Wage Work and Marriage: Perspectives of Egyptian Working Women. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 66: 1287-1299.

Angrosino M. V. and Mays de Perez K. A. (2000) Rethinking Observation from Method to Context. In Denzin N. K. and Lincoln Y. (eds) *Handbook of Qualitative Research*. California: Sage Publications, Inc.

Artis J. E. and Pavalko E. K. (2003) Explaining the Decline in Women's Household Labour: Individual Change and Cohort Differences. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 65(3):746-761.

Awakening Foundation (2005) Awakening Foundation. Available at: <a href="http://www.awakening.org.tw">http://www.awakening.org.tw</a> (Accessed 18/03/05)

Bagozzi R. P., Wong N. and Yi Y. (1999) The Role of Culture and Gender in the Relationship between Positive and Negative Affect. *Cognition and Emotion*, 13(6):641-672.

Bailey J. (2002) From Public to Private: the Development of the Concept of the "Private". *Social Research*, 69:1 p15-31

Baxter J. (2000) The Joys and Justice of Housework. *Sociology*, 34(4):609-631.

Beck U. (1992) Risk Society: towards a New Modernity (Theory, Culture & Society). London: Sage Publication Ltd

Beck U. and Beck-Gernsheim E. (1995) *The Normal Chaos of Love*. Cambridge: Polity Press.

Beck U. and Beck-Gernsheim E. (2002) *Individualization*. London: Sage publications Ltd.

Becker P. E.and Moen P. (1999) Scaling Back: Dual-Earner Couples' Work-Family Strategies. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 61(4):995-1007.

Bell R. R. (1964) Some Factors Related to the Sexual Satisfaction of the College Educated Wife. *The Family Life Coordinator*, 13(2): 43-47.

Benhabib S. (1987) The Generalized and the Concrete Other: The Kohlberg –Gilligan Controversy and Feminist Theory. In Benhabib S. and Cornell D. (eds), *Feminism as Critique on the Politics of Gender*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.

Benin M. H. and Agostinelli J. (1988) Husbands' and Wives' Satisfaction with the Division of Labour. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 50(2):349-361.

Berg B. L. (2004) *Qualitative Research Methods*. NY: Pearson Education, Inc.

Berg B. L. (2007) *Qualitative Research Methods for the Social Sciences*. London: Pearson Education, Inc.

Berkel M. V. and Graaf N. D. D. (1999) By Virtue of Pleasantness? Housework and the Effects of Education Revisited. *Sociology*, 33(4):785-808.

Bernard J. (1982) The Future of Marriage. New Haven: Yale University Press.

Bianchi S. M., Milkie M. A., Sayer L. C. and Robinson J. P. (2000) Is Anyone Doing the Housework? Trends in the Gender Division of Household Labour. *Social Force*, 79(1):191-228

Bilton T., Bonnett K., Jones P., Skinner D., Stanworth M. and Webster A. (1996) *Introductory Sociology* (3<sup>rd</sup> edition). London: Macmillan.

Bittman M. and Wajcman J. (2000) The Rush Hour: the Character of Leisure Time and Gender Equality. *Social Forces*, 79(1): 165-189)

Blair, S. L., & Lichter, D.T. (1991). Measuring the division of household labour. Gender segregation of housework among American couples. *Journal of Family Issues*, 12, 91-113.

Blaisure K. R. and Allen K. R. (1995) Feminists and the Ideology and Practice of Marital Equality. *Journal and Marriage and the Family*, 57:5-19.

Blieszner R. and Mancini J. A. (1987) Enduring Ties: Older Adults' Parental Role and Responsibilities. *Family Relations*, 36(2): 176-180.

Brannen J. and Moss P. (1991) *Managing Mothers: Dual Earner Households* after *Maternity Leave*. London: Unwin Hyman Ltd.

Brines J. (1994) Economic Dependency, Gender, and the Division of Labour at Home. *The American Journal of Sociology*, 100(3): 652-688.

Browne C. V. (1995) Empowerment in Social Work Practice with Older Women. *Social Work*, 40(3):358-364

Bryman A. (2001) Social Research Methods. NY: Oxford University Press.

Butler J. (2005) From Gender Trouble: Feminism and the Subversion of Identity. In Kolmar W. K. and Bartkowski F. (ed) *Feminist Theory: A Reader*, NY: McGraw-Hill.

Burke, P. J. and Tully J. (1997) The Measurement of Role/Identity. *Social Forces*, 55:881-97

Burke P. J. and Cast A. D. (1997) Stability and Change in the Gender Identities of Newly Married Couples. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 60 (4): 277-290

Burke P. J. (1991) Identity Processes and Social Stress. *American Sociological Review*, 56:836-849

Calasanti T. M. and Bailey C. A. (1991) Gender Inequality and the division of Household Labour in the United States and Sweden: A Socialist-Feminist Approach. *Social Problems*, 38(1):34-53

Caplan P. (1997) African Voices, African Lives: Personal Narratives from a Swahili Village. London: Routledge.

Centre for the Study of Sexualities at National Central University (2001) *Introduction*. National Central University. Available at: <a href="http://sex.ncu.edu.tw/english/englishcenterintroduction.htm">http://sex.ncu.edu.tw/english/englishcenterintroduction.htm</a>> (Accessed 05/12/01)

Cerulo K. A. (1997) Identity Construction: New Issues, New Directions. *Annual review of Sociology*, 23: 385-409.

Charles N. (1993) *Gender Divisions and Social Change*. Harvester Wheatsheaf: Barnes & Nobel Books.

Chen Hui-wen (1999) 大稻涅查某人地圖 [Dan Shui Women's Map]. Taipei: Bao Yang Culture Ltd.

Chang Jui-Shan (2004) Refashioning Womanhood in 1990s Taiwan: An Analysis of the Taiwanese Edition of "Cosmopolitan" Magazine. *Modern China*, 30 (3): 361-397

Chang Jin-fen and Chang Dao-yi (1997) 由女性公務人員「育嬰制度」看台灣地區職業婦女的困境 [Career Women's Contradictions in Taiwan: an Exploration of the Policy of Maternity Leave for Female Public Servants]. 社區發展季刊 [Community Development Journal, 79: 91-98

Cheng Jen-chiao and Chen Jeaw-mei (1994) 已婚職業婦女的生活壓力與自我狀態對身心健康之影響 [The Effects of Life Stress and Ego State on the Health of Married Working Women]. *婦女與兩性學刊 [Women and Gender Journal]*, 5:47-67

Chien Wen-yin and Hsuen Cherng-tay (1996) 台灣地區已婚婦女就業型態及 其影響因素 [The Employment of Married Women in Taiwan: Its Patterns and Causes]. 人口學刊 [Journal of Population], 17:113-134

Christopher F.S. and Sprecher S. (2000) Sexuality in Marriage, Dating, and Other Relationships: a Decade Review. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 62(4): 999-1017.

Chuang Shu-fang and Chen Chang-I (1994) 已婚職業婦女知覺之夫妻性別角色及成就差異性與其成功恐懼的關係 [Couples' Sex Role Combination, Achievement Differences and Women's Fear of Success]. *教育與心理研究* [Education and psychology research], 17:455-476

Cohen, A. P. (1994) Self Consciousness an Alternative Anthropology of Identity. London: Routledge

Coltrane S. (2000) Research on Household Labour: Modeling and Measuring the Social Embeddedness of Routine Family Work. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 62(4):1208-1233.

Comer, L. (1974) Wedlocked Women. Leeds: Feminist Books Ltd.

Coombs, L.C. and Sun Te-hsiung (1981) Familiar Values in a Developing Society: A Decade of Change in Taiwan. *Social Forces*, 59(4):1229-1255

Cooney T. M. and Uhlenberg P. (1989) Family-Building Patterns of Professional Women: A Comparison of Lawyers, Physicians, and Postsecondary Teachers. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 51(3): 749-758

Crawford K. and Walker J. (2008) *Social Work with Older People*. Exeter: Learning Matters Ltd

Croll E. (1995) Changing Identities of Chinese Women. London: HK University Press.

Croll E. (1995) *Changing Identities of Chinese Women*. HK: Hong Kong University Press.

Crossley N. (1999) Working Utopias and Social Movements: an Investigation Using Case Study Materials From Radical Mental Health Movements in Britain. *Sociology*, 33(4):809-830.

Cua A.S. (1975) Confucian Vision and Experience of the World. *Philosophy East and West*, 25 (3): 319-333

Cunningham M. (2001) the Influence of Parental Attitudes and Behaviours on Children's Attitudes towards Gender and Household Labour in Early Adulthood. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 63(1), pp111-122.

Dame N. G., Finck G. H., Reiner B. S. and Smith B. O. (1965) The Effect on the Marital Relationship of the Wife's Search for Identity. *The Family Life Coordinator*, 14(3): 133-136.

Davis L. V., Hagen J. L. and Early T. J. (1994) Social Services for Battered Women: Are They Adequate, Accessible, and Appropriate? *Social Work*, 39(6):695-704

Davitt J. K. and Kaye L. W. (1996) Supporting Patient Autonomy: Decision Making in Home Health Care. *Social Work*, 41(1):41-50

Delphy C. (1984) Close to Home. London: Hutchinson & Co. Ltd.

Demaris A. and Longmore M. A. (1996) Ideology, Power, and Equity: Testing Competing Explanations for the Perception of Fairness in Household Labour. *Social Force*, 74(3):1043-1071.

Demeis D.K. and Perkins H. W. (1996) 'Supermoms' of the Nineties: Homemaker and Employed mothers' Performance and Perceptions of the Motherhood Role. *Journal of Family Issues*, 17(6):776-792.

Derrida J. (1982) *Margins of Philosophy*. (Alan Bass Trans). Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

DGBAS and CEPD (1987) Report on the Manpower Utilization Survey in Taiwan Area, the Republic of China, 1986. Taipei: Census Bureau Directorate-General of Budget, Accounting and Statistics Executive Yuan, and Council for Economic Planning and Development Executive Yuan, Taiwan R.O.C.

DGBAS (1997) 專題分析 [An Analysis of Taiwanese Women's Childbirth Rate]. Taipei: Directorate-general of Budget, Accounting and Statistics, Executive Yuan, ROC.

DGBAS (1999) 國情統計通報: 台灣地區現住家庭成年人口之親屬概況 [Family Life statistics]. Taipei: Directorate-general of Budget, Accounting and Statistics, Executive Yuan, ROC.

DGBAS (2001) Women's Marriage, Fertility and employment Survey. Taipei: Census Bureau Directorate-General of Budget, Accounting and Statistics Executive Yuan, Taiwan R.O.C.

DGBAS (2001) 人力運用調查報告 [Report on the Labour Power Utilization Survey]. Taipei: Directorate-general of Budget, Accounting and Statistics, Executive Yuan, Taiwan R.O.C..

DGBAS (2001b) 社會發展趨勢調查報告-休閒生活與時間運用 [Social Trend: Leisure and Time Management]. Taipei: Directorate-general of Budget, Accounting and Statistics, Executive Yuan, Taiwan R.O.C..

DGBAS (2002) Social Indicators: Women's Life in the R. O. C. and International Comparisons. Taipei: Census Bureau Directorate-General of Budget, Accounting and Statistics Executive Yuan, Taiwan R.O.C. (Taiwan)

DGBAS (2002b) 中華民國統計月報 [Monthly Statistics of the ROC]. Taipei: Directorate-general of Budget, Accounting and Statistics, Executive Yuan, R.O.C. (Taiwan)

Third Department, DGBAS (2008) *Statistics for Your Use*. Taipei: Directorate-General of Budget, Accounting and Statistics Executive Yuan, R.O.C. (Taiwan)

DGBAS (2002) Summary - Family Life 2002. Taipei: Directorate-General of Budget, Accounting and Statistics Executive Yuan, R.O.C. (Taiwan)

DGBAS (2003) 國情統計通報 [National Statistics Report]. Taipei: Directorate-general of Budget, Accounting and Statistics, Executive Yuan, ROC

DGBAS (2009) *Gender Images*. Taipei: Directorate-General of Budget, Accounting and Statistics Executive Yuan, R.O.C. (Taiwan).

DGBAS (2011) Women and Men in R.O.C. (Taiwan) Facts and Figures. Taipei: Directorate-General of Budget, Accounting and Statistics Executive Yuan, R.O.C. (Taiwan).

Downs B. (2003) Fertility of American Women: June 2002. *Current Population Reports*, p20-548. Washington DC: US Census Bureau

Doucet A. (1995) Gender Equality and Gender Differences in Household Work and Parenting. *Women's Studies International Forum*, 18(3): 271-284.

Duncombe J. and Marsden D. (1993) Love and Intimacy: the Gender Division of Emotion and 'Emotion Work': a Neglected Aspect of Sociological Discussion of Heterosexual Relationships. *Sociology*, 27(2):221-241

Earthy S. and Cronin A. (2008) Narrative Analysis. In Nigel Gilbert (eds) Researching Social Life. London: Sage Publications Ltd

Egan G. (2002) The Skilled Helper A Problem-Management and Opportunity-Development Approach to Helping. CA: Thomson Learning, Inc.

Ekeh P. P. (1974) Social Exchange Theory. London: Heinemann

Erickson R. J. (1993) Reconceptualizing Family Work: The Effect of Emotion Work on Perceptions of Marital Quality. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 55(4):888-900

Evans K. M., kincade E. A., Marbley A. F., Seem S. R. (2005) Feminism and Feminist Therapy: Lessons from the Past and Hopes for the Future. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 83:269-277. Farris, C.S. (1991) The Social Discourse on Women's Roles in Taiwan: A Textural

Analysis. In Chen E. K.Y., Williams, J.F. and Wong J. (eds) *Taiwan, Economy, Society and History.* Hong Kong: Hong Kong University, Centre of Asia Studies.

Featherstone M. (1992) The Heroic Life and Everyday Life. In Featherstone M.(eds) (1992) *Cultural Theory and Cultural Change*. London: Sage publications.

Feng Yan (1992) 婦女生活壓力知覺與應對模式:多元角色的觀點 [Women's Awareness of Life Stress and Their Coping Strategies: Women's Multiple Roles]. 國立台灣大學社會學刊 [The Journal of Sociology of Taiwan National University], 21:161-198

Fields J. (2003) America's Families and living Arrangements: 2003. *Current Population Reports*:20-553. Washington DC: US Census Bureau.

Finch J. and Mason J (1993) *Negotiating Family Responsibilities*. London: Tavistock/Routledge

Flick U. (2006) An Introduction to Qualitative Research. London: Sage Publications.

Foley S. (2003) Women in Sex Therapy: Developing a Sexual Identity. *Contemporary Sexuality* 37(9): 7-13.

Foster J. (1999) An Invitation to Dialogue: Clarifying the Position of Feminist Gender Theory in Relation to Sexual Difference Theory. *Gender and Society, 13 (4): 431-456* 

Foucault M. (1977) Discipline & Punish The Birth of the Prison. NY: Vintage Books.

Foucault M. (1984) *The Care of The Self The History of Sexuality: Volume Three*. London: Penguin Books.

Foundation of Women Rights Promotion and Development (2005) Foundation of Women Rights Promotion and Development. Available at:<a href="http://www.wrp.org.tw">http://www.wrp.org.tw</a> (Accessed 18/03/05)

Friedan B. (1983) The Second Stage. New York: Sphere Books Ltd.

Gadd D. (2004) Making Sense of Interviewee-Interviewer Dynamics in Narratives about Violence in Intimate Relationships. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 7(5): 383-401.

Gallin R. S. (1984) The Entry of Chinese Women into the Rural Labour Force: A Case Study from Taiwan. *Signs*, 9(3): 383-398.

Gates H. (1991) Taipei Family Business Women: Experiences with Commoditization. In Chen E. K. Y., Williams J. F. and Wong J. (eds) *Taiwan Economy, Society and History*. HK: University of Hong Kong

Gauntlett D. (2002) Media, Gender and Identity. London: Routledge.

Gersick C. G. and Kram K. E. (2002) High-Achieving Women at Midlife An Exploratory Study. *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 11(2):104-127.

Giddens A. (1991) *Modernity and Self-Identity*. Cambridge: Polity Press.

Gillespie R. (2003) Childfree and Feminine: Understanding the Gender Identity of Voluntarily Childless Women. *Gender and Society, 17 (1): 122-136* 

Goldberg M. E. (1995) Substance-Abusing Women: False Stereotypes and Real Needs. *Social Work*, 40(6):789-798

Gorard S. and Taylor C. (2004) *Combining Methods in Educational and Social Research*. Maidenhead: Open University Press.

Greenstein T. N. (1995) Gender Ideology, Marital Disruption, and the Employment of Married Women. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 57(1):31-42.

Greenstein T. N. (1996) Husbands' Participation in Domestic Labour: Interactive Effects of Wives' and Husbands' Gender Ideologies. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 58(3):585-595.

Hantrais L. (1990) Managing Professional and Family Life A Comparative Study of British and French Women. Hants: Dartmouth.

Hartmann H. I. (1981) The Family as the Locus of Gender, Class, and Political Struggle: The Examples of Housework. *Signs: Journal of Women in Culture and Society*, 6(3): 366-394.

Hawkins A. J., Marshall C. M. and Meiners K. M. (1995) Exploring Wives' Sense of Fairness about Family Work. *Journal of Family Issues*, 16(6):693-721.

Hays S. (1996) *The Cultural Contradictions of Motherhood*. New Haven and London: Yale University Press.

Hawkesworth M. (1997) Confounding Gender. Signs, 22(3):649-685.

Hickman M. E. and Baldwin B. A. (1971) Use of Programmed Instruction to Improve Communication in Marriage. *The Family Coordinator*, 20(2): 121-125

Hitlin S. (2003) Values as the Core of Personal Identity: Drawing Links between Two Theories of Self. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 66(2): 118-137.

Hochschild A. (1989) *The Second Shift*. New York: Viking Penguin Inc.

Hogg M. A., Terry D. J. White K. M. (1995) a Tale of Two Theories: A Critical Comparison of Identity Theory with Social Identity Theory. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 58 (4): 255-269

Hollway W. and Jefferson T. (2000) Doing Qualitative Research Differently: Free Association, Narrative and the Interview Method. London: Sage.

Holstein, J. A. and Gubrium, J. F. (1995) *The Active Interview*. London: Sage

Honda-Howard M. and Homma M. (2001) Job Satisfaction of Japanese Career Women and its Influence on Turnover Intension. *Asian Journal of Social Psychology*, 4:23-38

Houseknecht S. K., Vaughan S. and Macke A. S. (1984) Marital Disruption among Professional Women: The Timing of Career and Family Events. *Social Problems*, 31(3): 273-284.

Hsiung Ping-chun (1996) *Living Room as Factories: Class, Gender, and the Satellite Factory System in Taiwan*. Philadelphia: Temple University Press.

Huang Qio-fang (1998) Mother of 1920s: Huang Ye-bian, My Only Beloved in My Life. In Jiang Wen-yu (ed) 阿母的故事 [Taiwan Mother's Tales of 1998]. Taipei: Yuan-zun Ltd

Huang Sue-ying (2001) *Country Report: Taiwan 1996-1997*. Taipei: Taipei Association for The Promotion of Women's Rights (TAPWR).

Hugh M. (2007) Understanding Social Work Research. London: Sage

Hunt P. (1980) *Gender and Class Consciousness*. New York: The Holmes and Meier Publishers.

Hus Chia Ching (2001) When Home Is No Longer a Shelter. Taipei: TAPWR

Jamieson L. (1999) Intimacy Transformed? A Critical Look at the 'Pure Relationship'. *Sociology*, 33(3):477-494

Jiang Fu-ching (2001) 女人職場生活 [Women's Decade the Faces at Work]. *Elle*, 122:152-154

Joshi H. (2002) Women, Children, and Work in a British Perspective. *Population and Development Review*, 28(3):445-474.

Kahn J. S. (2001) *Modernity and Exclusion*. London: Sage Publications.

Kane E. W. and Schippers M. (1996) Men's and Women's Beliefs about Gender and Sexuality. *Gender and Society*, 10(5):650-665.

Kao Hsueh-fen and Stuifbergen A.K. (1999) Family Experiences Related to the Decision to Institutionalise an Elderly Member in Taiwan: an Exploratory Study. *Social Science & Medicine*, 49:1115-1123

Kaplan D. and Manners R.A. (1972) *Culture Theory*. New Jersey: Prentice-Hall, INC.

Kaufman G. (2000) Do Gender Role Attitudes Matter? Family Formation and Discussion among Traditional and Egalitarian Men and Women. *Journal of Family Issues*, 21(1): 128-144.

Kennedy, P. (2001) Introduction: Globalization and the Crisis of Identities? In Kennedy P. and Danks C. J. (eds) *Globalization and National Identities Crisis or Opportunities?* London: Palgrave.

Kent S. K. (1999) Gender and Power in Britain, 1640-1990. London: Routledge.

Kessler S. J. and Mckenna W. (1978) *Gender: An Ethno-methodological Approach*. NY: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Kirsch G. E. (1999) Ethical Dilemmas in Feminist Research: the Politics of Location, Interpretation and Publication. NY: State University of New York Press.

Kluwer E. S., Heesink J. A. M., and E. V. D. Vliert (1997) The Marital Dynamics of Conflict over the Division of Labour. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 59(3):635-653.

Kroska A. (1997) The Division of Labour in the Home: A Review and Reconceptualization. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 60(4): 304-322.

Kung, L. (1978) Factory Women in Taiwan. Michigan: UMI Research Press.

Lamley, H.J. (1998) Taiwan Under Japanese Rule, 1895-1945: The Vicissitudes of Colonialism. In Rubinstein, M. A. (ed) *Taiwan: a New History*. New York: M.E. Sharpe, Inc.

Langman L. (2001) Globalization and National Identity Rituals in Brazil and the USA: the Politics of Pleasure Versus the Politics of Protest. In Kennedy, P. and Danks C. J. (eds) *Globalization and National Identities Crisis or Opportunities?* London: Palgrave.

Lauretis T. D (1984) *Alice Doesn't Feminism, Semiotics, Cinema*. Bloomington, Ind: Indiana University Press

Lawler S. Narrative in Social Research. In May T, (ed), *Qualitative Research in Action*. London: SAGE, 2002: 242-258.

Lee Yean-ju, Parish W. L. and Willis R. J. (1994) Sons, Daughters and Intergenerational Support in Taiwan. *American Journal of Sociology*, 99(4):1010-1041

Lee W. K. M. (2002) Gender Ideology and the Domestic Division of Labour in Middle-class Chinese Families in Hong Kong. *Gender, Place and Culture*, 9(3):245-260

Legislative Yuan (2002) Gender Equality in Employment Law. Taipei: Legislative Yuan.

Lionberger, H. F. and H. C. Chang (1970) Farm Information for Modernizing Agriculture: The Taiwan System. New York: Praeger Publishers.

Luhmann N. (1986) Love as Passion The Codification of Intimacy. Cambridge: Polity Press.

Li Yu Lan (1998) Hakka Mother, Li Wu Xian Mei, Gratitude. In Jiang Wen-yu (ed) 阿母的故事 [Taiwan Mother's Tales of 1998], Taipei: Yuan-zun Ltd

Li Yuan-hui and Li Jing Ping (1999) *The Peacock of the North Wall Mansion: Grandma Liu's Story*. Hsinchu: Hsinchu Cultural Centre.

Lin Helene H. (2005) Women's Sexual Self-awareness in Sex Counselling Practice. *Formosan Journal of Sexology*, 11(1):61-76.

Lin Yi-hui (1998) 家庭政策支持育兒婦女就業制度之探討 [An Exploration of How Family Policies Support the Employment of Working Mothers]. 社區發展季刊[Ccommunity Development Journal], 84:95-111

Lin Zhong-shiong (1998) 台灣經濟經驗 100 年(增訂版) [Economic Experience 100 Years in Taiwanese (an enlarged edition)]. Taipei: San Min published.

Liu Mei-chun (1997) 老年照護: 婦女再就業的挑戰 [The Care of the Elderly: The Challenge of Women's Return to the Labour Market]. 社區發展季刊 [Community Development Journal], 79:99-108

Lopata H. Z. (1993) The Interweave of Public and Private: Women's Challenge to American Society. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 55(1):176-190.

Lu Hsiu-lien (1991) Women's Liberation Under Martial Law? In Chen, E. K.Y., Williams, J.F. and Wong, J. (eds) *Taiwan, Economy, Society and History.* Hong Kong: Hong Kong University, Centre of Asia Studies.

Lu Luo and Lin Yu-yi (1998) Family Roles and Happiness in Adulthood. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 25:195-207

Lucal B. (1999) What It Means to Be Gendered Me: Life on the Boundaries of a Dichotomous Gender System. *Gender and Society*, 13(6): 781-797

Madigan R. and Munro M. (1996) House Beautiful': Style and Consumption in the Home. *Sociology*, 30(1): 41-57.

Main B.G. M. (1994) The Labour Market: Friend or Foe? In Anderson M., Bechhofer F. and Gershuny J. (eds). *The Social and Political Economy of the Household*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Maines D. R. (2000) The Social Construction of Meaning. *Contemporary Sociology*, 29(4): 577-584

Major B. (1987) Gender, Justice, and the Psychology of Entitlement. In Shaver P. and Hendrick C. (eds.), Sex and Gender (pp124-148). CA: sage

Mansfield P. and Collard J. (1988) *The Beginning of the Rest of your Life?* A portrait of Newly-Wed Marriage. London: the Macmillan Ltd.

Marr D. G. (2000) Concepts of 'Individual' and 'Self' in Twentieth-Century Vietnam. *Modern Asian Studies*, 34(4):769-796.

Marshall C. and Rossman G. B. (2006) *Designing Qualitative Research*. London: Sage Publications.

Marsh R. M. (1998) *The Great Transformation: Social Change in Taipei, Taiwan Since the 1960s.* In Rubinstein, M. A. (ed) *Taiwan: a New History.* New York: M.E.Sharpe, Inc.

May T. (2002) Qualitative Research in Action. London: Sage Publication.

McKenna W. and Kessler S. (1997) Comment on Hawkesworth's "Confounding Gender": Who Needs Gender Theory? *Signs*, 22(3):687-691.

Mckie L., Bowlby S. and Gregory S. (2001) Gender, Caring and Employment in Britain. *Journal of Social Policy*, 30(2):233-258

Mctavish D. G. and Loether H. J. (2002) Social Research: an Evolving Process. Allyn & Bacon: Boston.

Meeks S., Arnkoff D. B., Glass C. R. and Notarius C. I. (1986) Wives' Employment Status, Hassles, Communication, and Relational Efficacy: Intra-versus Extra-Relationships Factors and Marital Adjustment. *Family Relations*, 35(2):249-255

Mills L. (1996) Empowering Battered Women Transnationally: the Case for Postmodern Interventions. *Social Work*, 41(3):241-336

Miller T. (2011) Making Sense of Fatherhood Gender, Caring and Work. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press

Miller T. (2005) Making Sense of Motherhood A Narrative Approach. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press

Miller T. (2011) Falling Back into Gender? Men's Narratives and Practices around First-time Fatherhood. *Sociology*, 45(6):1094-1109

Ministry of Education (2001) *Indicators of Educational Statistics of the R.O.C.: Female Students in Different Level Schools.* Taipei: Ministry of Education

Ministry of Education (2002) 2000-2001 Summary of Universities, Colleges and Junior Colleges. Taipei: Ministry of Education

Ministry of Interior (2002) 社政年報 [Social and Politics Yearly Repor]).
Taipei: MOI

Ministry of Interior (2005) 台閩地區現住人口婚姻狀況 [Population by Marital Status in Taiwan-Fuchien Area]. Taipei: MOI

Ministry of Interior (1998) 台灣地區婦女生活狀況調查提要報告 [A Survey of Women's Life in Taiwan]. Taipei: Ministry of Interior

Mishler E. G. (1986) Research Interviewing Context and Narrative. Cambridge: Harvard University Press

Moulding N. (2003) Constructing the Self in Mental Health Practice: Identity, Individualism and the Feminization of Deficiency. *Feminist Review, 75 (Identities): 57-74* 

Murray T. L. and Daniels M. H. and Murray C. E. (2006) Differentiation of Self, Perceived Stress, and Symptom Severity Among Patients with Fibromyalgia Syndrome. *Families, Systems, & Health*, 24(2):147-159.

Nedpogaeo, A. (2001) Global Culture in the Thai Media: the Occidental 'Other' in TV Advertisements. In Kennedy P. and Danks C. J. (eds) *Globalization and National Identities Crisis or Opportunities?* London: Palgrave.

Neuman W. L. and Kreuger L. W. (2003) *Social Work Research Methods: Qualitative and Quantitative Applications*. NY: Pearson Education, Inc.

Nyberg A. (2002) Gender, (De)commodification, Economic (In)dependence and Autonomous Households: the Case of Sweden. *Critical Social Policy*, 22(1):72-95.

Oakley A. (1974) Housewife. New York: Penguin Books Ltd.

Oakley A. (1981) Interviewing Women: a Contradiction in Terms. In Roberts H. (eds), *Doing Feminist Research*. London: Routledge

Office for National Statistics UK (2005) *UK 2005: The Social Framework*. London: Office for National Statistics.

Olesen V. L. (2000) Feminisms and Qualitative Research at and into the Millennium. In Denzin N. K. and Lincoln Y. S. (eds), *Handbook of qualitative Research*. London: Sage Publications, Inc.

Olsen, N. J. (1974) Family structure and socialization patterns in Taiwan, *American Journal of Sociology*, 79(6):1395-1417

Osmond M. W. and Thorne B. (1993) Ch 23 Feminist Theories the Social Construction of Gender in Families and Society. In Boss P. G. and Doherty W. J. et al., *Sourcebook of Family Theories and Methods: A Contextual Approach*. NY: Plenum

Oyewumi O. (1998) De-confounding Gender: Feminist Theorizing and Western Culture, a Comment on Hawkesworth's "Confounding Gender". *Signs*, 23(4): 1049-1062.

Pan Yun-Ping (1998) The 1930s' Mother, Pan Cai Yu Mei, From a Tiny Fish to a Great White. In Jiang Wen-yu (ed) 阿母的故事 [Taiwan Mother's Tales of 1998], Taipei: Yuan-zun Ltd

Parekh B. (2008) A New Politics of Identity: Political Principles for an Interdependent World. NY: Palgrave Macmillan.

Parrenas R. S. (2003) At the Cost of Women: the Family and the Modernization-Building Project of the Philippines in Globalization. *Interventions*, 5(1):29-44

Parry O., Thomson C. and Fowkes G. (1999) Life Course Data Collection: Qualitative Interviewing using the Life Grid. *Sociological Research Online*, 4(2).Available at http://www.socresonline.org.uk/socresonline/4/2/pqrry.html (Accessed 31/01/2005)

Peng K. (1997) Naïve Dialecticism and its Effects on Reasoning and Judgement about Contradiction. In Bagozzi R. P., Wong N. and Yi Y. (1999) The Role of Culture and Gender in the Relationship between Positive and Negative Affect. *Cognition and Emotion*, 13(6):641-672.

Perry-Jenkins M. and Folk K. (1994) Class, Couples, and Conflicts: Effects of the Division of Labour on Assessments of Marriage in Dual-Earner Families. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 56(1):165-180

Pina D. L. and Bengtson V. L. (1993) The Division of Household Labour and Wives' Happiness: Ideology, Employment, and Perceptions of Support. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 55(4):901-912

Pittman J. F. and Blanchard D. (1996) The Effects of Work History and Timing of Marriage on the Division of Household Labor: A Life-Course Perspective. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 58(1):78-90.

Plummer K. (2001) Documents of Life 2: an Invitation to a Critical Humanism. London: Sage.

Poston C. H. (eds) (1975) A Vindication of the Rights of Woman: Mary Wollstonecraft. NY: W. W. Norton & Company, Inc.

Rader J. and Gilbert L. A. (2005) The Egalitarian Relationship in Feminist Therapy. *Psychology of Women quarterly*, 29:427-435.

Ragin C. C. and Becker H. S. (1992) What is a Case? Exploring the Foundations of Social Inquiry. NY: Cambridge University Press.

Rallings E. M. (1969) Problems of Communication in Family Living. *The Family Coordinator*, 18(3): 289-291.

Richards H. M. and Schwarts L. J. (2002) Ethics of Qualitative Research: Are There Special Issues for Health Services Research? *Family Practice*, 19:135-139.

Ridgeway C. L. and Smith-Lovin L. (1999) The Gender System and Interaction. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 25:191-216.

Rimonte N. (1991) A Question of Culture: Cultural Approval of Violence Against women in the Pacific-Asian Community and the Cultural Defense. *Standford Law Review*, 43:1311-1326

Robinson J. and Godbey G. (1997) *Time for Life*. University Park, PA: Pennsylvania State University Press.

Robinson V. (1993) Heterosexuality: Beginnings and Connections. In Sue Wilkinson and Celia Kitzinger (eds) *Heterosexuality: A Feminism and Psychology Reader*. London:Sage

Robinson V. (1996) Heterosexuality and Masculinity: Theorizing Male Power or the Male Wounded Psyche? In Diane Richardson (ed) *Theorizing Heterosexuality: Telling in Straight.* Buckingham: Open University Press.

Roger S. J. and Amato P. R. (2000) Have Changes in Gender Relations Affected Marital Quality? *Social Forces*, 79(2): 731-753

Rosenberger N. (2001) *Gambling with Virtue*. Honolulu: University of Hawai Press.

Rosenthal M. G. (1994) Single Mothers in Sweden: Work and Welfare in the Welfare State. *Social Work*, 39(3):270-278

Rupp L. J. (1981) Reflections on Twentieth-Century American Women's History. *Reviews in American History*, 9(2):275-284.

Ruthrof H. (1997) Semantics and the Body: Meaning from Frege to the Postmodern (Toronto Studies in Semiotics & Communication). Toronto: University of Toronto Press

Ryan G. W. and Bernard H. R. (2000) Data Management and Analysis Methods. In Denzin N. K. and Lincoln Y. (eds) *Handbook of Qualitative Research*. California: Sage Publications, Inc.

Sabatelli R. M. and Shehan C. L. (1993) Ch 16 Exchange and Resource Theories. In Boss P. G. and Doherty W. J. et al., *Sourcebook of Family Theories and Methods: A Contextual Approach*. NY: Plenum

Sanchez L. and Thomson E. (1997) Becoming Mothers and Fathers: Parenthood, Gender, and the division of Labour. *Gender and Society*, 11:747-772.

Schnarch D. (1997) Passionate Marriage: Love, Sex, and Intimacy in Emotionally Committed Relationships. NY: W. W. Norton & Company.

Schoen R., Astone N. M., Rothert K., Standish N. J. and Kim Y. J. (2002) Women's Employment, Marital Happiness, and Divorce. *Social Forces*, 81(2):643-662

Scott J. F. (2001) 'You and Me against the World': Christian Fundamentalists and White Poverty in the USA. In Kennedy P. and Danks C. J. (eds) *Globalization and National Identities Crisis or Opportunities?* London: Palgrave.

Scott J.W. (2005) Deconstructing Equality-versus-Difference; or, The Uses of Poststructuralist Theory for Feminism. In Kolmar W. K. and Bartkowski F. (eds) *Feminist Theory: A Reader*. NY: McGraw-Hill.

Seden J. (2005) Counselling Skills in Social Work Practice. London: Open University Press.

Shaw Ping (2000) Changes in Female Roles in Taiwanese Women's Magazines, 1970-1994. *Media History*, 6(2):151-160

Shieh Gau-chyau (1985) [] Taiwanese Career Women, Housewives and the Stability of the Family. 國立政治大學社會學報[National Chengchi University Journal]. 51:185-212

Shue Hua-yuan (ed) (2000) 台灣歷史 [Taiwanese History]. Taipei: Da Zhong-guo Ltd.

Sicherman B. (1975) American History. Signs, 1(2):461-485.

Silverman D. (2001) Interpreting Qualitative Data. London: Sage Publications Ltd.

Silverman D. (2005) *Doing Qualitative Research*. London: Sage Publications Ltd.

Sikka T. (2008) Pragmatics, Post structuralism, and Hermeneutics: An Examination of Discursive-consensus Formation and its ethical implications. *Journal of Pragmatics*, 40: 227-243.

Skowron E. A. (2000) The Role of Differentiation of Self in Marital Adjustment. *Journal of Counselling Psychology*, 47(2):229-237.

Skowron E. A. (2004) Differentiation of Self, Personal Adjustment, Problem Solving, and Ethnic Group Belonging Among Person of Colour. *Journal of Counselling & Development*, 82:447-456.

Skowron E. A., Wester, S. R., Azen and Razia (2004) Differentiation of Self Mediates College Stress and Adjustment. *Journal of Counselling & Development*, 82(1):69-78

Skowron E. A. and Friedlander M. L. (1998) The Differentiation of Self Inventory: Development and Initial Validation. *Journal of Counselling Psychology*, 45(3):235-246.

>

Skowron E. A. (2005) Parent Differentiation of Self and Child Competence in Low-Income Urban Families. *Journal of counselling Psychology*, 52(3):337-346.

Sr. Bienvenu M. (1970) Measurement of Marital Communication. *The Family Coordinator*, 19(1):26-31.

Song Jin-shiu (2000) 中壢口述歷史第六輯: 日治台中婦女的生活 [Oral History (6): Married Women's Life of Tai-Zhong During the colonization by Japan]. Tai-Zhong: Tai-Zhong County Culture Centre

Sporakowski M. J. (1988) A Therapist's View on the Consequences of Change for the Contemporary Family. *Family Relations*, 37(4): 373-378.

Statistical Units of Government Agencies (1993) 八十二年婦女婚育與就業調

查 [A Survey of Married Women's Marital Status, Children and Employment]. Taipei: Statistical Units of Government Agencies.

Statistical Units of Government Agencies (1998) 台灣地區社會發展趨勢調查:家庭生活 [A Survey of Social Developmental Trends in Taiwan: Domestic Work]. Taipei: Statistical Units of Government Agencies.

Statistical Units of Government Agencies (2000) *Directorate-General of Budget, Accounting and Statistics*. Taipei: Statistical Units of Government Agencies

Statistical Units of Government Agencies (2001) 女性人力資源概况 [An Annual Survey of Human Resources in Taiwan in 2001]. Taipei: Statistical Units of Government Agencies

Sociology Department of National Taiwan University (2001) 2001 年課程簡介 [The Courses of 2001 Academic Year in the First Term]. National Taiwan University. Available at: < http://www.social.ntu.edu.tw/class/class9001.htm (Accessed 05/12/01)

Stets J. E. (1995) Role Identities and Person Identities: Gender Identity, Mastery Identity, and Controlling One's Partner. *Sociological Perspectives*, 38(2):129-150.

Stets J. E. and Burke P. J. (2000) Identity Theory and Social Identity Theory. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 63 (3): 224-237

Stohs J. H. (1994) Alternative Ethnics in Employed Women's Household Labour. *Journal of Family Issues*, 15(4):550-561.

Stryker S. and Burke P. J. (2000) The Past, Present and Future of an

Identity Theory. Social Psychology Quarterly, 63 (4): 284-297

Sullivan O. (1997) Time Waits for no (Wo)man: an Investigation of the Gendered Experience of Domestic Time. *Sociology*, 31(2):221-239

Sun Lee-kee (1991) Contemporary Chinese Culture: Structure and Emotionality. *The Australia Journal of Chinese Affairs*, 0(26): 1-41

Sung S. (2003) Women Reconciling Paid and Unpaid Work in a Confucian Welfare State: the Case of South Korea. *Social Policy and Administration*, 37(4):342-360.

Tang C. So-Kum (1999) Marital Power and Aggression in a Community Sample of Hong Kong Chinese Families. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 14(6):586-602.

Tang Shian-mei and Zeng Min-jie (1990) 台灣已婚職業婦女家庭與工作壓力之

研究 [A study of Taiwanese Working Married Women's Family and Working Stress]. 臺灣銀行季刊 [Taiwan Bank Journal], 42(3):292-316

Taipei Association for the Promotion of Women's Right (T.A.P.W.R.) (2005) Taipei Association for the Promotion of Women's Right. Available at: <a href="http://newcongress.yam.org.tw/women/eng.htm">http://newcongress.yam.org.tw/women/eng.htm</a> > (Accessed 18/03/05)

The academic of Chinese Studies (2004) *Confucianism*. Taipei: The academic of Chinese Studies

Thompson J. B. (1990) *Ideology and Modern Culture: Critical Social Theory in the Era of Mass Communication*. Oxford: Polity Press

Thompson L. (1991) Family Work: Women's Sense of Fairness. *Journal of Family Issues*, 12(2):181-196.

Thompson L. (1993) Conceptualizing Gender in Marriage: The Case of Marital Care. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 55(3):557-569.

Thornton, A., Fricke, T., Yang, S. and Chang, J.S. (1994) Theoretical Mechanisms of Family Change. In Thornton, A. and Lin, H.S. *Social Change and the Family in Taiwan*. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.

Tichenor V. J. (1999) Status and Income as Gendered Resources: the Case of Marital Power. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 61(3):638-650.

Titelman P. (1998) Overview of the Bowen Theoretical-Therapeutic System. In Titelman P. (eds) *Clinical Applications of Bowen Family Systems Theory*. NY: Routledge Taylor & Francis Group.

TSAI CHIUNG-TZU LUCETTA (2006) The Influence of Confucianism on Women's Leisure in Taiwan. *Leisure Studies* 25 (4): 469–476

Tuason M. T. and Friedlander M. L. (2000) Do Parents' Differentiation Levels Predict Those of their Adult Children? and Other Tests of Bowen Theory in a Philippine Sample. *Journal of Counselling Psychology*, 47(1): 27-35.

Udry J. R. (1968) Sex and Family Life. Annals of American Academy of Political and Social Science, Sex and the Contemporary American Scene, 376: 25-35.

US Census Bureau (2004) Educational Attainment in the United States: 2003. Washington DC: US Census Bureau

Vickery A. (1993) Historiographical Review: Golden Age to Separate Spheres? A Review of the Categories and Chronology of English Women's History. *The Historical Journal*, 36(2):383-414.

Walby S. (1986) Patriarchy at Work. Cambridge: Polity Press

Walby S. (1989) Theorising Patriarchy. Sociology, 23(2):213-234

Walby S. (1997) Gender Transformation. London: Routledge.

Walker A. (2005) "Womanist" from In Search of Our Mothers Gardens In Kolmar W. K. and Bartkowski F. (eds) *Feminist Theory: A Reader*. NY: McGraw-Hill.

Wang Li-rong (1998) 女性勞動參與和企業內家庭政策(上) [Women's Labour Market Participation and Work Place Family Policies (Part One)]. *勞工行政* [*Labour Administration*], 124:20-32

Wang Ling-yi (1998) 一九零零年代阿母-林玉珠 [The Mother in the 1900s]. In Jiang Wen-yu (ed) 1998 阿母的故事 [Taiwan Mothers' Tales of 1998]. Taipei: Yuan-zun Ltd.

Wang Sung-hsing (1981) Family Structure in Rapid Modernization Development. In Hsiung J.C. (ed) *The Taiwan Experience 1950-1980*. New York: Praeger Publishers.

Warm Life Association (2005) Warm Life Association. Available at: <a href="http://warmlife.womenweb.org.tw">http://warmlife.womenweb.org.tw</a> (Accessed 18/03/05)

Weinstein M., Sun T. H., Chang M.C. and Freedman R. (1994) Co-Residence and Other Ties Linking Couples and their Parents. In Thornton, A. and Lin, H.S. (eds) *Social Change and the Family in Taiwan*. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press

Weir A. (1996) Sacrificial Logics Feminist Theory and the Critique of Identity. NY: Routledge

West C. and Zimmerman D. H. (1987) Doing Gender. *Gender and Society*, 1(2):125-151.

Westwood S. (1984) All Day Everyday. London: Pluto Press Limited

Wilkie J. R., Ferree M. M. and Ratcliff K. S. (1998) Gender and Fairness: Marital Satisfaction in Two-Earner Couples. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 60(3):577-594.

Windebank J. (1999) Political Motherhood and the Everyday Experience of Mothering: a Comparison of the Child Care Strategies of French and British Working Mothers. *Journal of Social Policy*, 28(1):1-25.

Winsor R. D. and Ensher E. A. (2000) Choices Made in Balancing Work and Family Following Two Women on a 16-Year Journey. *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 9(2):218-231.

Wolf, M. (1972) Women and the Family in Rural Taiwan. Stanford: Stanford University Press.

Wouters C. (1992) The Study of Emotions. In Featherstone M.(eds) (1992) *Cultural Theory and Cultural Change*. London: Sage publications.

Wright E. (1992) Feminism and Psychoanalysis: a Critical Dictionary. Oxford: Balckwell.

Wu Wann-Yih and Minor M. S. (1997) Role Perceptions, Personal Traits, Lifestyles and Leadership: an Empirical Study of American, Japanese, and Taiwanese Female Managers. *International Business Review*, 6(1): 19-34.

Yan Xunxiang (2003) Private Life under Socialism: Love, Intimacy, and Family Change in a Chinese Village, 1949-1999. CA: Stanford University Press.

Yeandle S. (1984) *Women's Working Lives: Patterns and Strategies.* London: Tavistock Publications Ltd.

Yegidis B. L. and Weinbach R. W. (1996) Research Methods for Social Workers. London: Allyn and Bacon.

Yeo E. J. (eds) (1997) Mary Wollstonecraft and 200 Years of Feminisms. London: Rivers Oram Press.

Yin R. K. (2003) Case Study Research Design and Methods. London: Sage Publications.

Young H. P. (1994) *Equity in Theory and Practice*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.

You Jian-ming (1999) 明明月照來時路: 台灣婦運的歷史觀察 [A History of Taiwanese Women's Movement]. In Wang Ya-ge (ed)*性屬關係性別與文化、再現下* [Gender Relationship: Sexuality, Culture and Representation Vol. 2]. Taipei: Psychology Ltd

Yount K. M. (2005) Women's Family Power and Gender Preference in Minya, Egypt. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 67: 410-428.

Yu Wei-Hsin (2005) Change in Women's Postmarital Employment in Japan and Taiwan. *Demography*, 42 (4):693-717.

Zuo J. and Bian Y. (2001) Gendered Resources, Division of Housework, and Perceived Fairness-a Case in Urban China. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 63:1122-1133.

Bibliography